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BUSINESS

Equifax is a global leader in consumer, commercial and workforce information solutions that provides
businesses of all sizes and consumers with insight and information they can trust. Equifax organizes
and assimilates data on more than 600 million consumers and 81 million businesses worldwide. The
company’s significant investments in differentiated data, its expertise in advanced analytics to explore
and develop new multi-source data solutions, and its leading-edge proprietary technology enables it
to create and deliver unparalleled customized insights that enrich both the performance of businesses
and the lives of consumers.

Founded in 1899 and headquartered in Atlanta, Equifax operates or has investments
in 19 countries and is a member of Standard & Poor’s (S&P) 500® Index. Its common
stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol EFX.

HIGHLIGHTS

Twelve months ended December 31, 2014 2013 CHANGE

Operating Revenue $2,436.4 $2,303.9 6%

Adjusted Operating Revenue (Non-GAAP)* $2,436.4 $2,296.7 6%

Operating Income $638.2 $611.2 4%

Operating Margin 26.2% 26.5% -0.3%

Adjusted Operating Margin (Non-GAAP)* 26.5% 26.7% -0.2%

Consolidated net income from continued operations $374.0 $341.5 10%

Net income from continuing operations attributable to Equifax $367.4 $333.4 10%

Diluted earnings per share (EPS) from continuing operations 0
attributable to Equifax B b2ibd i

Stock price per share at December 31st $80.87 $69.09 17%

Weighted-average common shares outstanding in millions (diluted) 123.5 123.7 0%

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations 0
attributable to Equifax, adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $3.89 $3.60 i

* See reconciliations of non-GAAP financial measures to the corresponding GAAP financial measure on page 71.
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TO OUR

SHAREHOLDERS

The ability of Equifax to perform throughout economic
cycles was put to the test again during 2014. Yet, as we

have proven year after year, our resilient strategy and
intense focus on innovation and execution prevails. No
matter the environment, we know how to ignite growth.

THREE-YEAR TOTAL
SHAREHOLDER RETURN*
Equifax vs. S&P 500
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10 L RICHARD F. SMITH
Chairman and Chief

0 Executive Officer

% 2010-2012 : 2011-2013 : 2012-2014

* Difference in percentage of three-year growth Facing strong headwinds from mortgage and foreign currency
between Equifax and the S&P 500. exchanges throughout much of the year, Equifax employees drove
forward, executing our business plans to end the year with six
percent growth. That growth is even more impressive when you
consider that mortgage headwinds had more than a three percent
negative impact on growth.

Delivering on our commitments to customers and shareholders is

what powers our success and will remain our top priority. In 2014, we

returned $423 million to our shareholders through share repurchases
and our fifth consecutive double-digit dividend increase. If you look at
the rolling three-year stock price, Equifax has outperformed the S&P
500 Index performance in each of the last five years. And this past
year, Equifax total shareholder return increased 45 percent more than
the S&P 500 Index. In fact, over the past 10 years, Equifax was up

188 percent while the S&P was up 70 percent.
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FANNING THE FLAMES OF GROWTH

This level of achievement can only happen when all our business units stay
laser-focused on their core markets and strategic growth initiatives. In 2014,
each business unit blazed its own trail to success, whether by offering customers
deeper insights into their business challenges and opportunities, empowering
REVENUE BY INDUSTRY* consumers to manage and protect their personal credit information, entering
EQUIFAX 2014 new markets, integrating acquisitions or expanding their operating margins—all
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, while positioning their businesses for continued growth in 2015 and beyond.

Our U.S. Information Solutions (USIS) business strengthened its position as a
leader in unique data assets by leveraging its exclusive information to provide
unparalleled insights to companies from a growing list of industries. Despite the
mortgage headwinds, expansion into new verticals and customer demand for
analytics and insights fueled much of USIS growth in 2014.

This past year, our Decision360® strategy, which leverages our analytic expertise,
advanced technology, multiple data assets and decisioning models to create

unique solutions, enabled increased market penetration in a number of industries
including auto, retail banking, insurance and telecommunications. Industry- or
customer-specific solutions are created from a broad spectrum of data; including
credit, income, employment, wealth, telecommunications and utility, commercial,
as well as the customer’s own data to create powerful, predictive models that
provide insights which companies simply cannot get elsewhere.

B Financial 27%

Mortgage 15% Growth accelerated in the auto industry, where revenue was up 17 percent over
m Consumer 14% the prior year, as Equifax became the go-to information source for dealers’ and
B Employers 10% lenders’ underwriting decisions. One popular solution pulls together data assets
m  Telco 6% that allow auto lenders to approve more applications in real-time and improve
m Auto 6% their overall close rate. Through a single-order interface, a dealer can now obtain

Resellers ‘ 1% unique information, including verification of employment, income, address, and
u Comlmercwal 5% auto insurance, as well as credit information—all while the consumer is in the
B Retail 4% dealership. This real-time access to critical information is a great benefit for the
. gfr:/emment ng consumer and dealer alike.

er (o]

As fraud and identity theft have become increasingly prevalent and sophisticated,

* From continuing operations . ) . )
so have our fraud and identity solutions making them even more valuable to our

This level of achievement
can only happen when all
of our business units stay
laser-focused on their core
markets and strategic

growth initiatives.
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customers. Again utilizing the depth and breadth of our data, we are helping

organizations reduce losses while protecting their customers by offering solutions
that detect patterns indicative of suspicious activity. We made huge strides in

this arena in 2014 with a number of wins that generated significant revenue and
further established our expertise in offering unique and powerful solutions to help
combat this multi-billion-dollar-a-year problem.

The contract wins include a multi-year, multi-million dollar agreement with the
Social Security Administration to enable consumers to access their information

in a secure, online environment. We also won a cloud-based |ID authentication
solution with a major credit card company. Additionally, we secured another

multimillion dollar opportunity with the Centers for Medicaid & Medicare Services
to monitor service providers.

While sparks of growth were seen throughout the company in 2014, perhaps
the biggest fireworks came from Workforce Solutions. This business unit had
a breakout year, extending its human resource, analytics and verification services
into new markets including automotive, credit card and government — delivering
double-digit revenue growth and expanding its operating margins.

When we acquired TALX Corporation eight years ago, it was a diamond in the rough.
Then, best described as a business process outsourcing company, its revenue
was $180 million with a 16 percent operating margin. Today, Workforce Solutions
is one of the gems of the company with a revenue contribution of $490 million or
20 percent of total Equifax revenue and an operating margin of 33 percent.
"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" The Work Number® database, a part of the Workforce Solutions business unit,
REVENUE BY BUSINESS UNIT* is a consolidated source of income and employment information from more
EQUIFAX 2014 than 4300 employers, and has become an invaluable tool for both employers
..................................................................... and employees. The Work Number is enabling access to consumer credit while
bringing new risk transparency to lenders. This helps bring down the cost of
credit as lenders increasingly seek to control the risk in their lending portfolios.
It also keeps employee data secure throughout the verification process, saving
companies the time and money it takes to do it themselves. This expedites verifier
decisions, is in compliance with the Fair Credit Reporting Act, and is the industry’s
first automated consumer-consent model for employees.

Workforce Solutions also is making its mark by meeting the demand for compliance
solutions for business and government. It is the largest processor of unemployment
claims, I-9 and E-Verify solutions in the nation. Today, more than 50,000 users are

leveraging our unemployment cost management platform, CaseBuilder™, a solution
that works with the U.S. Department of Labor’s State Information Data Exchange
System to promote compliance and unemployment data integrity, while at the same
time unifying the unemployment claims process. This year, a mobile version was

m USIS 45% added making the process accessible for employers in remote locations and field
B |nternational 26% offices in an ever-increasing virtual workplace.

B Workforce Solutions  20%

H PSOL 9% High-value insights from The Work Number are also helping employers ensure they
* From continuing operations are fulfilling their compliance requirements associated with the Affordable Care Act

(ACA). In 2014, we signed more than 200 contracts with employers providing them
with valuable information to support their compliance with the ACA and helped
millions of U.S. consumers gain access to lower cost healthcare plans. Our -9 and
E-Verify solutions are helping companies and organizations streamline the hiring
process, reduce risk and leverage federal, state and local tax credit incentives.

Our Personal Solutions business unit, which supplies consumers with information
to help them understand their credit and protect their identity, launched a strategic
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transformation in 2014 to ensure long-term, sustainable growth in the face of a

changing market environment. With a marked increase in competitors offering

free credit scores, Personal Solutions continued to increase the lifetime value of its
consumer relationships by improving the customer experience and introducing
new, high-value products, which allowed it to minimize churn.

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" Through the integration of TrustedID Inc., which we acquired in 2013, we now
REVENUE* AND ADJUSTED have a solid foothold in the indirect market where we are aggressively pursuing
o new opportunities. We also have a robust pipeline that positions us for improved

EARNINGS PER SHARE performance in 2015 and beyond.

Personal Solutions also enabled double-digit growth outside the United States
by leveraging its technology platform and new product innovation (NPI) more
broadly in Canada, the U.K. and ultimately, Latin America.

— 4.00

Our International business unit, which contributed 26 percent of total company
revenue in 2014, has many of the same strategic growth drivers as our U.S.
operations. This business unit drove double-digit growth through NPI, accelerated
development of Data 360, analytics and fraud solutions, and strategic acquisitions,
while expanding the number of industries they serve across 16 different countries.
We now have our decisioning platform, InterConnect™, installed in seven countries
($2.26) enabling us to deliver Decision360 solutions throughout all of our international
= 20 properties. This decisioning platform has become a valuable asset to our
customers and strengthens our business partnerships.

_ 3.00

$ MILLIONS

2500 _ — 2.50

2000 |-

1500 [ - 1.50 Another major focus for International was expanding our analytics and decisioning
capabilities that help our customers solve their challenges collecting on past due
accounts. By combining the assets of TDX Group, a debt management software

_ 1.00 and capabilities company we acquired at the beginning of 2014, and combining its
assets with Inffinix, a debt collection and recovery company based in Mexico that
we also acquired last year, we set the stage to utilize these combined platforms

_ 0.50 beyond their concentration in Western Europe and Australia to our entire global
footprint, including the U.S. This creates important, new revenue growth vectors
that we can leverage in 2015 and beyond.

1000 [

500 [

0
REV 2010 : 2011 : 2012 i 2013 i 2014 EPS Two additional growth igniters of 2014 were our Information Technology (IT) and

Global Operations organizations. These two Centers of Excellence organizations
worked strategically behind the scenes making significant contributions to our
bottom line through better and more efficient fulfillment processes and delivery

(Adjusted for Continuing Operations) ; .
platforms, and improved service to our customers and consumers.

- Adjusted EPS

CAGR (Compound Annual Growth Rate) Internationally recognized as a leader in its field, our IT group is responsible
for both the global strategy and delivery of our leading-edge solutions. They
work hand-in-hand with our sales and marketing org anizations and customers
to address—and anticipate—our customers’ needs.

* $ in millions, excluding Brazil and
divested operations — 10%
** Adjusted Earnings Per Share — 14%

This past year, they pushed the boundaries of technology to create an IT
infrastructure with reusable assets that can be quickly and easily deployed around
the world. A special software engineering team spearheaded an effort to realize
the benefits of scale by building a series of core components and modules to
support a common operating model throughout our international geography.

Our Global Operations team, one of the largest groups in the company, provides
the infrastructure and support for virtually all of our operating activities. They focus
on processes that impact execution, strategy and growth. While the business
units focus on sales, Global Operations is accountable for fulfilling those sales,
enabling the company’s strategic revenue growth initiatives, product development
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We take a highly structured approach to this
imaginative process enabling us to introduce
50 to 70 new products each year.

and delivery, customer service, account management, process improvement,
shared services, procurement and real estate. Every year, primarily through its
rigorous process improvement initiative (LEAN), it delivers multi-million dollars of
incremental operating efficiency to the bottom line.

Last year, Global Operations’ LEAN initiatives, which utilize a methodology to
improve operating performance by systematically removing waste, loaned its LEAN
team resources to some 30 different customers. By doing so, we strengthened
relationships with our business customers by showing them how to streamline
processes to realize savings, while uncovering additional revenue opportunities for
us. And, many of those customers have requested our services again in 2015.

On the consumer side, Global Operations is instrumental in our efforts to simplify
and further enhance our consumer interactions. By making it easier for consumers
to provide feedback through phone and online surveys, we now have even more
insight into their concerns and are better able to address them. One of the principal
areas we identified is the turnaround time for handling consumer disputes. To
improve the process, we developed a way for documentation to be scanned,
uploaded and electronically delivered to the data provider with the actual dispute,
reducing the processing time by three to five days. We also made it easier for
consumers who prefer to speak directly with a customer care representative to
do so. In short, our goal is to continuously refine and streamline the consumer
interaction experience to make it more responsive and effective.

FUELED BY INNOVATION

To be the global leader in information solutions requires continuous innovation.
Whether it’s developing new products, using technology to better solve customers’
business challenges and opportunities or improving our own operations, innovation
is the spark that ignites our flame. For example, NPI historically accounts for two to
three percentage points of our annual revenue growth. We take a highly structured,
comprehensive approach to this imaginative process enabling us to introduce 50
to 70 new products each year. These products leverage our multiple data assets to
deliver high-value insights to customers across all of the markets and industries we
serve. Our NPI success is a perfect example of how Equifax colors inside the lines
while thinking outside the box. It is a disciplined approach to a creative process,
and it consistently yields great results.
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Innovation also is central to our business relationships. Customers increasingly
look to us for unique and creative solutions that help their businesses operate more
effectively and efficiently. Toward that end, we leverage our client advisory boards
around the world and in several different verticals to ensure we are maintaining
strong relationships in all areas and at all levels of our customers’ organizations.

By having our customers front and center in the process, we gain a deeper
understanding of their needs, and are revolutionizing how we develop critical
insights for them. In turn, we gain market share by finding new solutions to

By haVing our CUStomerS problems that simply were not being addressed.
front and center in

Workforce Solutions is a perfect example of being both a thought leader and

the prOCeSS, we are problem solver, especially as it relates to compliance and regulatory requirements.

In 2014, a top four bank signed a contract to use our employment and income

revo|u‘tionizing hOW we verification solutions to meet regulatory requirements for their credit line increase

. offers. And in Personal Solutions, we are developing capabilities to be even more
bU”d prOdUCtS. responsive to consumers while adhering to various regulatory requirements.

OPPORTUNITY BURNS BRIGHTLY

In closing, | want to thank my colleagues at Equifax who have proven again and
again—-through dedication, intelligence and plain hard work, that they can and are
making a difference. We may be a large, 115-year-old organization, but we have
cultivated a youthful and entrepreneurial spirit. And, we get things done. We meet
our commitments. Our ability to execute is undeniable. The result is our customers
have been richly rewarded with an ever-expanding selection of relevant solutions
and our shareholders with a stock price that reflects the quality and value of our
financial performance.

We have been entrusted as stewards of data from a number of sources and we
take that responsibility very seriously. \We have invested and will continue to invest
in improving the consumer experience and helping to ensure the accuracy of
consumers’ data. We are pushing the boundaries of technology, while honoring
our responsibility to advocate for consumers. We are balancing the art and
science of innovation to deliver actionable insights no one else can.

Even with all we've achieved in our long company history, | know our best days are
ahead of us. We are on a course where we're able to discover growth opportunities
at every turn, and | am privileged to be at the helm of this exciting journey.

Sincerely,

I D

Richard F. Smith
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains information that may constitute “forward-lcoking statements.” Generally, the words “‘believe,” “expect,” “intend,”
“estimate,”” “anticipate,” “project,” “will" and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, which generally are not historical in
nature. All statements that address operating performance, events or developments that we expect or anticipate will occur in the future are
forward-looking statements. Management believes that these forward-looking statements are reasonable as and when made. However,
forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from our Company’s
historical experience and our present expectations or projections, including without limitation our expectations regarding the Company’s
outlook, long-term organic and inorganic growth, and customer acceptance of our business solutions referenced under “Business Environ-
ment and Company Outlook.” These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those described below in this Annual Report, in our
2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K Risk Factors, and those described from time to time in our future reports filed with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. As a result of such risks and uncertainties, we urge you not to place undue reliance on any
such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date when made. We undertake no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

IET]
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The table below summarizes our selected hislorical financial informalion for each of the last five years. The summary of operalions dala for the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, 2012, and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, have been derived from our
audited Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report. The summary of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2011
and 2010, and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, have been derived from our audited Consolidated Financial
Statements net included in this report. The historical selected financial information may not be indicative of our future performance and should
be read in conjunction with the information contained in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Opera-
tions, and the Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this report.

Twelve Months Ended

December 31,

(In millions, except per share data) 2014 2013R1E 2012415 2011® 20107
Summary of Operations:
Operating revenue $2,436.4 $2,303.9 $2,073.0 $1,893.2 $1,797.5
Operating expenses 1,798.2 1,692.7 1,5693.0 1,424.6 1,3756.1
Operating income 638.2 611.2 480.0 468.6 422 4
Consolidated income from continuing operations 374.0 341.5 275.3 238.8 2388
Discontinued operations, net of tax@h") - 18.4 5.5 2.9 36.0
Net income attributable to Equifax 367.4 351.8 2721 232.9 266.7
Dividends paid to Equifax shareholders 121.2 106.7 86.0 78.1 352
Diluted earnings per common share

Net income from continuing operations attributable to

Equifax $ 297 8 269 $ 218 § 1.86 $ 183

Discontinued operations attributable to Equifax - 0.15 0.04 0.02 0.28

Net income attributable to Equifax $ 297 $ 284 $ 222 § 1.88 $ 211
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 1.00 $ 0.88 $ 072 § 064 $ 0.28
Weighted-average common shares outstanding (diluted) 123.5 123.7 122.5 123.7 126.5

As of December 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013P®@ 201245 20119 20107
Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets $4,674.2 $4,639.9 $4,520.1 $3,518.7 $3,437.5
Short-term debt and current maturities 380.4 296.5 283.3 47.2 20.7
Long-term debt, nat of current portion 1,145.7 1,145.5 1,447.4 966.0 978.9
Total debt, net 1,526.1 1,442.0 1,730.7 1,013.2 999.6
Total equity 2,234.6 2,341.0 1,059.2 1,722.1 1,708.4

(1) During the first quarter of 2014, we acquirad 100% of the stock of TDX Group, a data, technology and services company in the
United Kingdom that specializes in debt collections and recovery management through the use of analytics, data exchanges and
technology platforms. The results of this acquisition have been included in our USIS and International operating segments subsequent to
the acquisition. We also purchased Forseva, a provider of end-to-end, cloud-based credit management software solutions. The results of
this acquisition have been included in our USIS operating segment subsequent to the acquisition. For additional information about these

acquisitions, see Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this report.

(2)  During the first quarter of 2013, we divested two non-strategic business lines, Equifax Settlement Services, which was part of our
Mortgage business within the USIS operating segment, and Talent Management Services, which was part of our Employer Services busi-
ness within our Workforce Solutions operating segment, for a total of $47.5 million. We have presented the Equifax Settlement Services
and Talent Management Services operations as discontinued operations for all periods presented. For additional information about these

divestitures, see Note 3 of the Notes to Consoliciated Financial Statements in this report.

(3)  During the fourth quarter of 2013, the management of Boa Vista Servicos S.A., in which we hold a 15% cost method investment, revised
its near-term outlook and its operating plans to reflect reduced near-term market expectations for credit information services in Brazil and
increased investment needed to achieve its sirategic objectives. As a result of these changes, and the associated near-term changes in
cash flow expected from the business, we recorded a 40 million Brazilian Reais ($17.0 million) impairment of our original investment of
130 million Brazilian Reais. For additional information, see Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this report.

(4) On December 28, 2012, we acquired certain credit services business assets and operations of Computer Sciences Corporation (the
"'CSC Credit Services Acquisition™) for $1.0 billion. We financed the acquisition with available cash, the issuance of $500 million of 3.30%
ten-year senior notes, and commercial paper borrowings under our CP program. The results of this acquisifion are included in our USIS
segment after the date of acquisition and were not material for 2012. For additional information, see Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements in this report.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA continued

(5)  During the fourth quarter of 2012, we offered certain former employees a voluntary lump sum payment option of their pension benefits or
a reduced monthly annuity. Approximately 64% of the vested terminated participants elected to receive the lump sum payment which
resulted in a payment of $62.6 million from the assets in the pension plan. An amendment to the USRIP was also approved which froze
future salary increases for non-grandfathered participants and offered a one-time 9% increase to the service benefit. The settlement and
amendment resulted in a $38.7 million pension charge. For additional information, see Note 11 of the Notes to Consoclidated Financial
Statements in this report.

(6) On May 31, 2011, we completed the merger of our Brazilian business with Boa Vista Servicos S.A. (“BVS") in exchange for a 15% equity
interest in BV'S, which was accounted for as a sale and was deconsolidated. BVS, an unrslated third-party whose results we do not
consclidate, is the second largest consumer and commercial credit information company in Brazil.

(7} OnApril 23, 2010, we sold our APPRO product line ("APPRO"} for approximately $72 million. On July 1, 2010, we sold the assets of our
Direct Marketing Services division (*DMS") for approximately $117 milion. Both of these were previously reported in our U.S. Consumer
Information Solutions segment. We have presented the APPRO and DMS operations as discontinued operations for all periods presented.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

As used herein, the terms Equifax, the Company, we, our and us
refer to Equifax Inc., a Georgia corporation, and its consolidated
subsidiaries as a combined entity, except where it is clear that the
terms mean only Equifax Inc.

All references to earnings per share data in Management's Discus-
sion and Analysis, or MD&A, are to diluted earnings per share, or
EPS, unless otherwise noted. Diluted EPS is calculated to reflect the
potential dilution that would occur if stock options or other contracts
to issue common stock were exercised and resulted in additional
common shares outstanding.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are a leading global provider of information solutions, employment
and income verifications and human resources business process out-
sourcing services. We leverage some of the largest sources of
consumer and commercial data, along with advanced analytics and
proprietary technology, lo creale customized insights which enable
our business customers to grow faster, more efficiently and more
profitably, and to inform and empower consumers.

Businesses rely on us for consumer and business credit intelligence,
credit portfolio management, fraud detection, decisioning technology,
marketing tools, and human resources-related services. We also offer
a portfolio of products that enable individual consumers to manage
their financial affairs and protect their identity. Beginning in 2014, we
also provide information, technology and services to support the debt
collections and recovery management. Our revenue stream is diversi-
fied among businesses across a wide range of industries,
international geographies and individual consumers.

Segment and Geographic Information

Segments. The U.S. Information Solutions, or USIS, segment, the
largest of our four segments, consists of three product and service
lines: Online Information Solutions; Mortgage Solutions; and Financial
Marketing Services. Online Information Solutions and Mortgage Solu-
tions revenue is principally transaction-based and is derived from our
sales of products such as consumer and commercial credit reporting
and scoring, identity management and authentication, fraud detection
and modeling services. USIS also markets certain of our decisioning
products which facilitate and automate a variety of consumer and
commercial credit-oriented decisions. Financial Marketing Services
revenue is principally project- and subscription-based and is derived
from our sales of batch credit, consumer wealth or demographic
information such as those that assist clients in acquiring new custom-
ers, cross-selling to existing customers and managing portfolio risk.

On July 1, 2014 the North America Commerical Solutions (*‘NACS™)
operating segment was consolidated into the U.S. Consumer
Information Solutions and International operating segments. The
change was driven by an enterprise wide distribution marketing
strategy to maximize the penetration of our products and services in
our targeted markets. In an effort to accelerate our penstration and
simplify how our commercial information customers interact with us,
we have reorganized our operating segments. The U.S. portion of the
NACS operating segment was consolidated into the U.S. Consumer
Information Sclutions operating segment. The combined operating
segment was renamed U.S. Information Solutions (*USIS"). The
Canadian portion of the NACS operating segment was consolidated
into the Canada operations of the International operating segment.

The International segment consists of Latin America, Europe and
Canada. Canada's products and services are similar to our USIS
offerings, while Eurcpe and Latin America are made up of varying
mixes of product lines that are in our USIS and North America Personal
Solutions reportable segments, as well as infermation, technology and
services for debt collections and recovery management.

The Workforce Solutions segment consists of the Verification
Services and Employer Services business units. Verification Services
revenue is fransaction based and is derived primarily from employ-
ment, income and social security number verifications. Employer
Services revenues are derived from our provision of certain human
resources business process outsourcing services that include both
transaction- and subscription-based product offerings. These
services assist our clients with the administration of unemployment
claims and employer-based tax credits and the handling of certain
payroll-related transaction processing.

North America Personal Solutions revenue is both transaction- and
subscription-based and is derived from the sale of credit monitoring
and identity theft protection products, which we deliver electronically to
consumers primarily via the internet and to a lesser extent through mail.

Geographic Information. We currently operate in the following
countries: Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Chile, Costa Rica, Ecuador,
El Salvador, Honduras, Mexico, Paraguay, Peru, Portugal, the
Republic of Ireland, Spain, the U.K., Uruguay, and the U.S. Our
operations in the Republic of Ireland focus on data handling and
customer support activities. We have an investment in the second
largest consumer and commercial credit information company in
Brazil and offer consumer credit services in India and Russia through
joint ventures. Of the countries we operate in, 74% of our revenue
was generated in the U.S. during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2014,
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Key Performance Indicators. Management focuses on a variety of
key indicators to monitor operating and financial performance. These
performance indicators include measurements of operating revenue,
change in operating revenue, operating income, operating margin,
net income, diluted earnings per share, cash provided by operating
activities and capital expenditures. Key performance indicators for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, include
the following:

Key Performance Indicators
Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

(In millions,
except per share data) 2014 2013 2012
Operating revenue $2,4364 $2,303.9 $2,073.0
Operating revenue change 6% 11% 10%
Operating income $ 6382 $ 611.2 $ 480.0
Operating margin 26.2% 26.5% 23.2%
Net income attributable to

Equifax $ 3674 $ 3518 & 27241
Diluted earnings per share

from continuing

operations $ 297 % 269 § 218
Cash provided by operating

activities $ 6162 $ 569.0 $ 496.3
Capital expenditures $ (86.4) 3 (833 $ (66.0)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS —
TWELVE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

Consolidated Financial Results

Operating Revenue from Continuing Operations

Business Environment and Company Outlook

Demand for our services tends to be correlated to general levels of
economic activity, to consumer credit activity, to a lesser extent small
commercial cradit and marketing activity, in addition to our initiatives
to expand our product offering and markets served. In 2014, the
United States experienced modest growth in overall economic activity
and a year-over-year decline in consumer mortgage activity. In this
environment, Equifax revenue growth continued to benefit from our
product development and market initiatives which more than offset
the declines in morigage related revenues. In 2015, we continue to
expect modest growth in overall economic aclivity and consumer
credit. We expect mortgage market origination activity to grow
modestly for the year, largely in the first half, due to continued low
interest rates. Internationally, the environment continues to be chal-
lenging as various countries address their particular political, fiscal
and economic issues. In addition, continued weakening in foreign
exchange rates will negatively impact growth in revenue and profit
when reported in U.S. dollars. Offsetting these challenges, we expect
that our ongoing investments in new product innovation, business
execution, enterprise growth initiatives, technology infrastructure, and
continuous process improvement will enable us to deliver long-term
average organic revenue growth ranging between 6% and 8% with
additional growth of 1% to 2% derived from strategic acquisitions
consistent with our long term business strategy. We also expect to
grow earnings per share at a somewhat faster rate than revenue over
time as a result of both operating and financial leverage.

Operating Revenue Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
(In miflions) 2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
U.S. Information Solutions $1,104.8 $1,084.5 $ 934.4 $ 20.3 2% $150.1  16%
International 626.2 537.9 511.0 883 16% 269 5%
Workforce Solutions 490.1 4741 442 1 16.0 3% 32.0 7%
North America Personal Solutions 215.3 207.4 185.5 7.9 4% 219 12%
Consolidated operating revenue $2,436.4 $2,303.9 $2,073.0 $1325 6%  $230.9 11%
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Revenue for 2014 increased by 6% compared to 2013. The growth
was driven by the acquisition of TDX in the first quarter of 2014 (“TDX
Acquisition™) and the impact of strategic growth initiatives across our
businesses. The growth was offset by the expected decline in
mortgage market activity. The fourth quarter of 2014 benefited from
the relative improvement in mortgage activity in the U.S., which
declined in the second half of 2013 through 2014, but at a lesser rate
in fourth quarter of 2014. This expected decline reduced reported
growth rates in our USIS and Workforce Solutions business units for
2014 as compared to the same period for 2013. The effect of foreign
exchange rates reduced revenue by $34.9 million or 1% in the 2014
compared to 2013.

Revenue for 2013 increased by 11% compared to 2012. The growth
was driven by the acquisition of CSC Credit Services in the fourth
quarter of 2012 ("CSC Credit Services Acquisition’) and the impact
of strategic growth initiatives across our businesses. The growth was
offset by the expected net decline in mortgage market activity. The
first half of 2013 benefited from the impact of increased mortgage
refinancing activity in the U.S., which, as expected, began to decline
in the second half of 2013 as compared to the prior year. This
expected decline reduced reported growth rates in our USIS and
Workforce Solutions business units for the second half of 2013 as
compared to the first half of 2013. The effect of foreign exchange
rates reduced revenue by $20.4 million in the 2013 compared

to 2012.

Operating Expenses
Operating Expenses Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 § % $ %
Consolidated cost of services $ 8447 $ 787.3 $ 7595 $ 574 7% $27.8 4%
Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses 751.7 715.8 673.5 35.9 5% 423 6%
Consolidated depreciation and amortization expense 201.8 189.6 160.0 12.2 6% 296 19%
Consolidated operating expenses $1,798.2 $1,692.7 $1,593.0 $105.5 6% Hﬁ 6%

Cost of Services. Cost of services increased $57.4 million in 2014
compared to the prior year. The increase in cost of services, when
compared to 2013, was due primarily to the acquisition of TDX in the
first quarter of 2014 and the 2013 acquisitions. The effect of changes
in foreign exchange rates reduced cost of services by $7.7 million.

Cosl of services increased $27.8 million in 2013 compared 1o

the prior year. The increase in cost of services, when compared to
2012, was due primarily to increased salary and benefit costs of
$27.8 million as well as smaller increases across other categories.
The CSC Credit Services Acquisition did not have a material impact
on cost of services as this business had already been processed
on our systems under our previous affiliate arrangement. The effect
of changes in foreign exchange rates reduced cost of services

by $4.9 million.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Sellng, general and
administrative expenses increased $35.9 million in 2014 as compared
to 2013. The increase was due to the impact of the TDX acquisition
in the first quarter of 2014 and the 2013 Acquisitions, an increase in
litigation and regulatory compliance expenses, including a third
quarter 2014 settlement of a legal dispute over certain software
license agreements, and an increase in incentives, These increases
were partially offset by decreases in marketing and professional
services expenses, as well as smaller decreases in expense in various
other categories. The impact of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates decreased our selling, general and administrative
expenses by $6.8 million.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $42.3 million
in 2013 as comparad to 2012. The increase was due to increased
salary, severance, advertising, litigation and regulatory compliance
expenses of $56.4 million as well as smaller increases in expense in
various categories as we continue to support our business growth.
2013 expenses were also impacted by the CSC Credit Services
Acquisition which contributed approximately $19 million of
incremental selling, general and administrative expenses some of
which are transitional expenses as we integrate the business. These
expenses were partially offset by the $38.7 million non-cash pension
settlement charge that occurred in the fourth quarter of 2012 and
declines in incentive costs. The impact of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates decreased our selling, general and administrative
expenses by $4.4 million.

Depreciation and Amortization. The increase in depreciation and
amortization expense in 2014, as compared to 2013, was driven by
$18.5 million of incremental expense resulling from the TDX Acquisi-
tion primarily related to amortization of purchased intangibles. The
TDX Acquisition amortization is partially offset by certain purchased
intangible assets related to the TALX acquisition in 2007 that became
fully amortized during the second quarter of 2013.
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The increase in depreciation and amortization expense in 2013, as
compared to 2012, was driven by $49.1 million of incremental
expense resulting from the CSC Credit Services Acquisition primarily
related to amortization of purchased intangibles. The CSC Credit
Services Acquisition amortization is partially offset by certain

Operating Income and Operating Margin
Operating Income and

purchased intangible assets related to the TALX acquisition in 2007
that became fully amortized during the second guarter of 2013 as
well as other miscellanecus purchased intangible assets that fully
depreciated during 2013.

Operating Margin Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 8 % $ %
Consolidated operating revenue $2,436.4 $2,303.9 $2,073.0 $132.5 6% $230.9 1%
Consolidated operating expenses 1,798.2 1,692.7 1,683.0 105.5 6% 99.7 6%
Consolidated operating income $ 638.2 $ 611.2 $ 480.0 $ 27.0 4% $131.2 27%
Consolidated operating margin 26.2% 26.5% 23.2% (0.3) pts 3.3 pts

Total company margin decreased slightly in 2014 due to a third
quarter 2014 settlement of a legal dispute over certain software
license agreements and increased cost of services and acquisition-
related amortization expense related to the acquisition of TDX. The
decrease was partially offset by a reduction in amortization of certain
purchased intangible assets related to our TALX Corporation acquisi-
tion in 2007 that became fully amortized during the second quarter
of 2013.

Interest Expense and Other Income (Expense), net

Consolidated Interest and

In 2013, operating income increased faster than revenue due to
margin improvements in our Workforce Solutions and North America
Personal Solutions businesses, reflecting rapid revenue growth and
the ability to leverage our existing cost base. Operating income in
2012 was also negatively impacted by the $38.7 million pension
settlement recorded during the fourth quarter of 2012.

Other Income (Expense), net Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
{In millions) 2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
Consolidated interest expense $ (68.6) $ (70.2) $ (55.4) $16 (2)% $ (14.8) 27%
Consolidated other income (expense), net 4.6 (10.8) 6.7 15.2 nmm (17.3) nm
Average cost of debt 4.3% 4.6% 5.3%
Total consolidated debt, net, at year end $1,526.1 $1,442.0 $1,730.7 $84.1 6% $(288.7) (17)%

Interest expense decreased slightly in 2014, when compared to
20183, due to the pay-off of cur 7.34% Notes and 4.45% Senior
Notes during 2014. Our consolidated debt balance increased, as
compared to the prior year, as a result of commercial paper issued to
fund the majority of the acquisition price of TDX. The decrease in the
average cost of debt for 2014 is due to the pay-off of our 7.34%
Notes and 4.45% Senior Notes and additional low rate commercial
paper outstanding on average, which caused the average cost of
debt to decrease as compared to the prior year.

Interest expense increased in 2013, when compared to 2012, due to
the issuance of $500 million of 3.30% ten-year senior notes in
December 2012 to fund the CSC Credit Services Acquisition. Our
consolidated debt balance decreased, as compared to the prior year,
as a result of paying down $265.0 million of commercial paper during
2013 that was used to partially fund the CSC Credit Services Acquisi-
tion. The decrease in the average cost of debt for 2013 is due to the

issuance of the $500 million senior notes at a low interest rate and
additional low rate commercial paper outstanding on average, which
caused the average cost of debt to decrease as compared to the
prior year.

The increase in other income (expense), net, in 2014 is due to the
impairment of our cost method investment representing a 15% equity
interest in Boa Vista Servicos S.A. ('BVS"') recorded in 2013, which
did not recur in 2014, Other income (expense), net in 2014 also
includes $7.0 million in foreign exchange losses related to dividends
declared by our subsidiary in Argentina and losses incurred in
repatriating these funds. These lossas were partially offset by an
increase in our equity in the earnings of our Russian joint venture.

The decrease in other income (expense), net, in 2013 is due to the

impairment of our cost method investment representing a 15% equity
interest in BVS recorded in 2013. During the fourth quarter of 2013,
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the management of BVS revised its near-term outlook and its operat
ing plans to reflect reduced near-term market expectations for credit
information services in Brazil and increased investment needed to
achieve its strategic objectives. As a result of these changes, and the
associated near-term changes in cash flow expected from the busi-
ness, we recorded a 40 million Brazilian Reais ($17.0 million)
impairment of our original investment of 130 million Brazilian Reais. If
the economic growth in Brazil remains at lower than trend levels for

Income Taxes

an extended period or if BVS is unsuccessful in effectively implement
ing its strategy, further write-downs could be recognized in future
periods. Other income (expense), net in 2013 also includes

$6.5 million in foreign exchange losses related to dividends declared
by our subsidiary in Argentina and losses incurred in repatriating
these funds. These losses were partially offset by an increase in our
equity in the earnings of our Russian joint venture.

Provision for Income Taxes Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
Consolidated provision for income taxes $(200.2) $(188.9) $(156.0) $(11.3) 6% $(32.9) 21%
Effective income tax rate 34.9% 35.6% 36.2%

Overall, our effective tax rate was 34.9% for 2014, down from 35.6%
for the same period in 2013, The 2014 rate benefited by 1.1% as
compared to the 2013 rate due to the favorable impact of 2014
international, permanent and discrete items. The 2014 effective rate
increased by 0.4% as compared to 2013 due to increases in state
income tax rates, which became effective or enacted in 2014. We
expect our effective tax rate in 2015 to be in the range of 35%

to 36%.

Our effeclive lax rale was 35.6% for 2013, down from 36.2% for the
same period in 2012. The 2013 rate benefited by 3.7% as compared
to the 2012 rate due to the unfavorable impact in 2012 of certain
one-time effects caused by certain international tax planning
implemented during 2012. This was offset by a one-time 2.8%
benefit in 2012 associated with a tax method change approved by
tax authorities in 2012, The 2013 effective rate increased by 0.6% as
compared to 2012 due to increases in state income tax rates, which
became effective in 2013.

Net Income
Net Income Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change
2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012

(In millions, except per share amounts) 2014 2013 2012 3 % $ %
Consolidated operating income $638.2 $611.2 $480.0 $27.0 4% $131.2 27%
Consolidated other expense, net (64.0) (80.8) (48.7) 16.8 (21)% (32.1) 66%
Consolidated provision for income texes (200.2) (188.9) (156.0) (11.3) 6% (32.9) 21%
Consolidated nat income from continuing

operations 374.0 341.5 275.3 325 10% 66.2 24%
Discontinued operations, net of tax - 18.4 55 (18.4) (100)% 12.9 235%
Net income attributable to noncontrolling

interests (6.6) (8.1) 8.7) 1.5 (19)% 0.6 (7%
Net income attributable to Equifax $367.4 $351.8 $272.1 $15.6 4% $ 797 29%
Diluted earnings per common share

Net income from continuing operations

attributable to Equifax $ 297 $ 2.69 $ 218 $0.28 10% $ 051 23%
Discontinued operations attributable to
Equifax - 0.15 0.04 (0.15) (100)% 011 275%

Net income attributable to Equifax $ 297 $ 2.84 $ 222 $0.13 5% § 062 28%
Weighted-average shares used in computing

diluted earnings per share 123.5 123.7 1225

2014 ANNUAL REPORT



Consolidated net income from continuing operations increased by
$32.5 million, or 10%, in 2014 compared to 2013 due fo increased
operating income in our USIS, Workforce Solutions and North
America Personal Solutions operating segments, and a lower effec-
tive income tax rate, partially offset by declines in the International
operating sagment. The increase in net income attributable to Equifax
for 2014, as compared to the prior year, was partially offset by the
absence of earnings from the discontinued operations, including a
gain on the disposition of those operations, which benefited the

prior year period.

Segment Financial Results

U.S. Information Solutions

Consolidated net income from continuing operations increased by
$66.2 million, or 24%, in 2013 compared to 2012 due to increased
operating income in all four of our operating segments, net of associ-
ated income taxes and higher interest expense, as a result of our
CSC Credit Services Acquisition. Net income atiributable to Equifax
for 2013, as compared to the prior year, also benefited from
increased income from discontinued operations, driven by an
$18.4 million gain, after tax, on the sale of our Talent Management
Services and Equifax Settlement Services business lines. This gain
was primarily the result of an income tax benefit of $18.1 million,
including $14.3 million of current tax benefits. This increase was
partially offset by the absence of earnings from the discontinued
operations which benefited the prior year period.

U.S. Information Solutions Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
{In millions) 2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
Operating revenue:
Online Information Solutions $ 801.3 $ 7703 $676.1 $31.0 4% $ 942 14%
Mortgage Solutions 105.7 114.3 94.5 (8.6) (8% 19.8 21%
Financial Marketing Services 197.8 199.9 163.8 21) (M% 361 22%
Total operating revenue $1,104.8 $1,084.5 $934.4 $20.3 2% $150.1 16%
% of consolidated revenue 45% 47% 45%
Total operating income $ 428.2 $ 410.0 $355.9 $18.2 4% $ 541 15%
Operating margin 38.8% 37.8% 38.1% 1.0 pts (0.3) pts

U.S. Information Solutions revenue increased 2% in 2014 as
compared to the prior year. Solid growth from strategic product and
market penetration as well as pricing initiatives were partially offset by
the expected decline in mortgage market activity compared to the
first half of 2013 when mortgage refinancing activity was still high.

U.S. Information Solutions revenue increased 16% in 2013 as
compared to the prior year, The CSC Credit Services Acquisition
contributed to 14% of the revenue growth in 2013. The remaining
growth resulted from strategic product and market penetration as
well as pricing initiatives in the mortgage market more than offseting
the decline from lower mortgage market activity in 2013.

Online Information Solutions. Revenue for 2014 increased 4%
when compared to the prior year. Core credit report transaction
volume increased 12% in 2014 compared to the prior year due to
increased volumes to customers in the financial services market, auto
industry and cur key client pregram. The period also benefited from
growth in our identity and fraud solutions business. These increases
were partially offset by lower average unit revenue due tc a less favor-
able mix of business and a lower proportion of reports sold into the
mortgage resale market.

Revenue for 2013 increased 14% when compared to the prior year.
This increase was driven primarily by the incremental revenue from

the CSC Credit Services Acquisition as compared to the prior year.
Excluding the CSC Credit Services Acquisition, revenue increased
1% in 2013 as compared to a year ago. A 3% decline in 2013 in
organic credit report transaction volume compared to the prior year
was due to a decline in mortgage-related credit report volume and
lower volume from select high volume but lower priced accounts in
the financial services market as well as changes in usage in the
telecommunications sector. This was offset by higher average unit
revenue due to pricing initiatives and more favorable mix.

Mortgage Solutions. Revenue decreased 8% in 2014 when
compared to prior year due primarily to the expected lower mortgage
refinancing activity.

Revenue increased 21% in 2013 when compared to the prior year
period, due primarily to the incremental revenue resulting from the
CSC Credit Services Acquisition, which contributed 18% of the
growth in 2013, Revenue also benefited from an increase in new
product sales and market share gains from existing customers.
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Financial Marketing Services. Revenue decreased 1% in 2014 as
compared to 2013. The decline was driven by one-time revenue
recognized in 2013 related to the collection of amounts billed in 2012
which did not recur in 2014. The decline is partially offset by strong
growth in our customer base for our wealth-based consumer
infermation services products.

Revenue increased $36.1 million, or 22%, in 2013, as compared to
2012. Revenue related to the CSC Credit Services Acquisition
contributed approximately 119% of the revenue growth in 2013, with
the remainder coming from account acquisition and analytical
services products delivered to members of our key client program.
Revenue also benefited from the collection of certain reserved billings
related to both 2013 and 2012,

U.S. Information Solutions Operating Margin. USIS operating
margin increased to 38.8% in 2014 as compared to 2013 of 37.8%.
Margin expansion resulted from realized synergies related to our CSC
Credit Services Acquisition completed at the end of 2012 including
certain transitional expenses in 2013 that did not recur in 2014, The
increase in margin for 2014 was partially offset by a third quarter
2014 settiement of a legal dispute over certain software license
agreements of $7.9 million. USIS operating margin decreased to
37.8% in 2013 as compared to 2012 of 38.1%. Margin expansion
from revenue growth was more than offset by increased depreciation
and amortization expense and certain transitional expenses, both
related to the CSC Credit Services Acquisition, and increased invest-
ments in growth initiatives. The increased depreciation and
amortization expense was primarily a result of the additional

$49.1 million in 2013 of acquisition-related amortization expense
related to the CSC Credit Services Acquisition.

International
International Twelve Months Ended Decemnber 31, Change

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
Operating revenue:
Latin America $192.2 $194.3 $187.4 $(21) (1)% $69 4%
Europe 279.8 188.0 169.7 918 49% 183 11%
Canada 154.2 155.6 154.0 (1.4 (1)% 16 1%
Total operating revenue $626.2 $537.9 $511.1 $88.3 16% $26.8 5%
% of consclidated revenue 26% 23% 25%
Total operating income $140.4 $157.3 $152.8 $(16.9) (11)% $45 3%
Operating margin 22.4% 29.2% 29.9% (6.8) pts (0.7) pts

International revenue increased by 16% in 2014 as compared to
2013. Local currency international revenue increased by 23% in 2014
as compared to prior year. Local currency revenue grew 15% as a
result of our first quarter 2014 acquisition of TOX and our fourth
quarter 2013 acquisitions in Paraguay and Mexico. Local currency
revenue increased 8% due to crganic growth across the
geographies, primarily the U.K., Argentina, and Canada. Local cur-
rency fluctuations against the U.S. dollar negatively impacted revenue
by $34.9 million, or 7%.

International revenue increased by 5% in 2013 as compared to 2012,
Local currency revenue increased 10% due to growth across the
geographies, primarily the U.K., Argentina, and Canada. Local cur-
rency fluctuations against the U.S. dollar negatively impacted revenue
by $20.5 million, or 4%.

Latin America. Local currency revenue increased 18% in 2014
driven by growth in Argentina, Peru, Chile, Uruguay and Ecuador.
Approximately half of this growth was organic growth in Argentina
and other countries, while the other half resulted from the fourth
quarter 2013 acquisitions in Paraguay and Mexico. Local currency
fluctuations against the U.S. dollar negatively impacted revenue by

$37.4 million, or 19%, in 2014, most notably due to depreciation in
the foreign exchange rate of the Argentine peso. Reported revenue
decreased 1% in 2014.

In local currency, revenue growth was 12% in 2013 as compared to
2012 driven most significantly by growth in Argentina and to a lesser
extent growth in Paraguay, Ecuador and Uruguay. This growth was
offsel by a modeslt decline in Chile in the first half of 2013 due lo
regulatory changes in the allowable uses of credit information, which
impact on year over year comparisons was anniversaried late in the
first half of 2013. Local currency fluctuations against the U.S. dollar
negatively impacted revenue by $15.6 million, or 8%, in 2013
principally due to depreciation in the foreign exchange rate of the
Argentine peso. Reported revenue increased 4% in 2013 as
compared to the prior year.

Europe. Local currency revenue growth was 42% in 2014 primarily
due to the acquisition of TDX in the first quarter of 2014 which
represented 33 percentage points of the growth in 2014. The remain-
ing 9 percentage points of the growth were driven by increased
revenue in the U.K. across most product segments, despite
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continued challenging economic conditions. Local currency fluctua
tions against the U.S. dollar positively impacted revenue by $13.6
million, or 7%, for 2014, Reported revenue increased 49% in 2014,

Local currency revenue increased 11% in 2013 compared to the
same periods in 2012. The revenue growth was driven by increased
revenue in the UK., most notably from personal solutions offerings
and from consumer credlit information sold into new vertical markets,
and in Spain from analytical services and new vertical market
penetration, despite continued challenging economic conditions in
both countries. Lecal currency fluctuations against the U.S. dollar
negatively impacted revenue by $0.1 million. Reported revenue also
increased 11% in 2013.

Canada. Local currency revenue increased 6% in 2014 compared to
2013, primarily due to new customers within marketing and decision
solutions and monitcring services as a result of breach business, as
well as, growth in information services. Local currency fluctuations
against the U.S. dollar negatively impacted revenue by $11.1 million,
or 7%, in 2014. Reported revenue decreased 1% in 2014.

Workforce Solutions

Local currency revenue increased 4% in 2013 compared to 2012
primarily due to new customers within our technology services sector
along with growth in information and analytical services. Local cur-
rency fluctuations against the U.S. dollar negatively impacted revenue
by 84.7 million, or 3%, which resulted in 1% reported revenue growth
in 2013 as compared to 2012.

International Operating Margin. Operating margin decreased to
22.4% in 2014 as compared to 29.2% in 2013. The decline primarily
resulted from the recent acquisitions, including increased acquisition-
related amortization expense of $23.3 million in 2014, related to the
recent acquisitions. The decline in margin was also a result of infla-
tion-driven pressures on margin in Argantina. Operating margin
decreased in 2013 as compared to 2012 as the revenue growth was
more than offset by increased investments in new business and
strategic initiatives across most geographies in order to support
future revenue growth.

Workforce Solutions Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
{In millions) 2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
Operating Revenue:
Verfication Services $292.6 $279.3 $258.5 $13.3 5% $20.8 8%
Employer Services 197.5 194.8 1836 2.7 1% N2 6%
Total operating revenue $490.1 $474.1 $442.1 $16.0 3% $32.0 7%
% of consolidated revenue 20% 21% 21% T
Total operating income $160.7 $142.6 $106.6 $18.1 13% $36.0 34%
Operating margin 32.8% 30.1% 24.1% 2.7 pts 6.0 pts

Verification Services. Revenue increased 5% in 2014 compared to
prior year, due to strong growth in non-mortgage verticals, which was
partially offset by the expected decline in mortgage-related verification
revenue in 2014 driven by the anticipated decline in mortgage market
activity in 2014. The revenue growth in non-mortgage verticals was
primarily a result of increased revenus mostly related to government,
pre-employment and auto segments.

Revenue increased 8% in 2013 compared to the prior year period. In
2013, strong growth in non-mortgage verticals was offset by a slight
decline in mortgage-related verification revenue due to the expected
decline in mortgage market activity in the second half of 2013. The
growth in non-mortgage verticals was primarily a result of increased
revenue mostly related to government, pre-employment and
consumer finance customer segments.

Employer Services. Revenue grew 1% in 2014, as compared to
2013. Revenue growth was due to growth in our transaction-based
services business and workforce analytics business. The growth in
2014 was partially offset by lower unemployment claims activity and a
decline in revenue related to the non-renewal of the federal Work
Opportunity Tax Credit program in 2014.

2013 revenue increased 6% as compared lo 2012. Revenue growth
due to the renewal of the federal Work Opportunity Tax Credit
program at the end of 2012 and growth in our transaction-based
services business was partially offset by lower overall claims activity in
our unemployment cost management business and the expiration of
the HIRE Act tax credit.

Workforce Solutions Operating Margin. Operating margin for 2014
increased compared to prior year. Margin expansion in 2014 was

driven by a higher mix of high margin business compared to 2013, as
well as cost management initiatives executed during the year. Margin

2014 ANNUAL REPORT



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS continued

improvement was also driven by lower acquisition-related amortiza
tion due to certain purchased intangible assets related to our TALX
Corporation acquisition in 2007 that became fully amortized during
the second quarter of 2013. Operating margin for 2013 increased

North America Personal Solutions

significantly compared to 2012. Margin expansion was driven by
strong revenue growth in products with a high degree of fixed costs,
strategic initiatives implemented to reduce costs, and from lower
acquisition-related amortization.

North America Personal Sclutions Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 b % $ %
Total operating revenue $215.3 $207.4 $185.5 $7.9 4% $21.9 12%
% of consclidated revenue 9% 9% 9%
Total operating income $ 66.8 $ 58.6 $ 504 $8.2 14% $82 16%
Operating margin 31.0% 28.2% 27.2% 2.8 pts 1.0 pts

Revenue increased 4% for 2014, as compared to prior year,
principally due to the acquisition of TrustedID in the third quarter of
2013 and subscription revenue in Canada. Direct to consumer,
Equifax-branded U.S.-based subscription service revenue was up 1%
in 2014 as a result of higher average revenue per subscriber. This
growth was largely offset by declines primarily in transaction revenue,
as well as revenue from legacy partners and breach. Operating
margin increased in 2014 as compared to prior year, as increased
salaries, legal expenses and acquisition-related amortization due to
the acquisition of TrustedID in the third guarler of 2013 was more
than offset by lower marketing expenses.

Revenue increased 12% in 2013 as compared to the prior year
primarily due to increased direct to consumer, Equifax-branded

General Corporate Expense

U.S.-based subscription service revenue which was up 10% in 2013
as well as strong growth of services in the Canadian market and the
acquisition of TrustedID completed in the third quarter of 2013. The
increase in the direct to consumer, Equifax-branded U.S.-based
subscription service revenue was driven by new product sales and
higher average revenue per subscriber, reflecting additional features
in the Equifax product offering, as well as growth in subscribers.
Transaction sales, breach services, and revenue from traditional
partners each declined slightly. Operating margin increased in 2013
as compared Lo the prior year due to lower monitoring and credil file
expenses resulting from the CSC Credit Services Acquisition, partially
offset by the increased investment in sales and marketing expenses
and the impact of the third guarter 2013 acquisition.

General Corporate Expense Twelve Months Ended Decemnber 31, Change

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 5 % $ %
General corporate expense $157.9 $157.3 $185.8 $0.6 —% $(28.5) (15)%

Our general corporate expenses are unallocated costs that are
incurred at the corporate level and include those expenses impacted
by corporate direction, including shared services, administrative,
legal, restructuring, and the portion of management incentive
compensation determined by total company-wide performance.
General corporate expense was comparable to 2013,

General corporate expenses decreased by $28.5 million in 2013,
compared to 2012, primarily due to the $38.7 million pension settle-
ment recorded in 2012 partially offset by higher salary, benefit and
restructuring costs as well as spending to support corporate growth
and infrastructure initiatives.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

Management assesses liquidity in terms of our ability to generate
cash to fund operaling, investing and financing activities. We conltinue
to generate substantial cash from operating activities and remain in a

strong financial position managing our capital structure to mest short-
and long-term objectives including reinvestment in existing busi-
nesses and strategic acquisitions.

Sources and Uses of Cash

Funds generated by operating activities and our credit facilities
continue to be our most significant sources of liquidity. We expect
that funds generated from results of operations will be sufficient to
finance our anticipated working capital and other cash requirements
(such as capital expenditures, interest payments, debt payments,
potential pension funding contributions and dividend payments) for
the foreseeable future. In the event that credit market conditions were
to deteriorate, we would rely more heavily on borrowings from the
Senior Credit Facility, as described below. At December 31, 2014,
$368.8 million was available to borrow under our Senior Credit Facil-
ity. Our Senior Credit Facility does not include a provision under
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which lenders could refuse to allow us to borrow under this facility in
the event of a material adverse change in our financial condition, as
long as we are in compliance with the covenants contained in the
lending agreement.

Information about our cash flows, by category, is presented in the
Consclidated Statements of Cash Flows. The following table sum-
marizes our cash flows for the twelve months ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012:

Net cash provided by (used in): Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

(In mifiions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 ys, 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Operating activities $616.2 $569.0 $ 496.3 $ 47.2 § 727
Investing activities $(429.3) $(136.3) $(1,083.5) $(293.0) $047.3
Financing activities $(283.4) $(333.1) $ 606.3 $ 49.7 $(939.4)

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities for 2014 increased by

$47.2 million over the prior year. Cash provided from net income,
excluding the impact of the 2013 diveslitures, the impairment of our
cost method investment in 2013, the impact of depreciation and
amortization and stock based compensation expense, increased
$35.9 million. The remaining increase in cash from operations was
driven by changes in net working capital in 2014 as compared

to 2013.

Cash provided by operating activities for 2013 increased by

$72.7 million compared to 2012, Cash provided from net income,
excluding the impact of the 2013 divestitures, the impairment of our
cost method investment in 2013, the impact of the 2012 pension
settlement, and adjusting for an increase in amortization expense
resulting from the CSC Credit Services Acquisition, increased

$65.3 million. This increase in cash from operations was driven by the
increase in net income in 2013 as compared to 2012,

Fund Transfer Limitations. The ability of certain of our subsidiaries
and associated companies to transfer funds to us is limited, in some
cases, by certain restrictions imposed by foreign governments, such
as Argentina; these restrictions do not, individually or in the
aggregate, materially limit our ability to service our indebtedness,
meet our current obligations or pay dividends. We currently hold
$123.4 million of cash in our foreign subsidiaries.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in: Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs, 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Capital expenditures $(86.4) $(83.3) $(66.0) $(3.1) $(17.3)

Our capital expenditures are used for developing, enhancing and
deploying new and existing software in support of our expanding
product set, replacing or adding equipment, updating systems for
regulatory compliance, licensing of standard software applications,
invesling in system reliability, securily and disasler recovery enhance-
ments, and updating or expanding our office facilities.

Acquisitions, Divestitures and Investments

Capital expenditures in 2014 were not materially different from 2013
as we are continuing to invest in new products and technology
infrastructure. Capital expenditures in 2013 increased from 2012 as
we continued to invest in new products and technology
infrastructure.

Net cash provided by (used in): Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs, 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired $(341.0) $(91.4) $(1,016.4) $(249.6) $925.0
Cash received from divestitures $ 06 $47.5 8 2.5 $ (46.9) $ 45.0
Investment in unconsolidated affliales, net $ (2.5 $ (9.1) $§ (@B7 $ 6.6 $ (5.4)

2014 Acquisitions and Investments. During the first quarter of
2014, we acquired TDX, included as part of our International cperat-
ing segment, and Forseva, included as part of our USIS operating

segment. During the first quarter of 2013, we divested two non-
strategic business lines, Equifax Settlement Services which was part
of our Mortgage businass within the USIS operating segment and
Talent Management Services which was part of our Employer
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Services business within our Workforce Solutions operating segment,
for a total of $47.5 million. $3.5 million of the proceads of the sale of
Talent Management Services was placed into an escrow account

to be released to us at a later date. During 2014, we received

$0.6 million of the proceeds from the escrow.

We invested $2.5 million in our joint venture in India during 2014. This
investment was more than offset by dividends received from our joint
venture in Russia.

2013 Acquisitions and Investments. During the third quarter of
2013, we acquired TrustedID, a direct-to-consumer identity protec-
tion business that is included as part of our North America Personal
Solutions business unit. During the fourth quarter of 2013, we
completed two acquisitions in Paraguay and Mexico in the Latin
America region of our International segment.

In the first quarter of 2013, we divested of two non-strategic business
lines, as discussed above, for a total of $47.5 million. $3.5 million of
the proceeds of the sale of Talent Management Services was placed
into an escrow account and will be released to us 18 months after
the transaction date. We also divested of three other small
non-strategic operations.

We invested $8.0 million in our joint ventures in 2013 to increase our
percentage ownership interest in Russia, and as a general capital call
in India, as well as $1.1 million in another international entity.

For additional information about our acquisitions, see Note 4 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this report.

2012 Acquisitions and Investments. On December 28, 2012, as a
part of our long-term growth strategy of expanding our USIS busi-
ness, we acquired certain credit services business assets and
operations of Computer Sciences Corporation (“CSC Credit
Services”) for $1.0 billion. We financed the acquisition with available
cash, the issuance of $500 million of 3.30% ten-year senior notes,
and commercial paper borrowings under our CP program. The
results of this acqguisition are included in our USIS segment.

To further broaden our product offerings, during the twelve months
ended December 31, 2012, we completed a number of smaller
acquisitions of information services businesses in the European and
Latin American regions of our International segment. The results of
these acquisitions are not material.

During the second quarter of 2010, we sold our APPRO product

line, generating cash proceeds of approximately $67 million.
Approximately $5 million of the purchase price was paid by the
acquirer into an escrow account that was released to us, upon the
satisfaction of certain conditicns, over the two year period following
the sale. We received the final payment of $2.5 million from the
escrow account during the second quarter of 2012. During 2012, we
also invested $3.7 million in our joint venture in Russia.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by (used in): Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs, 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Net short-term borrowings (repayments) $379.9 $(267.3) $234.1 $647.2 $(501.4)
Payments on long-term debt $(290.0) $ (15.0) $(15.2) $(275.0) $ 02
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt $ - $ - $499.2 $ - $(499.2)
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Credit Facility Availability. Our principal unsecured revolving credit
facility with a group of banks, which we refer to as the Senior Credit
Facility, permits us to borrow up to $750.0 million through December
2017. The Senior Credit Facility may be used for general corporate
purposes. Availability of the Senior Credit Facility for borrowings is
reduced by the outstanding face amount of any letters of credit
issued under the facility and, pursuant to our existing Board of Direc-
tors autharization, by the outstanding principal amount of our
commercial paper (CP) notes.

Our $750.0 million CP program has been established to allow for
borrowing through the private placement of CP with maturities
ranging from overnight to 397 days. We may use the proceeds of
CP for general corporate purposes. The CP program is supported
by our Senior Credit Facility and, pursuant to our existing Board of
Directors authorization, the total amount of CP which may be issued
is reduced by the amount of any outstanding borrowings under our
Senior Credit Facility.

At December 31, 2014, there were no borrowings outstanding
under our Senior Credit Facility and $379.7 milion of commercial
paper notes and $1.5 million of letters of credit outstanding. At
December 31, 2014, a total of $368.8 million was available under
our Senior Credit Facility.

Al December 31, 2014, approximalely 75% of our debt was fixed
rate and 25% was effectively variable rate. Our variable-rate debt
consists of our issued commercial paper, which bears short-term
inferest rates based on the CP market for investment grade issuers.
The interest rates reset periodically, depending on the terms of the
respective financing arrangements. At December 31, 2014, interest
rates on our variable-rate debt ranged from 0.38% to 0.60%.

Borrowing and Repayment Activity. Net short-term borrowings
(repayments) primarily represent borrowings or repayments of
outstanding amounts under our CP program. We primarily borrow
under our CP program, as needed and availability allows.

The increase in net short-term borrowings (repayments) primarily
reflects the borrowing of CP notes in the first quarter of 2014 to
fund the acquisition of TDX, as well as the 2014 pay-off of our
$15.0 million 7.34% Notes and $275.0 million 4.45% Senior Notes,
outstanding at December 31, 2013, with borrowings under our CP
program. The decrease in net short-term borrowings (repayments) in
2013 primarily reflects the repayment of $265.0 million of CP notes
that were outstanding as of December 31, 2012,

The increase in payments on long-term debt in 2014 reflects the pay-
off of our $15.0 million 7.34% Notes and $275.0 million 4.45% Senior
Notes, outstanding at December 31, 2013, with borrowings under
our CP program.

On December 17, 2012, we received proceeds of $499.2 million from
the issuance cf ten-year senior notes with a stated interest rate of
3.30% in an underwritten public offering. Interest is payable semi-
annually in arrears on December 15 and June 15 of each year. We
used the net proceeds of the sale of the notes to partially finance the
acquisition of CSC Credit Services in December 2012,

Debt Covenants. Our outstanding indentures and comparable
instruments contain customary covenants including, for example,
limits on secured debt and sale/leaseback transactions. In addition,
our Senior Credit Facility requires us to maintain a maximum leverage
ratio of not more than 3.5 to 1.0, and limits the amount of subsidiary
debt. Our leverage ratio was 1.74 at December 31, 2014, None of
these covenants are considered restrictive to our operations and,

as of December 31, 2014, we were in compliance with all of our
deht covenants.

We do not have any credit raling triggers thal would accelerale the
maturity of a material amount of our outstanding debt; however, our
6.3% Senior Notes due 2017, 3.3% Senior Notes due 2022 and
7.0% Senior Notes due 2037 (together, the “*Senior Notes™) contain
change in control provisions. If we experience a change of control or
publicly announce our intention to effect a change of control and the
rating on the senior notes is lowered by Standard & Poor's, or S&P,
and Moody's Investors Service, or Moody's, below an investment
grade rating within 60 days of such change of control or notice
thereof, then we wil be required 1o offer to repurchase the Senior
Notes at a price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount of
the Senior Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest.

Credit Ratings. Credit ratings reflect an independent agency's judg-
ment on the likelihood that a borrower will repay a debt obligation at
maturity. The ratings reflect many considerations, such as the nature
of the borrower's industry and its competitive position, the size of the
company, its liquidity and access to capital and the sensitivity of a
company’s cash flows to changes in the economy. The two largest
rating agencies, S&P and Moody's, use alphanumeric codes to
designate their ratings. The highest quality rating for long-term credit
abligations is AAA and Aaa for S&P and Moody's, respectively. A
security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities
and may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the
assigning rating agency.

Long-term ratings of BBB- and Baa3 or better by S&P and Moody's,
respectively, reflect ratings on debt obligations that fall within a

band of credit quality considered to be “‘investment grade”. At
December 31, 2014, the long-term ratings for our obligations were
BBB+ and Baa1, which are consistent with the ratings and outlooks
which existed at December 31, 2013. A downgrade in our credit rat-
ing would increase the cost of borrowings under our CP program and
credit facilities, and could limit, or in the case of a significant
downgrade, preclude our ability to issue CP. If our credit ratings were
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS continued

to decline to lower levels, we could experience increases in the inter
est cost for any new debt. In addition, the market's demand for, and
thus our ability to readily issue, new debt could become further
affected by the economic and credit market environment.

For additional information about our debt, including the terms of our
financing arrangements, basis for variable interest rates and debt
covenants, see Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial State-
ments in this report.

Equity Transactions
Net cash provided by (used in): Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Treasury stock purchases $(301.6) $ (119 $(85.1) $(289.7) $73.2
Dividends paid to Eqguifax shareholders $(121.2) $(106.7) $(86.0) $ (14.5) $(20.7)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests $ (7.9 $ (105) $ 4.8) $ 26 S (5.7)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options $ 39.7 $ 478 $68.3 $ (8.1) $(20.5)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based

compensation plans $ 17.7 $ 1486 $ 1.7 $ 31 $12.9
Contributions from noncontroliing interests $ - $ 167 $ - $ (16.7) $16.7

Sources and uses of cash related to equity during the twelve months

ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were as follows:

¢ Under share repurchase programs authorized by our Board of
Directors, we repurchased 3.9 million, 0.2 million, and 1.9 million
common shares during the twelve months ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, for $301.6 million,
$11.9 million and $85.1 million, respectively, at an average price
per common share of $76.55, $59.74 and $45.73, respectively.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

At December 31, 2014, under the existing board authorization, the
Company is approved for additional stock repurchases valued at
$313.5 million.

¢ During the twelve months ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, we paid cash dividends to Equifax shareholders of $121.2
million, $106.7 million and $86.0 million, respectively, at $1.00
per share for 2014, $0.88 per share for 2013 and $0.72 per share
for 2012.

The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2014. The table excludes com-
mitments that are contingent based on events or factors uncertain at this time. Some of the excluded commitments are discussed below the

footnotes to the table.

Payments due by

(In millions) Total Less than 1 year 1to 3 years 3to5vyears  Thereafter
Debt™ $1,5279 $380.4 $272.5 $ - § 875.0
Operating leases® 98.2 17.0 22.7 13.9 44.6

Data processing, outsourcing agreements and
other purchase obligations'® 57.7 40.3 12.7 2.8 1.9
Other long-term liabilities® 113.3 7.5 12.7 11.2 81.9
Interest payments®™ 686.3 61.4 111.1 85.2 428.6
$2,483.4 $506.6 $431.7 $113.1 $1,432.0

(1) The amounts are gross of unamortized discounts totaling $(1.8) million at Decernber 31, 2014. Total debt on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets is net of the unamortized discounts and fair value adjustments. There were no fair value adjustments to our debt at December 31,

2014.

(2)  Our operating lease obligations principally involve office space and equipment, which include the ground lease associated with our

headquarters building that expires in 2048.

(3) These agreements primarily represent our minimum contractual obligations for services that we outsource associated with our computer
data processing operations and related functions, and certain administrative functions. These agreements expire between 2015 and

2023.

(4) These long-term liabilities primarily relate to obligations associated with certain pension, postretirement and other compensation-related
plans, some of which are discounted in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. We made certain
assumptions about the timing of such future payments. In the table above, we have not included amounts related to future pension plan
obligations, as such required funding amounts beyond 2015 have not been deemed necessary due to our current expectations regarding

future plan asset performance.

(5)  For future interest payments on variable-rate debt, which are generally based on a specified margin plus a base rate (LIBOR) or on CP
rates for investment grade issuers, we used the varable rate in effect at December 31, 2014 to calculate these payments. Our variable
rate debt at December 31, 2014, consisted of CP and borrowings under our credit facilities. Future interest payments related to our
Senior Credit Facility and our CP program are based on the borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2014 through their respective
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maturity dates, assuming such borrowings are outstanding until that time. The vanable portion of the rate at December 31, 2014 ranged
from 0.38% to 0.60% for all of our variable-rate debt. Future interest payments may be different depending on fuiure borrowing activity

and interest rates.

(6)  This table excludes $23.3 million of unrecognized tax benefits, including interest and penalties, as we cannot make a reasonably reliable
estimate of the period of cash settlement with the respective taxing authorities.

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions
We do not engage in off-balance sheet financing activities.

Pursuant to the terms of certain industrial revenue bonds, we have
transferred title to certain of our fixed assets with total costs of

$92.3 million and $82.6 million, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively, to a local governmental authority in the U.S. to receive a
property tax abatement related to economic development. The title to
these assets will revert back to us upon retirement or cancellation of
the applicable bonds. These fixed assets are still recognized on the
Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets as all risks and rewards
remain with the Company.

Letters of Credit and Guarantees

We will from time to time issue standby letters of credit, performance
bonds or other guarantees in the normal course of business. The
aggregate notional amount of all performance bonds and standby
letters of credit was not material at December 31, 2014, and all have
a remaining maturity of one year or less. Guarantess are issued from
time to time to support the needs of our operating units. The
maximum potential future payments we could be required to make
under the guarantees is not material at December 31, 2014.

Benefit Plans

We sponsor a qualified defined benefit retirement plan (the U.S.
Retirement Income Plan, or USRIP) that covers approximately 20% of
current U.S. salaried employees who were hired on or before

June 30, 2007, the last date on which an individual could be hired
and enter the plan before the USRIP was frozen to new participation
at December 31, 2008. This plan also covers many retirees as well as
certain terminated but vested individuals not yet in retirement status.
We also sponsor a defined benefit plan that covers most salaried and
hourly employees in Canada (the Canadian Retirement Income Plan,
or CRIP). The CRIP was frozen to new participants entering the plan
on or after October 1, 2011.

At December 31, 2014, the USRIP met or exceeded ERISA’s
minimum funding requirements. During the twelve months ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, we did not make any contributions to
the USRIP. We contributed $1.2 million and $2.6 million to the CRIP
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. In the future, we will make minimum funding contribu-
tions as required and may make discretionary contributions,
depending on certain circumstances, including market conditions and
liquidity needs. We believe additional funding contributions, if any,

would not prevent us from continuing to meet our liquidity needs,
which are primarily funded from cash flows generated by operating
activities, available cash and cash eqguivalents, and our credit
facilities.

For our non-U.8., tax-qualified retirement plans, we fund an amount
sufficient to meet minimum funding requirements but no more than
allowed as a tax deduction pursuant to applicable tax regulations. For
the non-qualified supplementary retirement plans, we fund the
benefits as they are paid to retired participants, but accrue the
associated expense and liabilities in accordance with GAAP.

For additional information about our benefit plans, see Note 11 of
the Notes to Consclidated Financial Statements in this report.

Seasonality

We experience seasonality in certain of our revenue streams.
Revenue generated from the Employer Services business unit within
the Workforce Solutions operating segment is generally higher in the
first quarter due primarily to the provision of Form W-2 preparation
services, which occur in the first quarter each year. Revenue from our
Online Information Solutions and Mortgage Solutions business units
tends to increase in periods of the year in which our customers have
higher volumes of credit granting decisions, most commonly the
second and third calendar quarters. Revenues in our Financial
Marketing Services business line within USIS are typically highest in
the fourth quarter each year due to the timing of certain significant
annual renewals of project-based agreements. On a consolidated
basis, combining all of these businesses, and assuming normal
economic conditions, first quarter revenue is normally the lowest
quarterly revenue of the year, and the fourth quarter is the highest.

Effects of Inflation and Changes in Foreign Currency Exchange
Rates

Equifax’s operating results are not materially affected by inflation,
although inflation may result in increases in the Company's expenses,
which may not be readily recoverable in the price of services offered.
To the extent inflation results in rising interest rates and has other
adverse effects upon the securities markets and upon the value of
financial instruments, it may adversely affect the Company's financial
position and profitability.

A portion of the Company’s business is conducted in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar, and changes in foreign exchange rates
relative to the U.S. dollar can therefore affect the value of non-U.S.
daollar net assets, revenues and expenses. Potential exposures as a
result of these fluctuations in currencies are closely monitored. We
generally do not miligate the risks associaled with fluctualing
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exchange rates, although we may from time to time through
forward contracts or other derivative instruments hedge a portion of
our translational foreign currency exposure or exchange rate risks
associated with material transactions which are denominated in a
foreign currency.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

For information about new accounting pronocuncements and
the potential impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements,
see Note 1 of the Notes to Consoclidated Financial Statements
in this report.

APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ESTIMATES

The Company's Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or
GAAP. This requires our management to make estimates and
assumplions that affect the reporled amounts of assets and liabilities,
revenues and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets
and liabilities in our Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements. The following accounting poli-
cies involve critical accounting estimates because they are particularly
dependent on estimates and assumptions made by management
about matters that are uncertain at the time the accounting estimates
are made. In addition, while we have used our best estimates based
on facts and circumstances available to us at the time, different
estimates reasonably could have been used in the current period, or
changes in the accounting estimates that we used are reasonably
likely to occur from period to period, either of which may have a
material impact on the presentation of our Consolidated Balance
Sheets and Statements of Income. We also have other significant
accounting policies which involve the use of estimates, judgments
and assumptions that are relevant to understanding our results. For
additional information about these policies, see Note 1 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements in this report. Although we
believe that our estimates, assumptions and judgments are reason
able, they are based upon information available at the time. Aclual
results may differ significantly from these estimates under different
assumptions, judgments or conditions.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, collectibility of arrangement consideration is reasonably
assured, the arrangement fees are fixed or determinable and delivery
of the product or service has been completed. A significant portion of
our revenue is derived from the provision of information services to
our customers on a transaction basis, in which case revenue is
recognized, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met,
when the services are provided. A smaller portion of our revenues
relate to subscription-based contracts under which a custcmer pays
a preset fee for a predetermined or unlimited number of transactions
or services provided during the subscription period, generally one
year. Revenue related to subscription-based contracts having a

preset number of transactions is recognized as the services are
provided, using an effective transaction rate as the actual transac-
tions are completed. Any remaining revenue related to unfulffilled units
is not recognized until the end of the related contract’s subscription
period. Revenue related to subscription-based contracts having an
unlimited volume is recognized ratably during the contract term.
Revenue is recorded net of sales taxes.

If at the outset of an arrangement, we determine that collectibility is
not reasonably assured, revenue is deferred until the earlier of when
collectibility becomes probable or the receipt of payment. If there is
uncertainty as to the customer’s acceptance of our deliverables,
revenue is not recognized until the earlier of receipt of customer
acceptance or expiration of the acceptance period. If at the outset of
an arrangement, we determine that the arrangement fee is not fixed
or determinable, revenue is deferred until the arrangement fee
becomes fixed or determinable, assuming all other revenue recogni-
tion criteria have been met.

The determination of certain of our tax management services revenue
requires the use of estimates, principally related to transaction
volumes in instances where these volumes are reported to us by our
clients on a monthly basis in arrears. In these instances, we estimate
transaction volumes based on average actual volumes reported in the
past. Differences between our estimates and actual final volumes
reported are recorded in the period in which actual volumes are
reported. We have not experienced significant variances between our
estimates and actual reported volumes in the past. We monitor actual
volumes 1o ensure thal we will continue to make reasonable
estimates in the future. If we determine that we are unable to make
reasonable future estimates, revenue may be deferred until actual
customer data is obtained. Also within our Workforce Solutions
operating segment, the fees for certain of our tax credits and incen-
tives revenue are based on a percentage of the credit delivered to our
clients. Revenue for these arrangemeants is recognized basad on the
achievement of milestones, upon calculation of the credit, or when
the credit is utilized by our client, depending on the provisions of the
client contract.

We have certain offerings that are sold as multiple element arrange-
ments. The multiple elements may include consumer or commercial
information, file updates for certain solutions, services provided by
our decisioning technologies personnel, training services, statistical
models and other services. To account for each of these elements
separately, the delivered elements must have stand-alone value to
our customer. If we are unable to unbundle the arrangement into
separate units of accounting, we apply one of the accounting policies
described above. This may lead to the arrangement consideration
being recognized as the final contract element is delivered to our
customer or ratably over the contract.

Many of our multiple element arrangements involve the delivery of
services generated by a combination of services provided by one or
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more of our operating segments. No individual information service
impacts the value or usage of other information services included in
an arrangemeant and each service can be sold alone or, in most
cases, purchased from another vendor without affecting the quality of
use or value to the customer of the other information services
included in the arrangement. Some of our products require the
development of interfaces or platforms by our decisioning technolo-
gies personnel that allow our customers to interact with our
proprietary information databases. These development services do
not meet the requirement for having stand-alone value, thus any
related development fees are deferred when billed and are
recognized over the expected period that the customer will benefit
from the related decisioning technologies service. Revenue from the
provision of statistical models is recognized as the service is provided
and accepted, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are
met. The direct costs of set up of a customer are capitalized and
amortized as a cost of service during the term of the related
customer contract.

We have some multiple element arrangements that include software.
We recognize the elements for which we have established vendor
specific objective evidence at fair value upon delivery, in accordance
with the applicable guidance.

We record revenue on a net basis for those sales in which we have in
substance acted as an agent or broker in the transaction.

The debt collections and recovery management revenue is calculated
as a percentage of debt collected on behalf of the customer and, as

such, is primarily recognized when the cash is collected assuming all
other revenue recognition criteria are met.

Deferred revenue consists of amounts billed in excess of revenue
recognized on sales relating generally to the deferral of subscription
fees and arrangement consideration from elements not meeting the
criteria for having stand-alone value discussed above. Deferred
revenues are subsequently recognized as revenue in accordance with
our revenue recognition policies.

Judgments and uncertainties — Each element of a multiple element
arrangement must be considered separately to ensure that appropri-
ate accounting is performed for these deliverables. These
considerations include assessing the price at which the element is
sold compared to its relative fair value; concluding when the element
will be delivered; evaluating collectibility; and determining whether any
contingencies exist in the related customer contract that impact the
prices paid to us for the services.

In addition, as stated above, the determination of certain of cur
marketing information services and tax management services revenue
requires the use of estimates, principally related to transaction
volumes in instances where these volumes are reported to us by our
clients on a monthly basis in arrears. In these instances, we estimate

transaction volumes based on average actual volumes reported in
the past. Differences between our estimates and actual final volumes
reported are recorded in the period in which actual volumes

are reported.

Effects if actual results differ from assumptions — We have not
experienced significant variances between our estimates of marketing
information services and tax management services revenues reported
to us by our customers and actual reported volumes in the past. We
monitor actual volumes to ensure that we will continue to make
reasonable estimates in the future. If we determine that we are unable
to make reasonable future estimates, revenue may be deferred until
actual customer data is obtained. However, if actual results are not
consistent with our estimates and assumptions, or if our customer
arrangements become more complex or include more bundled offer-
ings in the future, we may be required to recognize revenue differently
in the future to account for these changes. We do not believe there is
a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in the
future estimates or assumptions we use to recognize revenue.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

We review goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets for impair-
ment annually (as of September 30) and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be
recoverable. These events or circumstances could include a
significant change in the business climate, legal factors, operating
performance or trends, competition, or sale or disposition of a
significant portion of a reporting unit. We have eight reporting units
comprised of U.S. Information Solutions (which includes part of
Online Information Solulions, Morlgage Solutions and Financial
Marketing Services), Identity Management (part of Online Information
Solutions), Europe, Latin America, Canada, North America Personal
Solutions, Verification Services, and Employer Services.

The goodwill balance at December 31, 2014, for our eight reporting
units was as follows:

December 31,

{in millions) 2014
Online Information Solutions $1,059.5
1D Management 61.1
Europe 282.6
Latin America 238.2
Canada 411
MNorth America Personal Solutions 16.7
Verification Services 7386
Employer Senvices 169.0
Total goodwill $2,606.8
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS continued

Qualitative Assessments
We performed a qualitative assessment to determine whether further

impairment testing was necessary for our U.S. Information Solutions,
Latin America, Canada, North America Personal Solutions, Verifica-
tion Services and Employer Services reporting units. In this qualitative
assessment, we considered the following items for each of the
reporting units: macroeconomic conditions, industry and market
conditions, overall financial performance and other entity specific
events. In addition, for each of these reporting units, the most recent
fair value determination resulted in an amount that exceeded the car-
rying amount of the reporting units. Based on these assessments, we
determined the likelihood that a current fair value determination would
be less than the current carrying amount of the reporting unit is not
more likely than not. As a result of our conclusions, no further testing
was required for these reporting units.

Quantitative Assessments
In determining the fair value the ID Management and Europe report-

ing units for which we performed a quantitative test, we used a
combination of the income and market approaches to estimate the
reporting unit’s business enterprise value.

Judgments and Uncertainties
Under the income approach, we calculate the fair value of a reporting

unit based on estimated future discounted cash flows which require
assumptions about short and long-term revenue growth rates,
operating margins for each reporting unit, discount rates, foreign cur-
rency exchange rates and estimates of capital charges. The
assumptions we use are based on what we believe a hypothetical
marketplace participant would use in estimating fair value. Under the
market approach, we estimate the fair value based on market
multiples of revenue or earnings before income taxes, depreciation
and amartization, for benchmark companies. We believe the
benchmark companies used for each of the reporting units serve as
an appropriate input for calculating a fair value for the reporting unit
as those benchmark companies have similar risks, participate in
similar markets, provide similar services for their customers and
compete with us directly. The companies we use as benchmarks are
principally outlined in our “Competition” discussion in Iltem 1 of our
2014 Form 10-K. Data for the benchmark companies was obtained
from publicly available information. Europe and ID Management have
benchmark companies that conduct operations of businesses of a
similar type, such as Experian Group Limited and Fair Isaac Corpora-
tion. Valuation multiples were selected based on a financial
benchmarking analysis that compared the reporting unit’s operating
result with the comparable companies’ information. In addition to
these financial considerations, qualitalive faclors such as varialions in
growth opportunities and overall risk among the benchmark
companies were considered in the ultimate selection of the multiple.

The values separately derived from each of the income and market
approach valuation techniques were used to develop an overall
estimate of a reporting unit's fair value. We use a consistent

approach across all reporting units when considering the weight of
the income and market approaches for calculating the fair value of
each of our reporting units. This approach relies more heavily on the
calculated fair value derived from the income approach, with 70% of
the value coming from the income approach. We believe this
approach is consistent with that of a market participant in valuing
prospective purchase business combinations. The selection and
weighting of the various fair value technigques may result in a higher or
lower fair value. Judgment is applied in determining the weightings
that are most representative of fair value.

We have not made any material changes to the valuation methodol-
ogy we use to assess goodwill impairment since the date of the last
annual impairment test.

Growth Assumptions
The assumptions for our future cash flows begin with our historical

operating performance, the details of which are described in our
Management's Discussion and Analysis of operating performance.
Additionally, we consider the impact that known economic, industry
and market trends will have on our future forecasts, as well as the
impact that we expect from planned business initiatives including new
product initiatives, client service and retention standards, and cost
management programs. At the end of the forecast period, the long-
term growth rate we used to determine the terminal value of each
reporting unit was 3% based on management’s assessment of the
minimum expected terminal growth rate of the reporting unit, as well
as broader economic considerations such as GDP, inflation and the
maturity of the markets we serve.

We projected revenue growth in 2015 for our reporting units in
completing our 2014 impairment testing based on planned business
initiatives and prevailing trends exhibited by these units and not
based on the assumption of meaningful acceleration in economic
growth. The anticipated revenue growth in our reporting units,
however, is partially offset by assumed increases in expenses for a
majority of our reporting units which reflect the additional level of
investment needed in order to achieve the planned revenue growth.
Our 2015 long-term forecast is not dependent upon meaningful
acceleration of global economic growth in the near term and we
continue to take cost containment actions to help maintain operating
margins for our reporting units.

Discount Rate Assumptions
We utilize a weighted average cost of capital, or WACC, in our

impairment analysis that makes assumptions about the capital
structure that we believe a market participant would make and
include a risk premium based on an assessment of risks related to
the projected cash flows of each reporting unit. We believe this
approach yields a discount rate that is consistent with an implied rate
of return that a market participant would require for an investment in
a company having similar risks and business characteristics to the
reporting unit being assessed. To calculate the WACC, the cost of
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equity and cost of debt are multiplied by the assumed capital
structure of the reporting unit as compared to industry trends and
relevant benchmark company structures. The cost of equity was
computed using the Capital Asset Pricing Model which considers the
risk-free interest rate, beta, equity risk premium and specific company
risk premium related to a particular reporting unit. The cost of debt
was computed using a benchmark rate and the Company's tax rate.
For the 2014 annual goodwill impairment evaluation, the discount
rates used to develop the estimated fair value of the reporting units
evaluated were 10.5% and 12.5%. Because of assigned market
premiums, discount rates are lowest for reporting units, whose cash
flows are expected to be less volatile due to such factors as the
maturity of the market they serve, their position in that market or
other macroeconomic factors. Where there is the greatest volatility of
cash flows due to competition, or participation in less stable
geographic markets than the United States, such as our Europe
reporting unit, the discount rate selected is in the higher portion of the
range as there is more inherent risk in the expected cash flows of that
reporting unit.

Estimated Fair Value and Sensitivities

The estimated fair value of the reporting units whose fair value was
calculated for purposes of the 2014 impairment testing is derived
from the valuation techniques described above, incorporating the
related projections and assumptions. An indication of possible
impairment occurs when the estimated fair value of the reporting
unit is below the carrying value of its equity. The estimated fair value
for these reporting units exceeded their related carrying value as of
September 30, 2014, As a result, no goodwill impairment

was recorded.

The estimated fair value of the reporting unit is highly sensitive to
changes in these projections and assumptions; therefore, in some
instances changes in these assumptions could impact whether the
fair value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying value. For
example, an increase in the discount rate and decline in the projected
cumulative cash flow of a reporting unit could cause the fair value of
certain reporting units to be below its carrying value. We perform
sensitivity analyses around these assumptions in order to assess the
reasonableness of the assumptions and the resulting estimated fair
velues. Ultimately, future potential changes in these assumptions may
impact the estimated fair value of a reporting unit and cause the fair
value of the reporting unit to be below its carrying value. The excess
of fair value over carrying value for the Company’s reporting units that
were valued as of September 30, 2014, were 34% and 45%.

No new indicators of impairment existed during the fourth quarter of
2014, thus no impairment testing was updated as of December 31, 2014.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions — We believe that our
estimates are consistent with assumptions that marketplace

participants would use in their estimates of fair value. However, if
actual results are not consistent with our estimates and assumptions,
we may be exposed to an impairment charge that could be material.

Loss Contingencies

We are subject to various proceedings, lawsuits and claims arising in
the normal course of our business. We determine whether to disclose
and/or accrue for loss contingencies based on our assessment of
whether the potential loss is estimable, probable, reasonably possible
or remote.

Judgments and uncertainties — We periodically review claims and
legal proceedings and assess whether we have potential financial
exposure based on consultation with internal and outside legal
counsel and other advisors. If the likelihood of an adverse outcome
from any claim or legal proceeding is probable and the amount can
be reasonably estimated, we record a liability on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets for the estimated amount. If the likelihood of an
adverse oulcome is reasonably possible, but not probable, we
provide disclosures related to the potential loss contingency. Our
assumptions related to loss contingencies are inherently subjective.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions — We do not believe
there is a reasonable Ikelihood that there will be a material change
in the future estimates or assumptions we use to determine loss
contingencies. However, if facts and circumstances change in

the future that change our belief regarding assumptions used to
determine our estimates, we may be exposed to a loss that could
be material.

Income Taxes

We record deferred income taxes using enacted tax laws and rates
for the years in which the taxes are expected to be paid. We assess
the likelihood that our net deferred tax assets will be recovered from
future taxable income or other tax planning strategies. To the extent
thal we beligve thal recovery is not likely, we muslt eslablish a valua-
tion allowance to reduce the deferred tax asset to the amount we
estimate will be recoverable.

Our income tax provisions are based on assumptions and calcula-
tions which will be subject to examination by various tax authorities.
We record tax benefits for positions in which we believe are more
likely than not of being sustained under such examinations. We
assess the potential outcome of such examinations to determine the
adequacy of our income tax accruals.

Judgments and uncertainties — We consider accounting for income
taxes critical because management is required to make significant
judgments in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred
tax assets and liabilities, and our future taxable income for purposes
of assessing our ability to realize any future benefit from our deferred
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tax assets. These judgments and estimates are affected by our
expectations of future taxable income, mix of earnings among differ-
ent taxing jurisdictions, and timing of the reversal of deferred tax
assets and liabilities.

We also use our judgment to determine whether it is more likely than
not that we will sustain positions that we have taken on tax returns
and, if so, the amount of benefit to initially recognize within our
financial statements. We review our uncertain tax positions and adjust
our unrecognized tax benefits in light of changes in facts and
circumstances, such as changes in tax law, interactions with taxing
authorities and developments in case law. These adjustments to our
unrecognized tax benefits may affect our income tax expense. Settle-
ment of uncertain tax positions may require use of our cash. At
December 31, 2014, $23.3 million was recorded for uncertain tax
benefits, including interest and penalties, of which it is reasonably
possible that up to $5.4 million of our unrecognized tax benefit may
change within the next twelve months.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions — Although manage-
ment believes that the judgments and estimates discussed herein are
reasonable, actual results could differ, and we may be exposed to
increases or decreases in income tax expense that could be material.

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans

We consider accounting for our U.S. and Canadian pension and
other postretirement plans critical because management is required
to make significant subjective judgments about a number cf actuarial
assumptions, which include discount rates, expected return on plan
assets, interest cost and mortality and retirement rates. Actuarial
valuations are used in determining our benefit obligation and net
periodic benefit cost.

During 2014, the we adopted the new RP-2014 mortality tables and
generational projection scale with MP-2014 in determining the liability
for the U.S. pensions plan. This new table, along with the change in
the discount rate, contributed to the increase in the projected benefit
obligation as of December 31, 2014.

Judgments and uncertainties — We believe that the most
significant assumptions related to our net periodic benefit cost are
(1) the discount rate and (2) the expected return on plan assets, in
each case as it relates to our U.S. pension plan. Our Canadian plan
is small, and the impact of changes in assumptions for that plan is
not material.

We determine our discount rates primarily based on high-quality,
fixed-income investments and yield-to-malurity analysis specific lo
our estimated future benefit payments available as of the measure-
ment date. Discount rates are updated annually on the measurement
date to reflect current market conditions. We use a third-party yield
curve to develop our discount rates. The yield curve provides

discount rates related to a dedicated high-quality bond portfolio
whose cash flows extend beyond the current period, from which we
choose arate matched to the expected benefit payments required
for each plan.

The expected rate of return on plan assets is based on both our
historical returns and forecasted future investment returns by asset
class, as provided by our external investment advisor. In 2014, the
U.S. pension plan investment returns of 8.0% exceeded the expected
return of 7.5% for the fifth time in five years. The expected return for
2015 remains at 7.5%, which is consistent with the rate used for
2014. The CRIP earned 9.8% in 2014 also exceeding its expected
return of 6.75% for the fifth time in five years. The CRIP has a lower
expected return due to a higher asset allocation to fixed income
securities. Our weighted-average expected rate of return for both
plans for 2015 is 7.43% which was also the 2014 expected rate.

Annual differences, if any, between the expecled and aclual returns
on plan assets are included in unrecognized net actuarial gain or
loss, a component of other comprehensive income. In calculating the
annual amortization of the unrecognized net actuarial gain or loss, we
use a market-related value of assets that smoothes actual investment
gains and losses on plan assets over a period up to five years. The
resulting unrecognized net actuarial gain or loss amount is recognized
in net periodic pension expense over the average remaining life
expectancy of the participant group since almost all participants are
inactive. The market-related value of our assets was $556.4 million at
December 31, 2014. We do not expect our 2015 net periodic

benefit cosl, which includes the effect of the market-related value

of assets, to be materially different than our 2014 cost. See Note 11
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for details on
changes in the pension benefit obligation and the fair value of

plan assets.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions — We do not believe
there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in
the future estimates or assumptions that are used in our actuarial
valuations. Adjusting our weighted-average expected long-term rate
of return (7.43% at December 31, 2014) by 50 basis points would
change our estimated pension expense in 2015 by approximately
$2.8 million. Adjusting our weighted-average discount rate (4.26%
at December 31, 2014) by 50 basis points would change our
estimated pension expense in 2015 by approximately $0.7 million.
However, if actual results are not consistent with our estimates or
assumptions, we may be exposed to changes in pension expense
that could be material.

Purchase Accounting for Acquisitions

We account for acquisitions under Accounting Standards
Codification 805, Business Combinations, which changed the
application of the acquisition method of accounting in a business
combination and also modified the way assets acquired and liabilities
assumed are recognized on a prospective basis. In general, the

2014 ANNUAL REPORT 29



acquisition method of accounting requires companies to record
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their respective fair market
velues at the date of acquisition. We primarily estimate fair value of
identified intangible assets using discounted cash flow analyses
based on market participant based inputs. Any amount of the
purchase price paid that is in excess of the estimated fair values of
net assets acquired is recorded in the line item goodwill in our
consolidated balance sheets. Transaction costs, as well as costs to
reorganize acquired companies, are expensed as incurred in our
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Judgments and uncertainties — We consider accounting for business
combinations critical because management's judgment is used to
determine the estimated fair values assigned to assets acquired and
liabilities assumed and amortization periods for intangible assets,
which can materially affect the our results of operations.

Effect if aclual results differ from assumptions — Although
management believes that the judgments and estimates discussed
herein are reasonable, actual results could differ, and we may be
exposed to an impairment charge if we are unable to recover the
velue of the recorded net assets.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT
MARKET RISK
In the normal course of our business, we are exposed to market risk,

primarily from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and inter-
est rates that could impact our results of operations and financial
position. We manage our exposure to these market risks through our
regular operating and financing activities, and, when deemed
appropriate, through the use of derivative financial instruments, such
as interest rate swaps, to hedge certain of these exposures. We use
derivative financial instruments as risk management tools and not for
speculative or trading purposes.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
A substantial majority of our revenue, expense and capital

expenditure activities are transacted in U.S. dollars. However, we do
transact business in other currencies, primarily the British pound, the
Canadian dollar, the Chilean peso, the Argentine peso and the Euro.
For most of these foreign currencies, we are a net recipient, and,
therefore, benefit from a weaker U.S. dollar and are adversely
affected by a stronger U.S. dollar relative to the foreign currencies in
which we transact significant amounts of business.

We are required to translate, or express in U.S. dollars, the assets
and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries that are denominated or
measured in foreign currencies at the applicable year-end rate of
exchange on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and income state-
ment itermns of our foreign subsidiaries al the average rales prevailing
during the year. We record the resulting translation adjustment, and
gains and losses resulting from the translation of intercompany
balances of a long-term investment nature within other

comprehensive income, as a component of our sharcholders’ equity.
Foreign currency transaction gains and losses, which have historically
been immaterial, are recorded on our Consolidated Statements of
Income. We generally do not mitigate the risks associated with
fluctuating exchange raies, although we may from time to time
through forward contracts or other derivative instruments hedge a
portion of our translational foreign currency exposure or exchange
rate risks associated with material transactions which are
denominated in a foreign currency.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, a 10% weaker U.S. dollar
against the currencies of all foreign countries in which we had opera-
tions during 2013 would have increased our revenue by $54.0 million
and our pre-tax operating profit by $18.1 million. For the year ended
December 31, 2013, a 10% weaker U.S. dollar against the currencies
of all foreign countries in which we had operations during 2013 would
have increased our revenue by $52.0 million and our pre-tax
operating profit by $17.4 million. A 10% stronger U.S. dollar would
have resulted in similar decreases to our revenue and pre-tax operat-
ing profit for 2014 and 2013.

On average across our mix of international businesses, foreign cur-
rencies at December 31, 2014, were weaker against the U.S. dollar
than the average foreign exchange rates that prevailed across the full
year 2013. As a result, if foreign exchange rates were unchanged
throughout 2014, foreign exchange translation would reduce growth
as reported in U.S. dollars. As foreign exchange rates change daily,
there can be no assurance that foreign exchange rates will remain
conslant throughout 2014, and rales could go eilher higher or lower.

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates to
our variable-rate commercial paper borrowings. We attempt to
achieve the lowest all-in weighted-average cost of debt while
simultaneously taking into account the mix of our fixed- and floating-
rate debt, and the average life and scheduled maturities of our debt.
At December 31, 2014, our weighted average cost of debt was 4.3%
and weighted-average life of debt was 7.9 years. At December 31,
2014, 75% of our debt was fixed rate, and the remaining 25% was
variable rate. Occasionally we use derivatives to manage our
exposure to changes in interest rates by entering into interest rate
swaps. A 100 basis point increase in the weighted-average interest
rate on our variable-rate debt would have increased our 2014 interest
expense by $3.8 million.

Based on the amount of outstanding variable-rate debt, we have
exposure to interest rate risk. In the future, if our mix of fixed-rate and
variable-rate debt were to change due to additional borrowings under
existing or new variable-rate debt, we could have additional exposure
to interest rate risk. The nature and amount of our long-term and
short-term debt, as well as the proportionate amount of fixed-rate
and variable-rate debt, can be expected to vary as a result of future
business requirements, market conditions and other factors.
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Equifax is responsible for eslablishing and maintain-
ing adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Equifax’s
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accerdance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes those writ-
ten policies and procedures that:

¢ Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detall,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of Equifax;

¢ Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necassary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles;

e Provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures of
Equifax are being made only in accordance with authorization of
management and the Board of Directors of Equifax; and

¢ Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of
assets that could have a material effect on the consclidated
financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting includes the controls
themselves, monitoring and internal auditing practices, and actions
taken to correct deficiencies as identified.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements. Also, projec-
tions of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed lhe effecliveness of Equifax’s internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, Management
based this assessment on criteria for effective internal contral over
financial reporting described in “‘Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Crganizations
of the Treadway Commission (2013 Framework”). Management's
assessment included an evaluation of the design of Equifax’s internal
control over financial reporting and testing of the operational effective-
ness of its internal control over financial reporting. Management
reviewed the results of its assessment with the Audit Committee of its
Board of Directors. On January 14, 2014, the Company acquired
TDX Group, a data, technology and services company in the United
Kingdom that specializes in debt collections and recovery manage-
ment. Refer to Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information regarding this event.

Management has excluded this business from its evaluation of

the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2014. The acquisition represented
approximately $326.1 million and $243.3 million of our consolidated
total assets and net assets, respectively, as of December 31, 2014
and an immaterial amount of operating revenue and net income for
the year then ended. Thera were no other acquisitions completed
during 2014 that were material to the 2014 consolidated

financial statements.

Based on this assessment, management determined that, as of
December 31, 2014, Equifax maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting. Ernst & Young LLP, the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm, has issued an audit report on the
Company’'s internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2014,
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Equifax Inc.:

We have audited Equifax Inc.’s (“Equifax’” or “the Company’)
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO
criteria), Equifax’s management is responsible for maintaining effec-
tive internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included
in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on

our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control cver
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included cbtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reascnable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, management's assessment of and
conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting did not include the internal controls of TDX Group, which is
included in the 2014 consolidated financial statements of Equifax Inc.
and constituted $326.1 million and $243.3 million of total and net
assets, respectively as of December 31, 2014 and an immaterial
amount of operating revenue and net income for the year then
ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Equifax
Inc. also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over
financial reporting of TDX Group.

In our opinion, Eguifax Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effec-
tive internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consclidated balance sheets of Equifax, Inc. as of December 31,
2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of income,
comprehensive income, cash flows, and shareholders’ equity and
other comprehensive income for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2014, of Equifax Inc. and our report dated
February 25, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

St ¥

Atlanta, Georgia
February 25, 2015

LLP
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Direclors and Shareholders of Equifax Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
Equifax Inc. as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related
consolidated statements cf income, comprehensive income, cash
flows, and shareholders’ equity and other comprehensive income for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014, Our
audits also included the financial statement schedule - Valuation and
Qualifying Accounts on page 70. These financial statements and
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial staterments. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of

Equifax Inc. at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the
related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to
the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all
material respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Puklic
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Equifax Inc.'s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (2013 framework'’) and our report dated
February 25, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

St ¥ MLLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 25, 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

(In millions, except per share amounts) 2014 2013 2012
Operating revenue $2,436.4 $2,303.9 $2,073.0
Operating expenses:
Cost of senvices (exclusive of depreciation and amortization below) 844.7 787.3 759.5
Selling, general and administrative expenses 751.7 715.8 673.5
Depreciation and amortization 201.8 189.6 160.0
Total operating expenses 1,798.2 1,692.7 1,593.0
Operating income 638.2 611.2 480.0
Interest expense (68.6) (70.2) (55.4)
Other income (expense), net 4.6 (10.6) 6.7
Consolidated income from continuing operations before income taxes 574.2 530.4 431.3
Provision for income taxes (200.2) (188.9) (156.0)
Consolidated income from continuing operations 374.0 3415 275.3
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax - 18.4 55
Consolidated net income 374.0 359.9 280.8
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (6.6) 8.1) (8.7)
Net income attributable to Equifax $ 367.4 $ 351.8 $ 2721
Amounts attributable to Equifax:
Net income from continuing operations attributable to Equifax $ 367.4 § 3334 $ 266.6
Discontinued operations, net of tax - 18.4 5.5
Net income alttributable to Equifax $ 367.4 $ 351.8 $ 2721
Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations attributable to Equifax $ 3.03 § 275 $ 222
Discontinued operations — 0.15 0.05
Net income attributable to Equifax $ 3.03 $ 290 $ 227
Weighted-average shares used in computing basic earnings per share 121.2 121.2 119.9
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operalions attributable to Equifax $ 297 $ 2.69 $ 218
Discontinued operations - 0.15 0.04
Net income altlributable to Equifax $ 297 § 284 $ 222
Weighted-average shares used in computing diluted earnings per share 123.5 123.7 122.5
Dividends per common share $ 1.00 $ 0.88 $ 072

See Notes to Consolidaled Financial Staternents.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Twelve Months Ended Decemnber 31,

2014 2013 20z
Equifax  Nencontroling Equifax  Noncontroling Equifax  Nencaontroling
{in millions) Shareholders Interests Total  Shareholders Interests Totel  Shareholders Interests Total
Met income S367.4 $6.6 $374.0 $351.8 $8.1 $359.9 $272.1 $87 $280.8
Other comprehensive incomsa:
Foreign currency translation adjustment (61.8) (2.8) (64.6) (24.9) 2.9) (27.8) 5.7 0.3) 5.4
Change in unrecognized prior service cost
and actuarial gains (lcsses) related to
our pension and other postretirement
benefit plans, net (61.1) - (61.1) 4.2 - 74.2 239 - 239
Change in cumulative loss from cash flow
hedging transactions 01 - 0.1 01 - Q.1 0.2 - 0.2
Comprehensive income $244.6 $3.8 $248.4 $401.2 $52 $406.4 $301.9 584 $3103

See Notes to Consoclidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

(In millions, except par values) 2014 2013
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1283 $ 2359
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $7.2 and $6.8 at December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively 337.2 309.7
Prepaid expenses 35.7 34.5
Other current assets 103.9 68.3
Total current assets 605.1 648.4
Property and equipment:
Capitalized internal-use software and system costs 257.3 388.0
Data processing equipment and furmiture 203.3 188.0
Land, buildings and improvements 194.8 1852
Total property and equipment 655.4 761.2
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (354.8) (472.3)
Total property and equipment, net 300.6 288.9
Goodwill 2,606.8 2,395.1
Indefinite-lived intangible assets 95.2 955
Purchased intangible assets, net 953.9 a73.2
Other assets, net 112.6 138.8
Total assets $4,674.2 $ 4,539.9

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Short-term debt and current maturities $ 380.4 $ 29865
Accounts payable 20.3 19.9
Accrued expenses 85.5 95.4
Accrued salaries and bonuses 101.9 90.2
Deferred revenue 73.4 61.8
Other current liabilities 161.6 98.7
Total current liakilities 8231 662.5
Long-term debt 1,145.7 1,145.5
Deferred income lax liabilities, net 241.5 263.7
Long-term pension and other postretirement benefit liabilities 173.0 72.4
Other long-term liabilities 56.3 54.8
Total liabilities 2,439.6 2,198.9

Commitments and Contingencies (see Note 7)

Equifax shareholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value: Authorized shares — 10.0; Issued shares — none — -
Common stock, $1.25 par value: Authorized shares — 300.0; Issued shares — 189.3 at December 31, 2014 and

2013; Outstanding shares — 119.4 and 121.9 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively 236.6 236.6
Paid-in capital 1,201.7 1,174.6
Retained eamings 3,554.8 3,300.2
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (435.4) (312.8)
Treasury stock, at cost, 69.3 shares and 66.8 shares at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively (2,351.7) (2,101.2)
Stock held by employee benefits trusts, at cost, 0.6 shares at December 31, 2014 and 2013 (5.9) (5.9

Total Equifax shareholders’ equity 2,200.1 2,300.7

Noncontrolling interests 345 40.3
Total equity 2,234.6 2,341.0
Total liabilties and equity $4,674.2 $4,539.9

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Twelve Months Ended

December 31,
(I millions) 2014 2013 2012
Operating activities:
Consolidated net income $374.0 $359.9 $ 2808
Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Gain on divestitures - (19.0) —
Impairment of cost method investment - 17.0 —
Depreciation and amortization 204.2 190.3 163.4
Stock-based compensation expense 38.1 322 28.0
Excess lax benefils from slock-based compensation plans (17.7) (14.6) (1.7)
Deferred income taxes (9.6) 9.7) (26.5)
Pension settlement charge - — 38.7
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable, net (27.8) (2.4) (17.2)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (5.2) 4.2) (22.5)
Other assets (0.6) 71 4.0)
Current liabllities, excluding debt 54.3 21 53.3
Other long-term liabilities, excluding debt 6.5 10.3 4.0
Cash provided by operating activities 616.2 569.0 496.3
Investing activities:
Capital expenditures (86.4) (83.3) (66.0)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (341.0) (91.4) (1,016.4)
Cash received from divestitures 0.6 47.5 25
Investment in unconsoclidated affiliates, net (2.5) ©.1) (38.7)
Cash used in investing activities (429.3) (136.3) (1,083.8)
Financing activities:
Net short-term borrowings (repayments) 379.9 (267.3) 234.1
Payments on long-term debt (290.0) (15.0) (15.2)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt - - 499.2
Treasury stock purchases (301.6) (11.9) 85.1)
Dividends paid to Equifax shareholders (121.2) (106.7) (86.0)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (7.9) (10.5) (4.8)
FProceeds from exercise of stock options 39.7 47.8 68.3
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation plans 17.7 14.6 1.7
Contributions from noncontrolling interasts — 16.7 -
Other — 0.8) (5.9)
Cash (used in) provided by financing activities (283.4) (333.1) 606.3
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (11.1) (10.5) 0.1
(Decrease) Increase in cash and cash equivalents (107.6) 89.1 19.1
Cash and cash eguivalents, beginning of period 235.9 146.8 127.7
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $128.3 $235.9 $ 146.8

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Staterments.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Equifax Shareholders
Common Stock Accurmulated
Other Stock Held By Total
Shares Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Treasury Employee Moncontroling  Shareholders'
{In millions, except per share values) QOutstanding Amount Capital Earnings Loss Stock  Benefits Trusts Interests Equity
Balance, December 31, 2011 119.6 $236.6 $1,118.0 $2,879.2 $(391.8) $(2,133.7) $(5.9) $19.7 $1,722.1
Net income - - - 272.1 - - - 8.7 280.8
Other comprehensive income (loss) - - - - 298 - - 0.3) 2985
Shares issued under stock and benefit plans,
net of minimum tax withholdings 2.7 - (16.6) - — 791 - - 62.5
Treasury stock purchased under share
repurchase program ($45.73 per share)* (1.9) — - - . (85.1) - - (85.1)
Cash dividends ($0.72 per share) - - — (86.7) — - - - 86.7)
Dividends paid to employee benefits trusts — — 0.7 - — — - - 0.7
Stock-based compensation expense — — 28.0 - — — - - 28.0
Tax effects of stock-based compensation
plans - - 9.5 - - - - - 9.5
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests — — - - - - - 4.8) 4.8)
Other - - - - - - - 2.7 2.7
Balance, December 31, 2012 120.4 236.6 1,139.6 3,064.6 (362.0)  (2,139.7) 5.9) 26.0 1,969.2
Net income - - - 351.8 - - - 8.1 359.9
Other comprehensive income (loss) - - - - 49.4 - - 2.9 46.5
Shares issued under stock and benefit plans,
net of minimum tax withholdings 1.7 - (12.3) - - 50.4 - - 38.1
Treasury stock purchased under share
repurchase program ($59.74 per share)” 0.2) — - - — (11.9) - - (11.9)
Cash dividends ($0.88 per share) - - - (107.2) - - - - (107.2)
Dividends paid to employee benefits trusts - - 0.5 - - - - - Q0.5
Stock-based compensation expense - - 32.2 - - - - - 32.2
Tax effects of stock-based compensation
plans - - 14.6 - - - - - 14.6
Dividends paid to noncentrolling interests - - - - - - - (10.5) (10.5)
Caontributions from noncontrolling interests - - - - - - - 16.7 16.7
Other - - - - - - - 2.9 2.9
Balance, December 31, 2013 121.9 236.6 1,174.6 3,300.2 (312.8) (2,101.2) 59) 40.3 2,341.0
Net income - - - 367.4 - - - 6.6 374.0
Other comprehensive income (loss) - - - - (122.8) - - (2.8) (125.6)
Shares issued under stock and benefit
plans, net of minimum tax withholdings 1.4 — (12.8) — — 39.7 — — 26.9
Treasury stock purchased under share
repurchase program ($76.55 per share)* (3.9) - - - - (290.2) - - (290.2)
Cash dividends ($1.00 per share) - - - (121.8) - - - - (121.8)
Dividends paid to employee benefits
trusts - - 0.6 - - - - - 0.6
Stock-based compensation expense - - 381 - - - - - 38.1
Tax effects of stock-based compensation
plans - - 17.7 - - - - - 17.7
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests - - - - - - - (7.9) (7.9)
Purchases of noncontrolling interests - - (5.0) — - - - (2.4) (7.4)
Other™ - - (11.5) - - - - 0.7 (10.8)
Balance, December 31, 2014 119.4 $236.6 $1,201.7 $3,554.8 $(435.4) $(2,351.7) $(5.9) $34.5 $2,234.6

N At December 31, 2014, $313.5 million was authonzed for future repurchases of our common stock,
b At December 31, 2014, the paid-in capital includes the $11.5 million holdback related to the accelerated share repurchase program discussad fn Note 1.

See MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME continued

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss consists of the following components:

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Foreign currency translation $(170.3) $(108.5) $ (83.6)
Unrecognized actuarial losses and prior service cost related to our pension and other pos-

tretirement benefit plans net of accumulated tax of $150.1, $115.3 and $159.3 in 2014,

2013 and 2012, respectively (263.3) (202.2) (276.4)
Cash flow hedging fransactions, net of tax of $1.1, $1.2 and $1.3in 2014, 2013 and 2012,

respectively (1.8) (1.9 (2.0)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (435.4) 5(312.6) $362.0

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Staternents.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 = SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

As used herein, the terms Equifax, the Company, we, our and us
refer to Equifax Inc., a Georgia corporation, and its consolidated
subsidiaries as a combined entity, except where it is clear that the
terms mean only Equifax Inc.

Nature of Operations. We collect, organize and manage various types
of financial, demographic, employment and marketing information. Our
products and services enable businesses to make credit and service
decisions, manage their portfolio risk, automate or outsource certain
payroll-related, tax and human resources business processes, and
develop marketing strategies concerning consumers and commercial
enterprises. We serve customers across a wide range of industries,
including the financial services, mortgage, retail, telecommunications,
utilities, automotive, brokerage, healthcare and insurance indusiries, as
well as government agencies. We also enable consumers to manage
and protect their financial health through a portfolio of products offered
directly to consumers. As of December 31, 2014, we operated in the
following countries: Argentina, Canada, Chile, Costa Rica, Ecuador,

El Salvador, Honduras, Mexico, Paraguay, Peru, Portugal, Spain, the
United Kingdom, or U.K., Uruguay, and the United States of America,
or U.S. We also maintain support operations in the Republic of Ireland.
We have an investment in a consumer and commercial credit informa-
tion company in Brazil and offer consumer credit services in India and
Russia through joint ventures.

We develop, maintain and enhance secured proprietary information
databases through the compilation of actual consumer data, includ-
ing credit, employment, asset, liquidity, net worth and spending
activity, and business data, including credit and business
demographics, that we obtain from a variety of sources, such as
credit granting institutions, public record information (including
bankruptcies, liens and judgments), income and tax information
primarily from large to mid-sized companies in the U.S., and survey-
based marketing information. We process this information utilizing our
proprietary information management systems. Beginning in 2014, we
also provide information, technology and services to support debt
collections and recovery management.

Basis of Consolidation. Our Consolidated Financial Statements and
the accompanying notes, which are prepared in accordance with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, include
Equifax and all its subsidiaries. We consolidate all majority-owned
and controlled subsidiaries as well as variable interest enlities in
which we are the primary beneficiary. Other parties’ interests in
consolidated entities are reported as noncentrolling interests. We use
the equity method of accounting for investments in which we are able
to exercise significant influence and use the cost method for all other
investments. All significant intercompany transactions and balances
are eliminated.

Our Consolidated Financial Statemnents reflect all adjustiments which
are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation
of the periods presented therein. Certain prior year amounts have
been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. The effect
of these reclassifications is not material.

Segments. We manage our business and report our financial results
through the following four reportable segments, which are our operat-
ing segments:

+ U.S. Information Solutions, or USIS

¢ International

* Workforce Solutions

+ North America Personal Sclutions

USIS is our largest reportable segment, with 45% of total operating
revenue for 2014. Our most significant foreign operations are located
in Canada and the U.K,

Use of Estimates. The preparation of our Consolidated Financial
Staternents requires us to make estimates and assumptions in
accordance with GAAP. Accordingly, we make these estimates and
assumptions after exercising judgment. We believe that the estimates
and assumptions inherent in our Consolidated Financial Statements
are reasonable, based upon information available to us at the time
they are made including the consideration of events that have
occurred up until the point these Consolidated Financial Statements
have been filed. These estimates and assumptions affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial staterments, as well as reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
materially from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue. Revenue is
recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, col-
lectibility of arrangement consideration is reasonably assured, the
arrangement fees are fixed or determinable and delivery of the
product or service has been completed. A significant portion of our
revenue is derived from the provision of information services to our
customers on a transaction basis, in which case revenue is
recognized, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met,
when the services are provided. A smaller portion of our revenues
relates to subscription-based contracts under which a customer pays
a preset fee for a predetermined or unlimited number of transactions
or services provided during the subscription period, generally one
year. Revenue related to subscription-based contracts having a
preset number of transactions is recognized as the services are
provided, using an effective transaction rate as the actual transac-
tions are completed. Any remaining revenue related to unfulfilled units
is not recognized until the end of the related contract’s subscription
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

period. Revenue related to subscription-based contracts having an
unlimited volume is recognized ratably during the contract term.
Revenue is recorded net of sales taxes.

If at the outset of an arrangement, we determing that collectibility is
not reasonably assured, revenue is deferred until the earlier of when
collectibility becomes probable or the receipt of payment. If there is
uncertainty as to the customer's acceptance of our deliverables,
revenue is not recognized until the earlier of receipt of customer
acceptance or expiration of the acceptance period. If at the outset of
an arrangement, we determine that the arrangement fee is not fixed
or determinable, revenue is deferred until the arrangement fee
becomes fixed or determinable, assuming all other revenue recogni-
tion criteria have been met.

The determination of certain of our tax management services revenue
requires the use of estimates, principally related to transaction
volumes in instances where these volumes are reported to us by our
clients on a monthly basis in arrears. In these instances, we estimate
transaction volumes based on average actual volumes reported in the
past. Differences between our estimates and actual final volumes
reported are recorded in the period in which actual volumes are
reported. We have not experienced significant variances between our
estimates and actual reported valumeas in the past. We monitor actual
volumes to ensure that we will continue to make reasonable
estimates in the future. If we determine that we are unable to make
reasonable future estimates, revenue may be deferred until actual
customer data is obtained. Also within our Workforce Scolutions
operaling segment, the fees for certain of our lax credils and incen-
tives revenue are based on a portion of the credit delivered to our
clients. Revenue for these arrangements is recognized based on the
achievement of milestones, upon calculation of the credit, or when
the credit is utilized by our client, depending on the provisions of the
client contract.

We have certain offerings that are sold as multiple element arrange-
ments. The multiple elements may include consumer or commercial
information, file updates for certain solutions, services provided by
our decisioning technologies personnel, training services, statistical
models and other senvices. To account for each of these elements
separately, the delivered elements must have stand-alone value to
our customer. For certain customer contracts, the total arrangement
fee is allocated to the undelivered elements. If we are unable to
unbundle the arrangement into separate units of accounting, we
apply one of the accounting policies described above. This may lead
to the arrangement consideration being recognized as the final
contract element is delivered to our customer or ratably over the
contract.

Many of our multiple element arrangements involve the delivery of
services generated by a combination of services provided by one or
more of our operating segments. No individual information service
impacts the value or usage of other information services included in

an arrangement and each service can be sold alone or, in most
cases, purchased from another vendor without affecting the guality of
use or value to the customer of the other information services
included in the arrangement. Some of our products reguire the
development of interfaces or platforms by our decisioning technolo-
gies personnel that allow our customers to interact with our
proprietary information databases. These development services do
not meet the requirement for having stand-alone value, thus any
related development fees are deferred when billed and are
recognized over the expected period that the customer will benefit
from the related decisioning technclogies service. Revenue from the
provision of statistical models is recognized as the service is provided
and accepted, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are
met. The direct costs of set up of a customer are capitalized and
amortized as a cost of service during the term of the related
customer contract.

We have some multiple element arrangements that include software.
We recognize the elements for which we have established vendor
specific objective evidence at fair value upon delivery, in accordance
with the applicable guidance.

We record revenue on a net basis for those sales in which we have in
substance acted as an agent or broker in the transaction.

The debt collections and recovery management revenue is calculated
as a percentage of debt collected on behalf of the customer and, as
such, is primarily recognized when the cash is collected assuming all
other revenue recognition criteria are met.

Deferred revenue consists of amounts billed in excess of revenue
recognized on sales of our information services relating generally to
the deferral of subscription fees and arrangement consideration from
elements not meeting the criteria for having stand-alone value
discussed above. Deferred revenues are subsequently recognized as
revenue in accordance with our revenue recognition policies.

Cost of Services. Cost of services consist primarily of (1) data
acquisition and royalty fees; (2) customer service costs, which
include: personnel costs to collect, maintain and update our
proprietary databases, to develop and maintain software application
platforms and to provide consumer and customer call center support;
(3) hardware and software expense associated with transaction
processing systems; (4) telecormmunication and computer network
expense; and (5) occupancy costs associated with facilities where
these functions are performed by Equifax employees.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general
and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related
costs, restructuring costs, corporate costs, fees for professional
and consuliing services, advertising costs, and other costs

of administration.
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Advertising. Advertising costs from continuing operaticns, which are
expensed as incurred, totaled $57.1 million, $57.5 million and
$48.7 million during 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation. We recognize the cost of stock-based
payment transactions in the financial statements over the period
services are rendered according to the fair value of the stock-based
awards issued. All of our stock-based awards, which are stock
options and nonvested stock, are classified as equity instruments.

Income Taxes. We account for income taxes under the liability
method. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on the astimated future tax effects of temporary differences
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and
liabilities, as measured by current enacted tax rates. We assess
whether it is more likely than not that we will generate sufficient tax-
able income to realize our deferred tax assets. We record a valuation
allowance, as necessary, lo reduce our deferred lax assels lo the
amount of future tax benefit that we estimate is more likely than not
to be realized.

We record tax benefits for positions that we believe are more likely
than not of being sustained under audit examinations. We assess the
potential outcome of such examinations to determine the adequacy
of our income tax accruals. We recognize interest and penalties
accrued related o unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for
income taxes on our Consolidated Statements of Income. We adjust
our income tax provision during the period in which we determine
that the actual results of the examinations may differ from our
estimates or when statutory terms expire. Changes in tax laws and
rates are reflected in our income tax provision in the period in which
they occur.

Earnings Per Share. Cur basic eamings per share, or EPS, is
calculated as net income divided by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted EPS
is calculated to reflect the potential dilution that would occur if stock
options or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised
and resulted in additional common shares outstanding. The net
income amounts used in both our basic and diluted EPS calculations
are the same. A reconciliation of the weighted-average outstanding
shares used in the two calculations is as follows:

Twelve Months Ended

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Weighted-average shares outstanding

(basic) 121.2 1212 1199
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options and restricted stock

units 2.3 2.5 2.6

Weighted-average shares outstanding

(diluted) 12356 123.7 122.5

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
0.1 million, 0.1 million and 0.1 million stock options, respectively,
were anti-dilutive and therefore excluded from this calculation.

Accelerated Share Repurchase Program. On Ociober 24, 2014,
we entered into an accelerated share repurchase (“ASR'') program to
repurchase shares of our common stock under our approved share
repurchase program. Under the ASR program, the number of shares
to be repurchased is based generally on the daily volume weighted
average price of our common stock during the term of the ASR
program. On October 24, 2014, we paid $115 million in exchange for
an initial delivery of 1.4 million shares to us, subject to a 10%, or
$11.5 million, holdback. The maximum number of shares to be
received or delivered under the contracts is 3.2 million.

The ASR program is accounted for as an initial treasury stock
transaction and a forward stock purchase contract. The initial
repurchase of shares resulled in an immediate reduction of the
outstanding shares used to calculate the weighted-average common
shares outstanding for basic and diluted net income per share on the
effective date of the agreement. The forward stock purchase
contracts are classified as equity instruments under ASC 815-40 for
“Contracts in Entity’'s Own Equity,”” and were deemed to have a fair
value of zero at the effective date. On February 4, 2015, we settled
the ASR and received approximately 0.02 million shares.

Cash Equivalents. We consider all highly-liquid investments with an
original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Trade Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful
Accounts. We do not recognize interest income on our trade
accounts receivable. Additionally, we generally do not require col-
lateral from our customers related to our trade accounts receivable.

The allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses on trade
accounts receivable is based on historical write-off experience, an
analysis of the aging of outstanding receivables, customer payment
patterns and the establishment of specific reserves for customers in
an adverse financial condition. We reassess the adequacy cf the
allowance for doubtful accounts each reporting period. Increases to
the allowance for doubtful accounts are recorded as bad debt
expense, which are included in selling, general and administrative
expenses on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.
Bad debt expense from continuing operations was $2.5 million,
$2.8 million and $2.1 million during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

Other Current Assets. Other current assets on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets primarily represent amounts in specifically designated
accounts that hold the funds that are due to customers from our debt
collection and recovery management services. As of December 31,
2014, these assets were approximately $50.8 million, with fully
offsetting balance in other current liabilities. Thase amounts are
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

restricted as to their current use, and will be released according to
the specific customer agreements. There were no such restricted
balances included in other current assets as of December 31, 2013.
Other current assets also include receivables related to life insurance
policies covering certain officers of the Company, as well as certain
current tax accounts.

Long-Lived Assets. Property and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and amortization. The cost of additions is
capitalized. Property and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives, which are generally
three to ten years for data processing equipment and capitalized
internal-use software and systems costs. Leasehold improvements
are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or
lease terms that are reasonably assured. Buildings are depreciated
over a forty-year period. Other fixed assets are depreciated over three
to seven years. Upon sale or retirement of an asset, the related costs
and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and
any gain or loss is recognized and included in income from opera-
tions on the Consolidated Statements of Income, with the
classification of any gain or loss dependent on the characteristics of
the asset sold or retired.

Certain internal-use software and system development costs are
capitalized. Accordingly, the specifically identified costs incurred to
develop or obtain software, which is intended for internal use are not
capitalized uniil the determination is made as to the availability of a
technically feasible solution to solve the predefined user and operat-
ing performance requirements as eslablished during the preliminary
stage of an internal-use software development project. Costs
incurred during a software development project’s preliminary stage
and post-implementation stage are expensad as incurred. Application
development activities that are eligible for capitalization include
software design and configuration, development of interfaces, coding,
testing, and installation. Capitalized internal-use software and
systems costs are subsequently amortized on a straight-line basis
over a three- to ten-year period after project completion and when
the related software or system is ready for its intended use.

Depreciation and amortization expense from continuing operations
related to property and equipment was $71.7 million, $71.2 million
and $73.9 million during the twelve months ended December 31,
2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

Industrial Revenue Bonds. Pursuant to the terms of certain industrial
revenue bonds, we have transferred title to certain of our fixed assets
with total costs of $92.3 million and $82.6 million as of December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively, to a local governmental authority in the
U.S. to receive a property tax abatement related to economic
development. The title to these assets will revert back to us upon
retirement or cancellation of the applicable bonds. These fixed assets
are still recognized in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets
as all risks and rewards remain with the Company.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. We monitor the status of our long-
lived assets in order to determine if conditions exist or events and
circumstances indicate that an asset group may be impaired in that
its carrying amount may not be recoverable. Significant factors that
are considered that could be indicative of an impairment include:
changes in business strategy, market conditions or the manner in
which an asset group is used; underperformance relative to historical
or expected future operating results; and negative industry or
economic trends. If potential indicators of impairment exist, we
estimate recoverability based on the asset group’s ability to generate
cash flows greater than the carrying value of the asset group. We
estimate the undiscounted future cash flows arising from the use and
eventual disposition of the related long-lived asset group. If the carry-
ing value of the long-lived asset group exceeds the estimated future
undiscounted cash flows, an impairment loss is recorded based on
the amount by which the asset group's carrying amount exceeds its
fair value. We utilize estimates of discounted future cash flows to
determine the asset group’s fair value. We did not record any impair-
ment losses of long-lived assets in any of the periods presented.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets. Goodwill
represents the cost in excess of the fair value of the net assets of
acquired businesses. Goodwill is not amortized. We are required to
test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level on an annual
basis and on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances
change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a
reporting unit below its carrying value. We perform our annual
goodwill impairment test as of September 30 each year.

In September 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update,
Intangibles — Gooadwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Goodwill for
Impairment (the revised standard). The revised standard is intended
to reduce the cost and complexity of the annual goodwill impairment
test by providing entities an option to perform a “‘qualitative” assess-
ment to determine whether further impairment testing is necessary. If
an entity believes, as a result of its qualitative assessment, that it is
more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than
its carrying amount, the quantitative impairment test is required.
Otherwise, no further testing is required. For reporting units that we
determine meet these criteria, we perform a qualitative assessment.
In this qualitative assessment, we consider the following items for
each of the reperting units: macroeconomic conditions, industry and
market conditions, overall financial performance and other entity
specific events. In addition, for each of these reporting units, the
most recent fair value determination results in an amount that
significantly exceeds the carrying amount of the reporting units.
Based on these assessments, we determine whether the likelihood
that a current fair value determination would be less than the current
carrying amount of the reporting unit is not more likely than not. If it is
determined it is not more likely than not, no further testing is required.
If further testing is required, we continue with the quantitative
impairment test.
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In analyzing goodwill for potential impairment in the quantitative
impairment test, we use a combination of the income and market
approaches to estimate the reporting unit’s fair value. Under the
income approach, we calculate the fair value of a reporting unit based
on eslimated future discounted cash flows. The assumptions we use
are based on what we believe a hypothetical marketplace participant
would use in estimating fair value. Under the market approach, we
estimate the fair value based on market multiples of revenue or earn-
ings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amcrtization for
benchmark companies. If the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its
carrying value, then no further testing is required. However, if a
reporting unit’s fair value were to be less than its carrying value, we
would then determinge the amount of the impairment charge, if any,
which would be the amount that the carrying value of the reporting
unit's goodwill exceeded its implied value.

Indefinite-lived reacquired rights represent the value of rights which
we had granted to various affiliate credit reporting agencies that were
reacquired in the U.S. and Canada. A portion of our reacquired rights
are perpetual in nature and, therefore, the useful lives are considered
indefinite in accordance with the accounting guidance in place at the
time of the acquisitions. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not
amortized. We are required to test indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impairment annually and whenever events and circumstances
indicate that there may be an impairment of the asset value. Cur
annual impairment test date is September 30. We perfcrm the impair-
ment test for our indefinite-lived intangible assets by first assessing
qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform a
quantitative impairment test. If the qualitative assessment indicates
that we need to perform a quantitative impairment test, we compare
the asset's fair value to its carrying value. We estimate the fair value
based on projected discounted future cash flows. An impairment
charge is recognized if the asset's estimated fair value is less than its
carrying value.

We completed our annual impairment testing for goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, and we determined that there
was no impairment in any of these years.

Purchased Intangible Assets. Purchased intangible assets
represent the estimated fair value of acquired intangible assets used
in our business. Purchased data files represent the estimated fair
value of consumer credit files acquired primarily through the purchase
of independent credit reporting agencies in the U.S. and Canada. We
expense the cost of modifying and updating credit files in the period
such costs are incurred. We amortize purchased data files, which
primarily consist of acquired credit files, on a straight-line basis. All of
our other purchased intangible assets are also amortized on a
straight-line basis.

Useful Life
Asset {In years)
Purchased data files 21015
Acquired software and technology 11010
Non-compete agreements 1t0 10
Proprietary database 6to 10
Customer relationships 21025
Trade names 5to 16

Reacquired rights represent the value of rights which we had
granted to Computer Sciences Corporation that were reacquired in
connection with the acquisition of CSC Credit Services in the fourth
quarter of 2012 based on the accounting guidance in place at that
time. These reacquired rights are being amortized over the remaining
term of the affiliation agreement on a straight-line basis until

August 1, 2018.

Other Assets. Other assels on our Consolidated Balance Sheets
primarily represents our investment in unconsolidated affiliates, our
cost method investment in Boa Vista Servicos (“BVS"), interest rate
swaps, assets related to life insurance policies covering certain offic-
ers of the Company, and employee benefit trust assets.

Impairment of Cost Method Investment. We monitor the status of our
cost method investment in order to determine if conditions exist or
events and circumstances indicate that it may be impaired in that its
carrying amount may exceed the fair value of the investment.
Significant factors that are considered that could be indicative of an
impairment include: changes in business strategy, market conditions,
underperformance relative to historical or expected future operating
results; and negative industry or economic trends. If potential indicators
of impairment exist, we estimate the fair value of the investment using a
combination of a discounted cash flow analysis and an evaluation of
EBITDA and transaction multiples for comparable companies. If the
carrying value of the investment exceeds the estimated fair value, an
impairment loss is recorded based on the amount by which the
investment's carrying amount exceeds its fair value. There were no
indicators of impairment for 2014. We recorded an impairment of our
cost method investment in 2013, See Note 2 for further discussion.

Other Current Liabilities. Other current liabilities on our
Consclidated Balance Sheets consist of the offset to other current
assets, related to amounts in specifically designated accounts that
hold the funds that are due to customers from our debt collection
and recovery management services. As of December 31, 2014, these
funds were approximately $50.8 million. These amounts are restricted
as to their current use, and will be released according to the specific
customer agreements. There were no such restricted balances
included in other current liabilities as of December 31, 2013. Other
current liabilities also include various accrued expenses such as inter-
est expense, accrued employee benefits, accrued taxes, accrued
payroll, and accrued legal expenses.
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Benefit Plans. We sponsor various pension and defined contrioution
plans. We also maintain certain healthcare and life insurance benefit
plans for eligible retired U.S. employees. Benefits under the pension
and other postretirement benefit plans are generally based on age at
retirement and years of service and for some pension plans, benefits
are also based on the employee’s annual earnings. The net periodic
cost of our pensicn and other postretirement plans is determined
using several actuarial assumptions, the most significant of which are
the discount rate and the expected return on plan assets. Our
Consolidated Balance Sheets reflect the funded status of the pension
and other postretirement plans.

Foreign Currency Translation. The functional currency of each of
our foreign operating subsidiaries is that subsidiary’s local currency.
We translate the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries at the
year-end rate of exchange and revenue and expenses at the monthly
average rates during the year. We record the resulting translation
adjustment in other comprehensive income, a component of
shareholders’ equity. We also record gains and losses resulting from
the translation of intercompany balances of a long-term investment
nature in accumulated other comprehensive loss. In the year ended
December 31, 2014, we recorded $7.0 million of foreign currency
transaction losses. In the year ended December 31, 2013, we
recorded $6.8 million of foreign currency transaction losses.

Financial Instruments. Cur financial instruments consist primarily of
cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes receivable, accounts
payable and short and long-term debt. The carrying amounts of these
iterns, other than long-term debl, approximale their fair markel values
due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The fair value of
our fixed-rate debt is determined using Level 2 inputs such as quoted
market prices for publicly traded instruments, and for non-publicly
traded instruments through valuation techniques depending on the
specific characteristics of the debt instrument, taking into account
credit risk. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the fair value of our
fixed-rate debt was $1.3 billion and $1.2 billion, respectively,
compared to its carrying value of $1.1 billion and $1.1 billion,
respectively, based on recent trading prices.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities. Although derivative financial
instruments are not utilized for speculative purposes or as the
Company’s primary risk management tool, derivatives have been
used as a risk management tool to hedge the Company’s exposure
to changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. We have
used interest rate swaps and interest rate lock agreements to man-
age interest rate risk associated with our fixed and floating-rate
borrowings. Forward contracts on various foreign currencies have
been used to manage the foreign currency exchange rate risk of
certain firm commitments denominated in foreign currencies. We
recognize all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. Derivative
valuations reflect the value of the instrument including the value
associated with any material counterparty risk.

Fair Value Hedges. In conjunction with our fourth quarter 2009 sale of
five-year Senior Notes, we entered into five-year interest rate swaps,
designated as fair value hedges, which convert the debt's fixed inter-
est rate to a variable rate. These swaps involve the receipt of fixed
rate amounts for floating interest rate payments over the life of the
swaps without exchange of the underlying principal amount. Changes
in the fair value of the interest rate swaps offset changes in the fair
value of the fixed-rate Senior Notes they hedge due to changes in the
designated benchmark interest rate and are recorded in interest
expense, We settled the interest rate swaps on their maturity date
during the fourth quarter of 2014, with receipt of $3.8 million from the
counterparties. There was no ineffectiveness on our fair value hedge
that impacted current year earnings. The fair value of these interest
rate swaps at December 31, 2013 was $6.0 million, recorded in other
assets, net on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Cash Flow Hedges. Changes in the fair value of highly effective
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are initially recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive income and are reclassified into
the line item in the Consolidated Statements of Income in which the
hedged item is recorded in the same period the hedged item impacts
eamings. Any ineffective portion is recorded in current period earn-
ings. We did not have any unsettled cash flow hedges outstanding as
of December 31, 2014 or December 31, 2013.

Fair Value Measurements. Fair value is determined based on the
assumptions marketplace participants use in pricing the asset or
liability. We use a three level fair value hierarchy to prioritize the inputs
used in valuation tlechniques between observable inpuls that reflect
quoted prices in active markets, inputs other than quoted prices with
observable market data and unobservable data (e.g., a company’s
own data). The adoption of fair value guidance for nonfinancial assets
and nonfinancial liabilities on January 1, 2009 did not have a material
impact on our Consclidated Financial Statements.
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The following table presents assets and liabilities measured at fair
velue on a recurring basis:

Fair Value Measurements at

Reporting Date Using:
Quoted Prices
in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Fair Value at |dentical Observable Uncbservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2014 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(I milions)
Assets and
Liabilities:
Deferred
Compensation
Plan Assets' $24.2 $24.2 § - $—
Deferred
Compensation
Plan Liability'" 24.2) - (24.2) -
Total assets and
liabilities 3 — $24.2 $(24.2) 5—

(1) We maintain deferred compensation plans that allow for certain
management employees to defer the receipt of compensation
(such as salary, incentive compensation and commissions) until
a later date based on the terms of the plans. The liabifity
representing benefits accrued for plan participants is valued at
the quoted market prices of the participants’ investment elec-
tions. The asset consists of mutual funds reflective of the
participants investment selections and is valued at daily quoted
market prices.

Variable Interest Entities. We hold interests in certain entities,
including credit data and information solutions ventures, that are
considered variable interest entities, or VIEs. Thase variable interests
relate to ownership interests that require financial support for these
entities. Our investments related to these VIEs totaled $15.9 million at
December 31, 2014, representing our maximum exposure to loss.
These investments are classified in other assets, net on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. We are not the primary beneficiary and
are not required to consolidate any of these VIEs.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. Discontinued Operations. In
April 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-08 “‘Presentation of Financial
Slaternents and Properly, Plant, and Equipment: Reporling
Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of
Components of an Entity.”” The guidance medified the definition of a
discontinued operation to include disposals that qualify as a strategic
shift that has or will have a major effect on an entity's operations and
financial results. The guidance becomes effective for fiscal years and
interim reporting periods beginning on or after December 14, 2014,
with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect this
statement will have a material impact on its results of consolidated
operations or financial position.

Revenue Recognition. In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU

No. 2014-09, “‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers.”

ASU 2014-09 is a comprehensive new revenue recognition model
that requires a company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer

of goods or services to a customer at an amount that reflects the
consideration it expects to receive in exchange for those goods or
services. ASU 2014-09 also requires additional disclosure about the
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and
changes in judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to
obtain or fulfill a contract. ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual report-
ing periods, and interim pericds within that period, beginning after
December 15, 2016 and early adoption is not permitted. Companies
may use either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach to adopt ASU 2014-09. The Company is evaluating the
potential effects of the adoption of ASU 2014-09 on its Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Going Concern. In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15,
“Presentation of Financial Statements — Going Concern’.

ASU 2014-15 is intended to define management's responsibility to
evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an organization’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related fooctnote
disclosures. This guidance is effective for us for the annual period
ending December 31, 2017 and interim and annual periods
thereafter. We do not expect the adoption of this standard to have a
material impact on our consclidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairment. In July
2012, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2012-2,
“Intangibles — Gooadwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Indefinite-
Lived Intangible Assels for Impairment,” which alows a company the
option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is
necessary to perform a quantitative impairment test. Under that
option, a company would no longer be required to calculate the fair
value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset unless the company
determines, based on the qualitative assessment, that it is more likely
than not that the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is
less than its carrying amount. This guidance is effective for annual
and interim indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment tests
performed for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2012. We
implemented the new standard in our 2013 annual impairment
tesling. This guidance did not have a malerial effect on our financial
condlition or results of operations.

Other Comprehensive Income. In February 2013, the FASB issued
Accounting Standards Update No. 2013-2, “‘Reporting of Amounts
Reclassified Out of Other Comprehensive Income,” which requires
public companies to present information about reclassification
adjustments from accumulated other comprehensive income in their
annual and interim financial statements in a single note or on the face
of the financial statements. This standard is effective prospectively for
annual and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2012. We adopted this standard in the first quarter of 2013 and it did
not have an effect on our financial condition or results of operations.
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2- COST METHOD INVESTMENT

We hold a 15% equity interest in BVS, which is the second largest
consumer and commercial credit information company in Brazil.

This investment is recorded in other assets, net, cn the Consolidated
Balance Sheets and is accounted for using the cost method. As of
December 31, 2012, our investment in BVS was valued at 130 mil-
lion Brazilian Reais, which is the same as the initial fair value. The
initial fair value was determined by a third-party using income and
market approaches.

During the fourth quarter of 2013, management of BVS updated
financial projections in connection with a request for additional financ-
ing. The financial projections reflected the effects of reduced near-
ferm market expectations for consumer credit and for credit
information services in Brazil and increased investment to achieve the
strategic objectives and capitalize on future market opportunities,
such as positive data, resulting in reduced expected cash flows. The
request for financing, the projections received, along with the near-
term weakness in the Brazilian consumer and small commercial credit
markets were considered indicators of impairment. Management of
Equifax prepared an analysis tc estimate the fair value of our invest-
ment at December 31, 2013 and estimated that value to be 90 million
Reais ($38.2 million). As a result, we wrote-down the carrying value of
our investment and recorded a loss of 40 million Reais ($17.0 million)
which is included in other income (expense) in the Consolidated
Statements of Income.

At December 31, 2014, we estimated the fair value of the investment
approximated the fair value of the investment recorded.

3- DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During the first quarter of 2013, we divested of two non-strategic
business lines, Equifax Settlement Services, which was part of our
Mortgage business within the USIS operating segment, and Talent
Management Services, which was part of our Employer Services
business within our Workforce Solutions operating segment, for a
total of $47.5 million. $3.5 million of the proceeds of the sale of Talent
Management Services was placed in escrow to be released to us at a
later date. The historical results of these operations are classified as
discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Revenue for these business lines for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $9.3 million and $87.5 million,
respectively. Pretax income was $0.5 million and $8.9 million for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
We recorded a gain on the disposals in the first quarter of 2013 of
$18.4 million, including an income tax benefit of $18.1 million, of
which $14.3 million was current tax benefits. The tax benefit is
primarily a result of our tax basis in Talent Management Services. The
gain was classified as discontinued operations in the Consolidated
Statements of Income.

4- ACQUISITIONS AND INVESTMENTS

2014 Acquisitions and Investments. To further broaden our
product offerings, we made two acquisitions during 2014. During the
first quarter of 2014, we acquired TDX, a data, technology and
senvices company in the United Kingdom that specializes in debt col-
lections and recovery management through the use of analytics, data
exchanges and technology platforms. It was included as part of our
Intermational and USIS operating segments. During the first quarter of
2014, we also completed the acquisition of Forseva, a provider of
end-to-end, cloud-based credit management software solutions, that
was included as part of our USIS operaling segment. The lolal
purchase price of these acquisitions was $338.8 million.

2013 Acquisitions and Investments. To further broaden our
product offerings, we made several acquisitions during 2013. During
the third quarter of 2013, we acquired TrustedID, a direct-to-
consumer identity protection business that is included as part of our
North America Personal Solutions business unit. During the fourth
quarter of 2013, we also completed two acquisitions in Paraguay and
Mexico in the Latin America region of our International segment. The
total purchase price of these acquisitions was $98.8 million.

2012 Acquisitions and Investments. On December 28, 2012, as a
part of our long-term growth strategy of expanding our USIS
business, we acquired certain credit services business assets and
operations of Computer Sciences Corporation for $1 billion. The
results of this acquisition have been included in our USIS operating
segment subsequent to the acquisition and were not material

for 2012

We financed this purchase with available cash, borrowings under
our CP Program, and the issuance in December 2012 of 3.30%,
ten-year unsecured Senior Notes. The 3.30% Senior Notes are
further described in Note 6 of the Notes to the Consclidated
Financial Statements.

To further broaden our product offerings, during the twelve months
ended December 31, 2012, we completed smaller acquisitions of
information services businesses in the European and Latin American
regions of our International segment totaling $16.5 million. The results
of these acquisitions have been included in our operating resulis
subseqguent to the date of acquisition and were not material for 2012.
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Purchase Price Allocation. The following table summarizes the
estimated fair value of the net assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed at the acquisition dates.

(1) Identifiable intangible assets are further disaggregated in the
following table.

(2)  Of the goodwill resulting from 2014 and 2013 acquisitions,
$0 million and $1.2 mitlion, respectively, is tax deductible.

December 31,
o The primary reasons the purchase price of these acquisitions
I mill 2014 2013
E)Z::;;?zz)sets S 39.1 $ 12.9 exceeded the fair value of the net assets acquired, which resulted
Property and equipment 3:5 1 ’ 4 in the recognition of goodwill, were expanded growth opportunities
Other assets _ 5‘9 from new or enhanced product offerings and geographies, cost sav-
Identifiable intangible assets™ 118.1 46. 4 ings from the elimination of duplicative activities, and the acquisition
Goodwill® 240.7 553 of an assembled workforce that are not recognized as assets apart
Total assets acquired 4015 121.9  fromgoodwil.
Total liabilities assumed (62.7) (19.9)
Non-controlling interest - (3.2)
Net assets acquired $338.8 $ 98.8
December 31,
2014 2013
Weighted-average Weighted-average

Intangible asset category Fair value useful life Fair value useful life

(In millions) (In years) (In millions) (In years)
Customer relationships $ 721 9.7 $27.6 8.3
Acquired software and technology 21.7 4.6 4.2 4.3
Purchased data files — 0 8.4 5.0
Non-compete agreements 12.8 2.4 3.1 4.0
Trade names and other intangible assets 11.5 9.7 3.1 6.3
Total acquired intangibles $118.1 8.0 $46.4 6.9

The 2014 acquisitions did not have a material impact on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income. The impact of the 2014 acquisi-
tions would not have significantly changed our Consolidated Statements of Income if they had occurred at the beginning of the earliest year

presented.

5- GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the cosl in excess of the fair value of
the net assets acquired in a business combination. As discussed in
Note 1, goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level on
an annual basis and on an interim basis if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair
value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. We perform our
annual goodwill impairment tests as of September 30 each year.

The fair value estimates for our reporting units were determined using
a combination of the income and market approaches in accordance
with the Company's methodology. Our annual impairment tests as
of September 20, 2014, 2013 and 2012 resulted in no impairment
of goodwill.

On July 1, 2014 the North America Commercial Solutions operating
segment was consolidated into the U.S. Consumer Information Solu-
tions and International operating segments. The change was driven
by an enterprise wide distribution marketing sfrategy to maximize the

penetration of our products and services in our targeted markets. In
an effort to accelerate our penetration and simplify how our com-
mercial information customers interact with us, we have reorganized
our operating segments. The U.S. portion of the North America
Commercial Solutions (“*"NACS”) operating segment was
consolidated into the U.S. Consumer Information Solutions operating
segment. The combined operating segment was renamed U.S.
Information Selutions. The Canadian portion of the NACS operating
segment was consolidated into the Canada operations of the
International operating segment. To reflect this new organizational
structure, we have reallocated goodwill from NACS reporting unit to
U.S. Information Solutions and Canada reporting units based on the
relative fair values of the respective portions of NACS, in accordance
with ASC 350. When reporting units are changed, ASC 350 requires
that goodwill be tested for impairment. During the third quarter of
2014, we performed our goodwill impairment test prior to and follow-
ing the reallocation of goodwill, which resulted in no impairment.
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Changes in the amount of goodwill for the twelve months ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, are as follows:

u.s. North America
Information Workforce Personal
(In millions) Solutions International Solutions Solutions Total
Balance, December 31, 201217 $ 969.4 $385.2 $934.0 $1.8 $2,290.4
Acquisilions - 40.8 — 14.5 55.3
Adjustments to initial purchase price allocation 87.5 0.1) — 0.4 87.8
Foreign currency translation — (8.0) - — (8.0)
Tax benefits of options exercised — — [0.2) — 0.2)
Businesses sold (2.7) (1.4) (26.1) — (30.2)
Balance, December 31, 2013 1,054.2 416.5 907.7 16.7 2,395.1
Acquisitions 66.4 173.8 - — 240.2
Adjustments to initial purchase price allocation - 241 - - 2.1
Foreign currency translation - (30.5) - —_ (30.5)
Tax benefits of options exercised — — (0.1) — (0.1)
Balance, December 31, 2014 $1,120.6 $561.9 $907.6 $16.7 $2,606.8

(1)

The December 31, 2013 and 2012 balances have been recast to reflect the new organizational structure. As of December 31, 2013, the

USIS and International goodwill include $21.7 million and $15.5 million of gooawill, respectively, from the legacy NACS segment. As of
December 31, 2012, the USIS and International gooawill include $21.7 million and $15.9 million of gooawill, respectively, from the legacy

NACS segment.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets. Indefinite-lived intangible assets
consist of indefinite-lived reacquired rights representing the value of
rights which we had granted to various affiliate credit reporting agen-
cies that were reacquired in the U.S. and Canada. At the time we
acquired these agreements, they were considered perpetual in nature
under the accounting guidance in place at that time and, therefore,
the useful lives are considered indefinite. Indefinite-lived intangible
assets are not amortized. We are required 1o test indefinite-lived
intangible assets for impairment annually and whenever events or
circumstances indicate that there may be an impairment of the asset
value. We perform our annual indefinite-lived intangible asset impair-
ment test as of September 30. Our 2014 annual impairment test
completed during the third quarter of 2014 resulted in no impairment
of indefinite-lived intangible asssts.

{In millions) Amount
Balance, December 31, 2012 $254.5
FPurchase price adjustment (158.8)
Foreign currency translation 0.2)
Balance, December 31, 2013 955
Foreign currency translation (0.3)
Balance, December 31, 2014 $ 95.2

During the third quarter of 2013, we recorded adjustments to the
purchased intangible assets and related accumulated amortization
previously recorded in connection with our December 28, 2012
acquisition of certain credit services business assets and operations
of Computer Sciences Corporation. This correction resulted in the
establishment of $73.3 million of finite-lived reacquired rights

which will be amortized over 5.6 years, an increase in goodwill of
$85.5 million and a reduction of our indefinite-lived intangible assets
of $158.8 million.
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Purchased Intangible Assets. Purchased intangible assets net, recorded on our Consoclidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2014 and

2013, are as follows:

December 31, 2014

December 31, 2013

Accumulated Accumulated

(In millions) Gross Amaortization Net Gross Amortization Net
Definite-lived intangible assets:
Purchased data files $ 692.0 $(218.8) $473.2 $ 709.5 $(187.4)  $522.1
Acquired software and technalogy 53.9 (26.4) 27.5 384 (20.2) 18.2
Customer relationships 570.7 (204.3) 366.4 506.7 (166.5) 340.2
Reacquired rights 73.3 (26.3) 47.0 73.3 (13.1) 60.2
Proprietary database 7.4 (5.4) 2.0 74 (5.0) 2.4
MNon-compete agreements 27.0 (11.8) 15.2 202 (7.8) 12.4
Irade names and other intangible assets 51.1 (28.5) 226 a1.7 (24.0) 17.7

Total definite-lived intangible assets $1,475.4 $(521.5) $953.9 $1,397.2 $424.0) $973.2

Amortization expense related to purchased intangible assets was $129.9 million, $118.4 million, and $86.1 million during the twelve months

ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

Estimated future amortization expense related to definite-lived
purchased intangible assets at Decamber 31, 2014 is as follows:

Years ending December 31,

Scheduled future maturities of debt at December 31, 2014, are as
follows:

Years ending December 31,

(In millions) Amount {In millions) Amount
2016 $123.0 2016 $ 3804
2016 114.8 2016 —
2017 102.8 2017 272.5
2018 84.3 2018 —
2019 65.1 2019 —
Thereafter 463.9 Thereafter 875.0

$953.9 Total debt $1,527.9

6- DEBT
Debt outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013 was as follows:

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013
Commercial paper (“CP") $ 3797 ¢ —
Notes, 7.34%, due in installments

through May 2014 - 15.0
Notes, 4.45%, due December 2014 - 275.0
Notes, 6.30%, due July 2017 2725 2725
Notes, 3.30%, due Dec 2022 500.0 500.0
Debentures, 6.90%, due July 2028 125.0 125.0
Notes, 7.00%, due July 2037 250.0 250.0
Other 0.7 0.6

Total debt 1,527.9 1,438.1
Less short-term debt and current

maturities 380.4 296.5
Less unamortized discounts 1.8 2.1
Plus fair value adjustments - 6.0
Total long-term debt, net of discount $1,145.7 §1,1455

Senior Credit Facility. We are party to a $750.0 million unsecured
revolving credit facility, which we refer to as the Senior Credit Facility,
with a group of financial institutions. The Senior Credit Facility also
has an accordion feature that allows us to reguest an increase in the
total commitment to $1.0 billion. Borrowings may be used for general
corporate purposes, including working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions and share repurchase programs. The Senior Credit Facil-
ity is scheduled to expire in December 2017, Availability of the Senior
Credit Facility for borrowings is reduced by the outstanding face
amount of any letters of credit issued under the facility and, pursuant
to our existing Board of Directors authorization, by the outstanding
principal amount of our commercial paper notes.

Under our Senior Credit Facility, we must comply with various
financial and non-financial covenants. The financial covenants require
us to maintain a maximum leverage ratio, defined as consolidated
funded debt divided by consclidated EBITDA (as set forth in the
Senior Credit Facility) for the preceding four quarters, of not more
than 3.5 to 1.0. Compliance with this financial covenant is tested
quarterly. The non-financial covenants include limitations on liens,
subsidiary debt, mergers, liquidations, asset dispositions and acquisi-
tions. As of December 31, 2014, we were in compliance with our
covenants under the Senior Credit Facility. Our borrowings under this
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

facility, which have not been guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries,
are unsecured and will rank on parity in right of payment with all of
our other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness from time to
time outstanding.

At December 31, 2014, interest was payable on borrowings under
the existing credit facility at the base rate or London Interbank
Offered Rate, or LIBOR, plus a specified margin. The annual unused
fee, which we pay on the unused portion of the revolver, and interest
rate are subject to adjustiment based on our debt ratings. As of
December 31, 2014, we had $1.5 million of letters of credit outstand-
ing under our Senior Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2014,
$368.8 million was available for borrowings and there were no
outstanding borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility, which is
included in long-term debt on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

While the underlying final maturity date of this facility is December
2017, it is struclured to provide borrowings under shorl-term loans.
Because these borrowings primarily have a maturity of ninety days,
the borrowings and repayments are presented on a net basis within
the financing activities portion of our Consalidated Statements of
Cash Flows as net (repayments) borrowings under long-term revolv-
ing credit facilities.

CP Program. Our $750.0 milion CP program has been established
through the privale placement of CP noles from time to time, in
which borrowings bear interest at either a variable rate (based on
LIBOR or other benchmarks) or a fixed rate, with the applicable rate
and margin. Maturities of CP can range from overnight to 397 days.
Because the CP program is backstopped by our Senior Credit Facil-
ity, the amount of CP which may be issued under the program is
reduced by the outstanding face amount of any letters of credit
issued under the facility and, pursuant to our existing Board of Direc
tors authorization, by the outstanding borrowings under our Senior
Credit Facility. At December 31, 2014, there were $379.7 million
CP notes outstanding.

7.34% Notes and 4.45% Senior Notes. On May 1, 2014,

$15.0 million of our 7.34% Senior Guaranteed Notes matured and
was paid down with cash from operations. On December 1, 2014,
$275.0 million of our 4.45% Senior Notes matured and was paid
down with borrowings under our Senior Credit Facility.

6.3% and 7.0% Senior Notes. On June 28, 2007, we issued
$300.0 million principal amount of 6.3%, ten-year senior notes and
$250.0 million principal amount of 7.0%, thirty-year senior notes in
underwritten public offerings. Interest is payable semi-annually in
arrears on January 1 and July 1 of each year. The net proceeds of
the financing were used to repay short-term indebtedness, a
substantial portion of which was incurred in connection with cur
acquisition of TALX. We must comply with various non-financial
covenants, including certain limitations on liens, additional debt and

mortgages, mergers, asset dispositions and sale-leaseback arrange-
ments. The senior notes are unsecured and rank equally with all of
our other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness.

3.3% Senior Notes. On December 17, 2012, we issued

$500.0 million principal amount of 3.3%, ten-year senior notes in an
undenraritten public offering. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears
on December 15 and June 15 of each year. The net proceeds of the
sale of the notes were used to partially finance the acquisition of CSC
Credit Services in December 2012, We must comply with various
non-financial covenants, including certain limitations on liens, additional
debt and morigages, mergers, asset dispositions and sale-leaseback
arrangements. The senior notes are unsecured and rank equally with
all of our other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness.

6.9% Debentures. We have $125 million of debentures outstanding with
a maturity date of 2028. The debentures are unsecured and rank equally
with all of our other unsecured and unsubordinated indebledness.

Cash paid for interest was $67.9 million, $67.8 million and
$53.0 million during the twelve months ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively.

7 =  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases. Our operating leases principally involve office space and
office eguipment. Rental expense for operating leases, which is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, was

$22.6 million, $24.2 million and $21.5 million for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Our
headquarters building ground lease has purchase options exercisable
beginning in 2019, renewal options exercisable in 2048 and escala-
tion clauses that began in 2009. Expected future minimum payment
obligations for non-cancelable operating leases exceeding one year
are as follows as of December 31, 2014:

Years ending December 31,

(In millions) Amount
2015 $17.0
2016 12.8
2017 9.9
2018 7A
2019 6.8
Thereafter 44.6

$98.2

We have no material sublease agreements and as a result, expected
sublease income is not reflected as a reduction in the total minimum
rental obligations under operating leases in the table above.
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Data Processing, Outsourcing Services and Other Agreements.
We have separate agreements with IBM, Tata Consultancy Services,
and others to outsource portions of our computer data processing
operations, applications development, maintenance and related func-
tions and to provide certain other administrative and operational
services. The agreements expire between 2015 and 2023. The
estimated aggregate minimum contractual obligation remaining under
these agreements is approximately $60 million as of December 31,
2014, with no future year's minimum contractual obligation expected
to exceed approximately $40 million. Annual payment obligations in
regard to these agreements vary due to factors such as the volume
of data processed; changes in our servicing needs as a result of new
product offerings, acqguisitions or divestitures; the introduction of
significant new technclogies; foreign currency; or the general rate of
inflation. In certain circumstances (e.g., a change in control or for our
convenience), we may terminate these data processing and out-
sourcing agreements, and, in doing so, certain of these agreements
require us to pay a significant penalty.

During 2012, we amended certain portions and terminated certain
other portions of our operations support services agreement for
MNorth America with IBM. The amended agreement extends certain
terms two years through December 2016 and changes certain vari-
able cost to fixed cost intended to provide financial savings to the
Company. Under our agreement with IBM (which covers our opera-
tions in North America, Europe, and Peru), we have outsourced
certain of our mainframe and midrange operations, help dask service
and desktop support functions, and the operation of our voice and
data networks. The scope of such services varies by location. The
estimated future minimum contractual obligation under the revised
agreement is approximately $25 million for the remaining term, with
no individual year's minimum expected to exceed approximately
$15 milion. We may terminate certain portions of this agreement
without penalty in the event that IBM is in material breach of the
terms of the agreement. During 2014, 2013 and 2012, we paid
approximately $50 million, $60 million and $70 million, respectively,
for these services.

Change in Control Agreements. We have entered into change in
control severance agreements with cerlain key execulives. The
agreements provide for, among other things, certain payments and
benefits in the event of a qualifying termination of employment (i.e.,
termination of employment by the executive for “'good reason’ or
termination of employment by the Company without “‘cause,”” each
as defined in the agreements) following a change in control of the
Company. In the event of a qualifying termination, the executive will
become entitled to continuation of group health, dental, vision, life,
disability, 401(k) and similar benefits for three years, as well as a lump
sum severance payment, all of which differs by executive.

The change in control agreements have a three-year term and
automatically renew for another three years unless we elect not fo
renaw the agreements. Change in control events potentially triggering
benefits under the agreements would occur, subject to certain excep-
tions, if (1) any person acquires 20% or more of our voling stock;

(2) upon a merger or other business combination, our shareholders
receive less than two-thirds of the common stock and combined vot-
ing power of the new company; (3) we sell or otherwise dispose of all
or substantially all of our assets; or (4) we liquidate or dissclve.

If these change in control agreements had been triggered as of
December 31, 2014, payments of approximately $56.5 million would
have been made (excluding tax gross-up amounts of $31.8 million).
Under the Company's existing director and employee stock bensfit
plans, a change in control generally would result in the immediate
vesting of all outstanding stock options and satisfaction of the restric-
tions on any outstanding nonvested stock awards. With respect to
unvested performance based share awards dependent upon the
Company's three-year relative total shareholder return, if at least one
calendar year of performance during the performance period has
been completed prior to the change in control event, the awards will
be paid out based on the Company's performance at that time;
otherwise the payout of shares will be at 100% of the target award.

Guarantees. We will from time to time issue standby letters of credit,
performance bonds or other guarantees in the normal course of busi-
ness. The aggregate notional amount of all perfermance bonds and
standby letters of credit is not material at December 31, 2014, and all
have a remaining malurily of one year or less. The maximum polential
future payments we could be required to make under the guarantees
is not material at December 31, 2014.

General Indemnifications. We are the lessee under many real estate
leases. It is commaon in these commercial lease transactions for us,
as the lessee, to agree to indemnify the lessor and other related third
parties for tort, environmental and other liabilities that arise out of or
relate to our use or occupancy of the leased premises. This type of
indemnity would typically make us responsible to indemnified parties
for liabilities arising out of the conduct of, among others, contractors,
licensees and invitees at or in connection with the use or occupancy
of the leased premises. This indemnity often extends to related
liabilities arising from the negligence of the indemnified parties, but
usuglly excludes any liabilities caused by either their sole or gross
negligence and their willful misconduct.

Certain of our credit agreements include provisions which require us
to make payments to preserve an expected economic return to the
lenders if that economic return is diminished due to certain changes
in law or regulations. In certain of these credit agreements, we also
bear the risk of certain changes in tax laws that would subject pay-
ments to non-U.S. lenders to withholding taxes.
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In conjunction with certain transactions, such as sales or purchases
of operating assets or services in the ordinary course of business, or
the disposition of certain assets or businesses, we sometimes
provide routine indemnifications, the terms of which range in duration
and sometimes are not limited.

The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with its
directors and executive officers. Under these agreements, the
Company has agreed to indemnify such individuals to the fullest
extent permitted by law against liabilities that arise by reason of their
status as directors or officers and to advance expenses incurred by
such individuals in connection with the related legal proceedings. The
Company maintains directors and officers liability insurance coverage
to reduce its exposure to such obligations.

We cannot reasonably estimate our potential future payments under
the indemnities and related provisions described above because we
cannot predict when and under whal circumslances these provisions
may be triggered. We have no accrual related to indemnifications on
our Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Subsidiary Dividend and Fund Transfer Limitations. The ability of
some of our subsidiaries and associated companies to transfer funds
to us is limited, in some cases, by certain restrictions imposed by
foreign governments, which do not, individually or in the aggregate,
materially limit our ability to service our indebledness, meel our cur-
rent obligations or pay dividends.

Contingencies. We are involved in legal proceedings, claims and
litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. We periodically
assess our exposure related to these matters based on the informa-
tion which is available. We have recorded accruals in our
Consolidated Financial Statements for those matters in which it is
probable that we have incurred a loss and the amount of the loss, or
range of loss, can be reasonably estimated.

Although the final outcome of these matters cannot be predicted
with certainty, any possible adverse outcome arising from these mat-
ters is not expected to have a material impact on our Censolidated
Financial Statements, either individually or in the aggregate. However,
our evaluation of the likely impact of these matters may change in
the future. We accrue for unpaid legal fees for services performed

to date.

8. INCOME TAXES
The provision for income taxes from continuing operations consisted
of the following:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

{In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Current:

Federal $140.7 $130.9 $102.3
State 18.3 16.4 12.5
Foreign 50.8 51.3 B67.4
209.8 198.6 182.2

Deferrea:
Federal (1.3) 4.9) (5.9)
State 0.2) 28 2.1)
Foreign (8.1) (7.6) (18.2)
(9.6) 9.7) (26.2)
Provision for income taxes $200.2 $188.9 $156.0

The provision for income taxes from discontinued operations was
$17.9 million and $3.4 million for the years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively.

Domestic and foreign income from continuing operations before
income taxes was as follows:
Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
u.s. $521.5 $458.4 $341.8
Foreign 52.7 72.0 89.5

$574.2 $530.4 $431.3

The provision for income taxes reconciles with the U.S. federal statu-
tory rate, as follows:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Provision computed at

federal statutory rate $201.0 $185.6 $151.0
State and local taxes, net of

federal tax benefit 1341 121 5.8
Foreign (7.3) [4.1) (5.3)
Valuation allowance 2.2) 0.6) 0.9)
Tax reserves 0.6 1.2) 0.2
Currency and other tax

effects of Brazil

Transaction'” - - (15.3)
Global restructuring® - - 20.5
Other (5.0) 2.9) —
Provision for income taxes $200.2 $188.9 $156.0
Effective income tax rate 34.9% 35.6% 36.2%
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(1) During the fourth quarter of 2012, we recorded a $15.3 million
tax benefit as a result of tax authorities approving a tax method
change which impacted the tax expense recorded in connection
with the merger of our Brazilian business in the second quarter
of 2011.

(2)  During the fourth quarter of 2012, we completed an
international tax restructuring resulting in the recognition of tax
expense of $20.5 million.

We record deferred income taxes using enacted tax laws and rates
for the years in which the taxes are expected to be paid. Deferred
income lax assels and liabilities are recorded based on the differ-
ences between the financial reporting and income tax bases of
assets and liabilities. For additional information about our income tax
policy, see Note 1 of the Notes to Consclidated Financial Statements.

Components of the deferred income lax assels and liabilities at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013
Deferred income tax assets:

Employee pension benefits $142.6 $108.9

MNet operating and capital loss carry-

forwards 136.1 132.3

Foreign tax credits 94.7 51.7

Employee compensation programs 67.1 61.9

Reserves and accrued expenses 6.4 8.5

Deferred revenue 33 2.5

Other 8.7 5.9
Gross deferred income tax assets 458.9 37.7

Valuation allowance (121.4) (121.5)
Total deferred income tax assets, nat $337.5 $250.2
Deferred income tax liabilities:

Goodwill and intangible assets (334.5) (313.7)

Pension expense (99.9) (101.9)

Undistributed earnings of foreign

subsidiaries (96.1) (52.5)

Depreciation (13.4) (14.5)

Other (15.4) (11.7)
Total deferred income tax liability (559.3) (494.3)
Nel deferred income lax liability $(221.8) $(244.1)

Our deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, are included in the accompanying
Consclidated Balance Sheets as follows:

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013
Current deferred income tax assets,

included in other current assets $ 146 $ 183
Long-term deferred income tax assets,

included in other assets 5.1 1.3
Long-term deferred income tax

liabilities (241.5) (263.7)
Net deferred income tax liability $(221.8) $(244.1)

We record deferred income taxes on the temporary differences of our
foreign subsidiaries and branches, except for the temporary differ-
ences related to undistributed earnings of subsidiaries which we
consider indefinitely invested. As of December 31, 2014, we have
indefinitely invested $85.7 million attributable to pre-2004
undistributed earnings of our Canadian and Chilean subsidiaries. If
the pre-2004 earnings were not considered indefinitely invested, it
would not result in any additional income tax.

At December 31, 2014, we had U.S. federal and state net operating
loss carryforwards of $87.7 million which will expire at various times
between 2015 and 2032, We also had foreign net operating loss car-
ryforwards totaling $390.3 million of which $1.4 million will expire
betweaen 2015 and 2024 and the remaining $388.9 million will carry-
forward indefinitely. Foreign capital loss carryforwards of $19.2 milion
may be carried forward indefinitely, and slale capital loss carryfor-
wards of $2.5 million will expire in 2018. The deferred tax asset
related to the net operating loss and capital loss carryforwards is
$136.2 million of which $120.6 milion has been fully reserved in the
deferred tax valuation allowance. Additionally, we had foreign tax
credit carryforwards of $94.7 milion, of which $1.2 million will expire
in 2022 and $93.5 milion will be available to be utilized upon repatria-
tion of foreign earnings.

Cash paid for income taxes, net of amounts refunded, was
$148.2 million, $174.8 million and $181.7 million during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

We recognize interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized
tax benefits in the provision for income taxes on our Consolidated
Statements of Income.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized
tax benefits is as follows:

(In millions) 2014 2013
Beginning balance (January 1) $19.1 $195
Increases related to prior year tax

positions 3.0 3.0
Decreases related to prior year tax

positions (0.4) 0.1)
Increases related to current year tax

positions 4.4 41
Decreases related to settlements (0.6) (0.5)
Expiration of the statule of limitations

for the assessment of taxes (5.3) (6.4)
Currency translation adjustment (0.4) (0.5)
Ending balance (December 31) $19.8 $191

We recorded liabilities of $23.3 milion and $22.6 million for
unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively, which included interest and penalties of $3.6 million and
$3.5 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the
total amount of unrecognized benefits that, if recognized, would have
affected the effective tax rate was $20.4 million and $19.4 million,
respectively, which included interest and penalties of $3.1 million and
$2.9 million, respectively. During 2014 and 2013 interest and penal-
ties of $1.0 million and $0.8 million respectively were accrued.

Equifax and its subsidiaries are subject to U.S. federal, state and
international income taxes. We are generally no longer subject to
federal, state or international income tax examinations by tax authori-
ties for years before 2008. Due to the potential for resolution of state
and foreign examinations, and the expiration of various statutes of
limitations, it is reasonably possible that Equifax’s gross unrecognized
tax benefit balance may change within the next twelve months by a
range of zero to $5.4 million.

In September 2013, the IRS released final tangible property regula-
tions under Sections 162(a) and 263(a) of the Internal Revenue Code
regarding the deduction and capitalization of expenditures related to
tangible property as well as disposition of tangible property. These
regulations were be effective for our tax year beginning January 1,
2014. We have assessed the impact of these regulations and
determined they did not have a material impact on our consolidated
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

9- STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

We have one active share-based award plan, the amended and
restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Flan. This plan was originally
approved by our shareholders in 2008 and was amended and
restated with shareholder approval in May 2013 to, among other
things, increase the reserve for awards under the plan by 11 million
shares. The plan provides our directors, officers and certain key
employees with stock options and nonvested stock. The plan is
described below. We expect to issue common shares held as either
treasury stock or new issue shares upon the exercise of stock
options or once nonvested shares vest. Total stock-based
compensation expense in our Consolidated Statements of Income
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, was as follows:

Twelve Months Ended

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Cost of services $ 4.6 $ 42 $ 39
Selling, general and

administrative expenses 33.5 28.0 241
Stock-based compensation

expense, before income

taxes $38.1 $32.2 $28.0

The total income tax benefit recognized for stock-based compensation
expense was $13.7 million, $11.6 million and $9.8 million for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation
cost are reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operat-
ing cash flow. This requirement reduced operating cash flows and
increased financing cash flows by $17.7 million, $14.6 million and
$1.7 million during the twelve months ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively.

Stock Options. The 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan provides that
qualified and nonqualified stock options may be granted to officers
and other employees. In conjunction with our acquisition of TALX, we
assumed options outstanding under the legacy TALX stock option
plan, which was approved by TALX shareholders. In addition, stock
options remain outstanding under three shareholder-approved plans
and three non-shareholder-approved plans from which no new grants
may be made. The 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan requires that stock
options be granted at exercise prices not less than market value on
the date of grant. Generally, stock options are subject to graded
vesting for periods of up to three years based on senvice, with 33%
vesting for each year of completed service, and expire ten years from
the grant date.
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We use the binomial model to calculate the fair value of stock options
granted on or after January 1, 2008. The binomial model incorporates
assumptions regarding anticipated employee exercise behavior,
expected stock price volatility, dividend yield and risk-free interest
rate. Anticipated employee exercise behavior and expecied post-
vesting cancellaticns over the contractual term used in the binomial
model were primarily based on historical exercise patterns. These
historical exercise patterns indicated there was not significantly differ-
ent exercise behavior between employee groups. For our expected
stock price volatility assumption, we weighted historical volatility and
implied volatility. We used daily cbservations for historical volatility,
while our implied volatility assumption was based on actively traded
options related to our common stock. The expected term is derived
from the binomial model, based on assumptions incorporated into
the binomial model as described above.

The fair value for stock options granted during the twelve months
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, was estimated at the
date of grant, using the binomial modsl with the following weighted-
average assumptions:

Twelve Months Ended

December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Dividend yield 1.4% 1.5% 1.8%
Expected volatility 21.1% 25.8% 31.9%
Risk-free interest rate 1.6% 1.3% 0.6%
Expected term (in years) 4.8 4.9 4.9
Weighted-average fair value
of stock options granted $12.63 $11.95 $10.67

The following table summarizes changes in outstanding stock options during the twelve months ended December 31, 2014, as well as stock
options that are vested and expected to vest and stock options exercisable at December 31, 2014:

Weighted-Average Aggregate

Weighted-Average Remaining Intrinsic

Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Value

(In thousands) {In years) (In millions)
Qutstanding at December 31, 2013 3,530 §37.85
Granted (all at market price) 249 §73.46
Exercised (1,145) $34.81
Forfeited and cancelled (55) $49.12

Qutstanding at December 31, 2014 2,679 $42.54 6.0 $98.9

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2014 2,439 $42.23 6.0 $94.2

Exercisable at December 31, 2014 1,970 $36.39 0.2 $87.6

The aggregale intrinsic value amounts in the table above represent
the difference between the closing price of Equifax’s common stock
on December 31, 2014 and the exercise price, multiplied by the
number of in-the-money stock options as of the same date. This
represents the value that would have been received by the stock
option holders if they had all exercised their stock options on
December 31, 2014. In future periods, this amount will change

depending on fluctuations in Equifax’s stock price. The lolal intrinsic
value of stock options exercised during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, was $42.8 milion, $43.2 million
and $38.3 million, respectively. At December 31, 2014, our total
unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options was $3.1
million with a weighted-average recognition period of 1.5 years.
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The following table summarizes changes in outstanding options and the related weighted-average exercise price per share for the twelve

months ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:

December 31,
2013 2012
Weighted- Weighted-
Shares Average Price Shares Average Price

Qulstanding al the beginning of the year
Granted (all at market price)

Exercised

Forfeited and cancelled

(Shares in thousands) (Shares in thousands)

Oulstanding al the end of the year

Exercisable at end of year

Nonvested Stock. Our 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan also provides
for awards of nonvested shares of our common stock that can be
granted to executive officers, employees and directors. Nonvested
stock awards are generally subject to cliff vesting over a period
between one to three years based on service.

The fair value of nonvested stock is based on the fair market value of
our common stock on the date of grant. However, since our non-
vested stock does not accrue or pay dividends during the vesting
periad, the fair value on the date of grant is reduced by the present
value of the expected dividends over the requisite service period
(discounted using the appropriate risk-free interest rate).

Pursuant to our 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan, certain executive offic-
ers are granted nonvested shares in which the number of shares is
dependent upon the Company’s three-year relative total shareholder
return as compared to the three-year cumulative average quarterly
shareholder return of the companies in the S&P 500 stock index, as
comprised on the grant date, subject to adjustment. The number of
shares which could potentially be issued ranges from zero to 200%
of the target award. The grants outstanding subject to market
performance as of December 31, 2014 would result in 449,790
shares outstanding at 100% of target and 899,580 at 200% of target
at the end of the vesting period. Compensation expense is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the measurement period and
is based upon the fair market value of the shares estimated to

be earned at the date of grant. The fair value of the performance-
based shares is estimated on the date of grant using a Monte-Carlo
simulation.

4,748 $34.64 6,715 $31.82
346 $60.15 501 $47.04
(1,469) $32.58 (2,352) $20.37
(95) $44.24 ~(116) $31.85
3,530 $37.85 4,748 $34.64
2,495 $34.45 3,061 $33.34

The following table summarizes changes in our nonvested stock dur-
ing the twelve months ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
and the related weighted-average grant date fair value:

Weighted-Average

Grant Date
{In thousands) Shares Fair Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2011 1,431 $31.79
Granted 685 $44.59
Vested (440) $29.02
Forfeited (60) $33.31
Nonvested at December 31, 2012 1,616 $37.95
Granted 621 $57.82
Vested (479) $33.056
Forfeited (63) $40.99
Nonvested at December 31, 2013 1,695 $46.50
Granted 580 $70.89
Vested (480) $35.83
Forfeited (95) $52.16
Nonvested at December 31, 2014 1,700 $57.52

The total fair value of nonvested stock that vested during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, was

$34.4 million, $29.1 million and $19.9 million, respectively, based
on the weighted-average fair value on the vesting date, and

$17.2 million, $15.8 million and $12.8 million, respeclively, based on
the weighted-average fair value on the date of grant. At December
31, 2014, our total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-
vested stock was $29.6 million with a weighted-average recognition
period of 2.0 years.
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10- SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

Our Board of Directors has adopted a shareholder rights plan
designed to protect our shargholders against abusive takeover
attempts and tactics. The rights plan operates to dilute the interests
of any person or group attempting to take control of the Company if
the attempt is not deemed by our Board of Directors to be in the best
interests of our shareholders. Under the rights agreement, as
originally adopted in October 1995 and amended and restated in
October 2005, holders of our common stock were granted one right
to purchase common stock, or Right, for each outstanding share of
common stock held of record on November 24, 1995. All newly
issued shares of common stock since that date have been
accompanied by a Right. The Rights would have become exercisable
and fraded independently from our common stock if & person or
group acquired or obtained the right to acquire 20% or more of
Equifax's outstanding shares of common stock, or commenced a
tender or exchange offer that would have resulted in that person or
group acquiring 20% or more of the outstanding common stock, in
each case without the consent of our Beard. In the event the Rights
had become exercisable, each holder (other than the acquiring
person or group) would have been entitled to purchase that number
of shares of securilies or olher property of Equifax having a markel
value equal to two times the exercise price of the Right. If Equifax
were acquired in a merger or other business combination, each Right
would have entitled its holder to purchase the number of the acquir-
ing company's commeon stock having a market value of two times the
exercise price of the Right. In either case, our Board could choose to
redeem the Rights for $0.01 per Right before they became exercis-
able. The Rights had an expiration date of November 6, 2015, unless
earlier redeemed, exchanged or amended by the Board. The Board
terminated the rights plan effective February 19, 2015,

1 1 = BENEFIT PLANS

We have defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution
plans. We also maintain certain healthcare and life insurance benefit
plans for eligible retired employees. The measurement date for our
defined benefit pension plans and other postretirament benefit plans
is December 31 of each year.

Pension Benefits. Pension benefits are provided through U.S. and
Canadian defined benefit pension plans and two supplemental
executive defined benefit pension plans.

U.S. and Canadian Retirement Plans. We sponsor a qualified defined
benefit retirement plan (the U.S. Retirement Income Plan, or USRIP)
that covers approximately 20% of current U.S. salaried employees
who were hired on or before June 30, 2007, the last date on which
an individual could be hired and enter the plan before the USRIP was
frozen to new participation at December 31, 2008. This plan also
covers many retirees as well as certain terminated but vested
individuals not yet in retirement status. We also sponsor a defined

benefit plan that covers most salaried and hourly employees in
Canada (the Canadian Retirement Income Plan, or CRIP), also frozen
to new hires on October 1, 2011.

During 2014, the we adopted the new RP-2014 mortality tables and
generational projection scale with MP-2014 in determining the liability
for USRIP. This new table, along with the change in the discount rate,
contributed to the increase in the projected benefit cbligation as of
December 31, 2014.

In September 2014, an amendment to the USRIP was approved,
which froze future salary increases and service accruals for grandfa-
thered participants and provided a one-time 9% increase to the
accrued benefit as determined on December 31, 2014, This amend-
ment did not have a material impact on our pension expense for 2014.

On October 1, 2012, we offered certain former U.S. employees the
option to receive their USRIP pension benefits in either a lump sum
payable by December 31, 2012, or a reduced manthly annuity that
will commence December 1, 2012. The voluntary lump sum payment
option was based on the present value of the participant's pension
benefit, and was payable at the participant’s election in cash or roll-
over into a qualified retirement plan or IRA. The offer was made to
approximately 3,500 vested participants in the pension plan who had
terminated employment prior to January 1, 2012, and had not yet
slarled to receive monthly payment of their pension benefit.
Participants were required to make an irrevocable election to receive
the lump sum payment by November 26, 2012. Approximately 64%
of the vested terminated participants elected to receive the lump
sum payment which resulted in a payment of $62.6 million. The
payment was made on December 21, 2012, from existing plan
assets. Approximately 90 vested terminated participants elected

the accelerated reduced monthly annuity which is being paid from
the pension plan.

On November 7, 2012, an amendment to the USRIP was approved
which froze future salary increases for non-grandfathered participanis
and provided a one-time 9% increase to the accrued benefit for these
non-grandfathered participants who were employed on December
31, 2012. This amendment, along with the settlement described
above, resulted in a $38.7 million pension charge recorded during the
fourth quarter of 2012,

On September 14, 2011, the Compensation Committee of the Board
of Directors approved a redesign of our retirement plans for our cur-
rently active Canadian employees, effective January 1, 2013, and for
our new hires hired on or after October 1, 2011. The changes to our
retirement plan froze the Canadian Retirement Income Plan, or CRIP,
a registered defined bengfit pension plan, for employees who did not
meet retirement-eligibility status under the CRIP as of December 31,
2012 (“Non-Grandiathered™ participants). Under the plan amend-
ment, the service credit for Non-Grandfathered participants froze, but
these participants will continue to receive credit for salary increases
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and vesting service. Additionally, Non-Grandfathered employees and
certain other employees not eligible to participate in the CRIP
(i.e., new hires on or after October 1, 2011) are eligible to participate
in the enhanced defined contribution component of the CRIP.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2014, we did
not make any contributions to the USRIP and made contributions
of $1.2 million to the CRIP. During the twelve months ended
December 31, 2013, we did not make any contributions to the
USRIP and made contributions of $2.6 million to the CRIP. At
December 31, 2014, the USRIP met or exceeded ERISA’s
minimum funding requirements.

The annual report produced by our consulting actuaries specifies the
funding requirements for our plans, based on projected benefits for
plan participants, historical investment results on plan assets, current
discount rates for liabilities, assumptions for future demographic
developments and recent changes in statulory requirements. We

may elect to make additional discretionary contributions to our
plans in excess of minimum funding requirements, subject to
statutory limitations.

Supplemental Refirement Plans. We maintain two supplemental
executive retirement programs for certain key employees. The plans,
which are unfunded, provide supplemental retirement payments,
based on salary and years of senvice.

Other Benefits. We maintain certain healthcare and life insurance
benefit plans for eligible retired employees. Substantially all of our
U.S. employees may become eligible for the retiree healthcare
benefits if they reach retirement age while working for us and satisfy
certain years of service requirements. The retiree life insurance
program covers employees who retired on or before December 31,
2003. We accrue the cost of providing healthcare benefits over the
active service period of the employee.

Obligations and Funded Status. A reconciliation of the projected benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of the plans is as follows:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

{In miflions) 2014 2013 2014 2013
Change in projected benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at January 1, $636.8 §716.8 $19.6 $27.3
Service cost 4.5 54 0.3 0.5
Interest cost 31.1 28.9 0.8 1.1

Plan participants’ contributions - — 0.5 1.1

Amendments 3.2 - - (8.6)
Actuarial loss (gain) 113.2 (68.6) 0.5 09
Foreign currency exchange rate changes (5.5) (4.2) (0.2) 0.6
Curtaiments (2.6) — - —

Settlements - - — —

Benefits paid (41.8) 41.5) (2.1) (3.3
Projected benefit obligation at December 31, 739.1 636.8 19.4 19.6
Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at January 1, 568.1 548.0 21.6 21.4

Actual return on plan assets 43.7 58.5 1.7 2.4

Employer contributions 5.2 6.7 1.6 2.2

Plan participants’ contributions - — 0.5 1.1

Foreign currency exchange rate changes (5.3) (3.6) - -

Settlements - - (2.5) (2.2)
Benefits paid (41.6) (41.5) (2.1) (3.3
Fair value of plan assets at December 31, 570.1 568.1 20.8 21.6
Funded status of plan 5(169.0) 5 (68.7) $14 $ 2.0
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The accumnulated benefit obligation for the USRIP, CRIP and At December 31, 2013, the USRIP and Supplemental Retirement

Supplemental Retirement Plans was $727.8 million at December 31, Plans had projected benefit obligations and accumulated benefit

2014, The accumulated benefit obligation for the USRIP, CRIP and obligations in excess of those plans’ respective assets. The projected

Supplemental Retirement Plans was $623.1 million at benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of

December 31, 2013. plan assets for these plans in the aggregate were $580.1 million,
$575.5 million and $511.7 million, respectively, at December 31,

At December 31, 2014, the USRIP and Supplemental Retirement 2013. The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obliga-

Plans had projected benefit obligations and accumulated benefit tion and fair value of plan assets for the CRIP were $56.7 million,

obligations in excess of those plans' respective assets. The projected ~ $47.6 million and $56.4 million, respectively, at December 31, 2013.
benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of

plan assets for these plans in the aggregate were $679.5 million,

$676.8 million and $515.6 million, respectively, at December 31,

2014, The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obliga-

tion and fair value of plan assets for the CRIP were $59.6 million,

$51.0 million and $54.5 million, respectively, at December 31, 2014,

The following table represents the net amounts recognized, or the funded status of our pension and other postretirement bengfit plans, in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2014 and 2013:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(In millions) 2014 2013 2014 2013
Amounts recognized in the statements of financial position consist of:
Noncurrent assets $ - $ — $4.2 $5.1
Current liabilities (4.0) (3.9) (0.2) (0.2)
Long-term liabilities (165.0) (64.8) (2.6) (2.9)
Net amount recognized $(169.0) $(68.7) $1.4 $20

Included in accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2014 and 2013, were the following amounts that have not yet been
recognized in net periodic pension cost:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

(ln millions) 2014 2013 2014 2013
Prior service cost, net of accumulated taxes of $4.0 and $3.1 in 2014 and 2013,

respectively, for pension benefits and $(2.1) and $(2.6) in 2014 and 2013,

respectively, for other benefits $ 66 $ 54 $(3.5) $(4.3)
Net actuarial loss, net of accumulated taxes of $145.5 and $112.0in 2014 and

2013, respectively, for pension benefits and $2.7 and $2.8 in 2014 and 2013,

respectively, for other benefits 255.7 196.7 4.5 4.7

Accumulated other comprehensive loss $262.3 $201.8 $1.0 $0.4
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The fcllowing shows amounts recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) during the twelve months ended December 31, 2014 and 2013:

Changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

(In millions) 2014 2013 2014 2013
Amounts arising during the period:
Net actuarial loss (gain), net of taxes of $39.6 and $(32.6) in 2014 and 2013,

respectively, for pension benefits and $0.1 and $0.1 in 2014 and 2013,

respectively, for other benefits $69.0 $(54.9) $0.3 $0.1
Foreign currency exchange rate (gain) loss, net of taxes of $(0.1) and $(0.2) in

2014 and 2013, respectively, for pension benefits (0.2) (0.3) (0.2) -
Prior service cost (credit), net of taxes of $1.2 and $(0.3) in 2014 and 2013,

respectively, for pension benefits and $(3.1) in 2013 for other benefits 2.0 (0.8) - (5.4)

Amounts recognized in net periodic benefit cost during the period:
Recognized actuarial loss, nel of taxes of ${(4.8) and $(6.4) in 2014 and 2013,

respectively, for pension benefits and $0.4 and $(1.2) in 2014 and 2013,

respectively, for other benefits (8.1) (10.6) 0.8 (2.0)
Amortization of prior service cost, net of taxes of $(0.3) and $(0.5) in 2014 and

2013, respectively, for pension benefits and $(0.2) and $0.2 in 2014 and 2013,

respectively, for other benefits (0.5) (0.8) (0.4) 0.3
Curtailments, net of taxes of $(1.0) in 2014 for pension benefits (1.6) — — -
Total recognized in other comprehensive income $60.6 $(67.2) $0.5 $(7.0)

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost.

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Service cost $ 45 $ 54 $ 6.5 $0.3 $0.5 $0.5
Interest cost 31.1 289 33.4 0.8 1.1 1.2
Expected return on plan assets (39.7) (39.0) (46.6) (1.6) (1.6) (1.6)
Amortization of prior service cost 0.8 1.3 0.8 0.6 (0.5) 0.2)
Recognized actuarial loss (gain) 12.9 17.0 16.0 (1.2) 3.2 1.1
Net periodic benefit cost 9.6 136 101 (1.1) 2.7 1.0
Curtailments - — [0.2) - o —
Settlements - - 38.9 - - -
Total net periodic benefit cost $ 9.6 $13.6 $48.8 $(1.1) $2.7 $1.0

The following represents the amount of prior service cost and actuarial loss included in accumulated other comprehensive loss that is
expected to be recognized in net periodic benefit cost during the twelve months ending December 31, 2015:

(In millions) Pension Benefits Other Benefits
Actuarial loss, net of taxes of $(5.9) for pension benefits and $(0.2) for other benefits $10.0 $04
Prior service cost, net of taxes of $(0.3) for pension benefits and $0.4 for other benefits $ 0.6 $(0.8)
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Weighted-Average Assumptions.

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at

December 31, 2014 2013 2014 2013
Discount rate 4.26% 5.07% 4.05% 4.49%
Rate of compensation increase 4.59% 3.26% N/A N/A
Pension Benefits Other Benefits

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine

net periodic benefit cost at December 31, 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Discount rate 5.07% 4.17% 4.60% 4.49% 4.03% 4.29%
Expected return on plan assets 7.43% 7.43% 7.67% 7.50% 7.50% 7.75%
Rate of compensation increase 3.34% 3.26% 4.41% N/A N/A N/A

Discount Rates. We determine our discount rates primarily based on
high-guality, fixed-income investments and yield-to-maturity analyses
specific to our estimated future benefit payments available as of the
measurement date. Discount rates are reset annually on the
measurement date to reflect current market conditions. We use a
third-party yield curve to develop our discount rates. The yield curve
provides discount rates related to a dedicated high-quality bond
portfolio whose cash flows extend beyond the current period, from
which we choose a rate matched to the expected benefit payments
required for each plan.

Expected Return on Plan Assets. The expecied rate of return on plan
assets is based on both our historical returns and forecasted future
investment returns by asset class, as provided by our external invest-
ment advisor. In 2014, our U.S. pension plan investment returns of
8.0% exceeded the expected return of 7.5% for the fifth time in five
years. The expected return for the USRIP for 2015 remains at 7.5%,
which is consistent with the rate used in 2014. The CRIP earned
9.8% in 2014 also exceeding its expected return of 6.75% for the fifth
time in five years. The CRIF has a lower expected return due to a
higher asset allocation to fixed income securities.

The calculation of the net periodic benefit cost for the USRIP and
CRIP utilizes a market-related value of assets. The market-related
value of assets recognizes the difference between actual returms and
expected returns over five years at a rate of 20% per year.

Healthcare Costs. For the U.S. plan, an initial 7.0% annual rate of
increase in the per capita cost of covered healthcare benefits was
assumed for 2015 for pre-Medicare coverage. The rate was assumed
to decrease gradually to an ultimate rate of 5.0% by 2021. An initial
7.0% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health-
care benefils was assumed for 2015 for post-Medicare coverage.
The rate was assumed to decrease gradually to an ultimate rate of
5.0% by 2021. For the Canadian plan, an initial 7.0% annual rate of
increase in the per capita cost of covered healthcare benefits was
assumed for 2015, The rate was assumed to decrease gradually to
an ultimate rate of 5.0% by 2019. Assumed healthcare cost trend

rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health-
care plan. A one-percentage point change in assumed healthcare
cost trend rates at December 31, 2014 would have had the following
effects:

1-Percentage  1-Percentage

{In millions) Point Increase  Point Decrease
Effect on total service and

interest cost components $0.1 $(0.1)
Effect on accumulated pos-

tretirement benefit

obligation $1.6 $(1.4)

We estimate that the future benefits payable for our retirement and
postretirement plans are as follows at December 31, 2014

Non-U.S. Other
Years ending U.S. Defined Defined Benefit  Benefit
December 31, Benegfit Plans Plans Plans
(In millions)
2015 $ 410 $ 22 $1.6
2016 $ 420 $ 22 $1.5
2017 $ 419 $ 24 $1.5
2018 $ 420 $ 24 $1.5
2019 $ 419 $ 24 $1.4
Mext five fiscal years to
December 31, 2024 $211.8 $13.3 $7.2
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Fair Value of Plan Assets. The fair value of the pension assets at
December 31, 2014, is as follows:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting

The fair value of the postretirement assets at December 31, 2014, is
as follows:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting

Date Using: Data Using:
Cuoted Quoted
Prices in Prices in
Active  Significant Active  Sigrificant
Markets for Other Significant Markets for Other Significant
Fair Value at Identical Observable Unobservable Fair Value at Idertical Observable Uncbservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs Decembear 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2014 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Description 2014 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(In millions) {In millions)
Large-Cap Equity!” $115.6 $115.6 5 - 5 - Large-Cap Equityt" $ A7 84.7 $ — $ -
Small and Mid-Cap Equity'" 2849 289 - - Small and Mid-Cap Equity!? 1.2 1.2 - -
Interational Equity" o4.7 15.9 78.8 - International Equity("@ 2.7 0.6 21 -
Fixed Income! @ 181.3 1.7 169.6 - Fixed Income!"® 6.3 0.5 58 -
Private Equity™ 357 - - 357 Private Equity® 1.4 - - 1.4
Hedge Funds™ 69.7 - - 69.7 Hedge Funds® 28 - - 28
Real Assats'4®! 36.7 20.2 - 16.5 Real Assets! " 1.5 0.8 = o7
Cash™ 7.5 7.5 . — Cash!" 0.2 0.2 — -
Total $570.1 $199.8 $248.4 $121.9 Total $20.8 $8.0 379 34.9
(1)  Fair value is based on observable markel prices for the assels. (1) Fair value is based on observable market prices for the assets.

@)

For the portion of this assef class categorized as Level 2, fair
value is determined using dealer and broker quotations, certain
pricing models, bid prices, quoted prices for similar assets and
liabilities in active markels, or other inpuls thal are observable or
can be corroboraled by observable markel dala.

Private equity investments are initially valued at cost. Fund
managers periodically review the valuations utilizing subsequent
company-specific transactions or deterioration in the company's
financial performance lo determine if fair value adjustments are
necessary. Private equity investments are typically viewed as
long term, less liquid investments with return of capital coming
via cash distributions from the sale of underlying fund assets.
The Plan intends to hold these investments through each fund’s
normal life cycle and wind down period. As of December 31,
2014, we had $19.8 million of remaining commitments related
to these private equity investments.

Fair value is reported by the fund manager based on observable
market prices for actively traded assets within the funds, as well
as financial models, comparable financial transactions or other
factors relevant to the specific asset for assets with no observ-
able market. These investments are redeemable quarterly with a
range of 30 — 90 days notice.

For the portion of this asset class categorized as Level 3, fair
value is reported by the fund manager based on a combination
of the following valuation approaches: current replacement cost
less deterioration and obsolescence, a discounted cash flow
mode! of income streams, and comparable market sales. As of
December 31, 2014, we had $3.0 million of remaining commit-
ments related to the real asset investments.

3)

)

()

The following table shows a reconciliation of the beginning and end-
ing balances for assets valued using significant unobservable inputs:

Private Hedge Real
(In millions) Equity Funds  Assets
Balance at December 31, 2013 $38.7 $829 $12.2
Return on plan assets:
Unrealized 0.6 26 2.0
Realized 3.1 1.2 —
Purchases 9.3 - 2.8
Sales (16.0) (17.0) (0.5)
Balance at December 31, 2014 $35.7 $B89.7 $18.5

{2)  For the portion of this asset class categorized as Level 2, fair value is
determined using dealer and broker quotations, certain pricing models,
bid prices, quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active
markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data.

{3  Private equity investments are initially valued at cost. Fund managers
periodically review the valuations utilizing subsequent company-specific
transactions or deterioration in the company’s financial performance to
determine if fair value adjustments are necsssary. Frivate equity invest-
ments are typically viewed as long term, less liquid investments with
return of capital coming via cash distributions from the sale of underlying
fund assets. The Plan intends to hold these investments through each
fund’s normal life cycle and wind down period.

{4)  Fair value is reported by the fund manager based on cbservable market
prices for actively traded assets within the funds, as well as financial
models, comparable financial transactions or other factors relevant to
the specific asset for assets with no observable market. These invest-
ments are redeemable quarterly with a range of 30 - 90 days notice.

(5)  For the portion of this asset class categorized as Level 3, fair value is
reported by the fund manager based on a combination of the following
valuation approaches: current replacement cost less deterioration and
obsolescence, a discounted cash flow model of income streams and
comparable market sales.

Gross realized and unrealized gains and losses, purchases and sales
for Level 3 postretirement assets were not material for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2014,

USRIP, or the Plan, Investment and Asset Allocation Strategies.
The primary goal of the asset allocation strategy of the Plan is fo
produce a total investment returm which will satisfy future annual cash
benefit payments to participants and minimize future contributions from
the Company. Additionally, this strategy will diversify the plan assets to
minimize nonsystemic risk and provide reasonable assurance that no
single security or class of security will have a disproportionate impact
on the Plan. Investment managers are required to abide by the provi-
sions of ERISA. Standards of performance for each manager include
an expected return versus an assigned benchmark, a measure of
volatility, and a time period of evaluation.
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The asset allocation strategy is determined by our external advisor
forecasting investment returns by asset class and providing allccation
guidelines to maximize returns while minimizing the volatility and cor-
relation of those returns. Investment recommendations are made by
our external advisor, working in conjunction with our in-house Invest-
ment Officer. The asset allocation and ranges are approved by
in-house investment fiduciaries and Plan Administrators, who are
Named Fiduciaries under ERISA.

The Plan, in an effort to meet asset allocation objectives, utilizes a
variety of asset classes which has historically produced retums which
are relatively uncorrelated to those of the S&P 500 in most environ-
ments. Asset classes included in this category of alternative assets
include hedge funds, private equity (including secondary private
equity) and real assets (real estate, funds of hard asset securities and
private equity funds focused on real assets). The primary benefits of
using these types of asset classes are: (1) their non-correlated returns
reduce the overall volatility of the Plan's portfolio of assets, and (2)
their ability to produce superior risk-adjusted retums. This has
allowed the Plan's average annual investment return to exceed the
S&P 500 index return over the last ten years. Additionally, the Plan
allows certain of their managers, subject to specific risk constraints,
to utilize derivative instruments, in order to enhance asset return,
reduce volatility or both. Derivatives are primarily employed by the
Plans in their fixed income portfolios and in the hedge fund-of-funds
area. Derivatives can be used for hedging purposes to reduce risk.

The Plan is prohibited from investing additional amounts in Equifax
stock once the market value of stock held by each plan exceeds
10% of the total market value of each plan. In 2011, all shares of
Equifax common stock directly owned by the USRIP were sold and
none were directly owned by the Plan at December 31, 2014 or at
December 31, 2013. Not more than 5% of the portfolio (at cost) shall
be invested in the securities of any one issuer, with the exceptions of
Equifax common stock or other securities, and U.S. Treasury and
government agency securities.

The following asset allocation ranges and actual allocations were in
effect as of December 31, 2014 and 2013:

Actual

USRIP Range 2014 2013

Large-Cap Equity 10% - 35% 22.4% 23.7%
Small- and Mid-Cap Equity 0% - 15% 5.6% 5.5%
International Equity 10% — 30% 13.1% 16.7%
Private Equity 2% — 10% 6.9% 7.6%
Hedge Funds 10% - 30% 13.5% 16.2%
Real Assets 2% - 10% 71% 6.2%
Fixed Income 15% - 40% 29.9% 24.1%
Cash 0% — 15% 1.5% 1.0%

CRIP Investment and Asset Allocation Strategies. The primary
goal of the asset allocation strategy of the Plan is to produce a total
investment return which will satisfy future annual cash benefit pay-
ments to participants and minimize future contributions from the
Company. Additionally, this strategy will diversify the plan assels to
minimize nonsystemic risk and provide reasonable assurance that no
single security or class of security will have a disproportionate impact
on the Plan. Due to the high funded status of the Plan, the Pension
Committee of the CRIP has adopted a conservative asset allocation
of 50/50 in eguities and fixed income. The Pension Committee
maintains an investment policy for the CRIP, which imposes certain
limitations and restrictions regarding allowable types of investments.
The current investment policy imposes those restrictions on invest-
ments or transactions such as (1) Equifax common stock or
securities, except as might be incidental to any pooled funds which
the plan may have, (2) commodities or loans, (3) short sales and

the use of margin accounts, (4) put and call options, (5) private
placements, and (6) transactions which are ‘“‘related-party’ in nature
as specified by the Canadian Pension Benefits Standards Act and

its regulations.

The following specifies the asset allocation ranges and actual alloca-
tion as of December 31, 2014 and 2013:

Actual
CRIP Range 2014 2013
Canadian Equities 25% — 50% 349%  35.0%
U.S. Equilies 0% - 19% 0.0% 0.0%
International Equities 0% — 19% 14.8%  15.0%
Fixed Income 40% - 60% 49.3%  49.0%
Money Market 0% - 10% 1.0% 1.0%

Equifax Retirement Savings Plans. Equifax sponsors a tax qualified
defined contribution plan, the Equifax Inc. 401 (k) Plan, or the Plan.
We provide a discretionary match of participants’ contributions, up to
four or six percent of employee eligible pay depending on certain
eligibility rules under the Plan. We also provide a discretionary direct
contribution to certain eligible employees, the percentage of which is
based upon an employee's credited years of service. Company
contributions for the Plan during the twelve months ended December
31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were $21.5 million, $21.3 million and
$17.8 million, respectively.

Foreign Retirement Plans. We also maintain defined contribution
plans for certain employees in the U.K., Ireland and Canada. For the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, our expenses
related to these plans were not material.

2014 ANNUAL REPORT 64



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Deferred Compensation Plans. We maintain deferred compensa
tion plans that allow for certain management employees and the
Board of Directors to defer the receipt of compensation (such as sal-
ary, incentive compensation, commissions or vested restricted stock
units) until a later date based on the terms of the plans. The benefits
under our deferred compensation plans are guaranteed by the assets
of a grantor trust which, through our funding, make investments in
certain mutual funds. The purpose of this frust is to ensure the
distribution of benefits accrued by participants of the deferred
compensation plans in case of a change in control, as defined in

the trust agreement.

Annual Incentive Plan. We have a shareholder-approved Key
Management Incentive Plan (Annual Incentive Plan), which is a
component of our amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive
Plan, for certain key officers that providas for annual or long-term
cash awards at the end of various measurement periods, based on
the earnings per share, revenue and/or various other criteria over the
measurement period. Our total accrued incentive compensation for
all incentive plans included in accrued salaries and bonuses on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets was $60.7 milion and $51.8 million at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Employee Benefit Trusts. We maintain employee benefit trusts for

the purpose of satisfying obligations under certain benefit plans.

These trusts held 0.6 million shares of Equifax stock with a value, at

cost, of $5.9 million at December 31, 2014 and 2013, as well as

cash, which was not material for both pericds presented. The

employee benefils trusls are as follows:

¢ The Executive Life and Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan
Grantor Trust is used to ensure that the insurance premiums due
under the Executive Life and Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan
are paid in case we fail to make scheduled payments following a
change in control, as defined in this trust agreement.

¢ The Supplemental Retirement Plan Grantor Trust's assets are
dedicated to ensure the payment of benefits accrued under our
Supplemental Retirement Plan in case of a change in control, as
defined in this tfrust agreement.

The assets in these plans which are recorded on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets are subject to creditor's claims in case of insolvency
of Equifax Inc.

1 2- ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income by
component, after tax, for the twelve months ended December 31,
2014, are as follows:

Pension and
ather pos-
tretirement  Cash flow
Foreign benefit hedging
{In milions) currency plans transacticns Total
Balance, December 31,
203 $(108.5) 5(202.2) $(1.9) $(312.6)
Other comprehensive
income before reclas-
sifications (61.8) (69.3) 0.1 (131.0)
Amounts reclassified from
accumulated other
comprehensive income - 8.2 - 8.2
Net current-period other
comprehensive income (61.8) (61.1) 0.1 (122.8)
Balance, December 31,
2014 $(170.3) 5(263.3) $(1.8) 5(435.4)

Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income for
the twelve months ended December 31, 2014, are as follows:

Amount reclassified  Affected line item in
from accumulated  the statement where

Details about accumulated other other comprahensive net income is
comprehensive income compoenents income presented
(In millions)
Amortization of pension and other
postretirement plan items:
Pricr service cost $ (1.4

(1.7
(13.1) Total befora tax
4.9 Tax benefit

$ (8.2) Net of tax

(1) These accumulated other comprehensive income components
are included in the computation of net periodic pension cost
(See Note 11 Benefit Plans for aaditional details).

Recognized actuarial loss

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income related to
noncontrolling interests were not material as of December 31, 2014,

1 3. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

In the fourth quarter of 2013, we recorded a restructuring charge 1o
realign internal resources of $9.3 million ($5.9 million, net of tax) in
selling, general and administrative expenses on our Consolidated
Statements of Income primarily related to headcount reductions of
approximately 160 positions. This charge resulted from our continu-
ing efforts to align our business to better support our strategic
objectives. Generally, severance benefits for our U.S. employees are
paid through monthly payroll according to the number of weeks of
severance benefit provided to the employes, while our international
employees receive a lump sum severance payment for their benefit.
All payments were substantially completed by December 31, 2014.
Restructuring charges are recorded in general corporaie expense.
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14- SEGMENT INFORMATION

Organizational Realignment. On July 1, 2014 the North America
Commercial Solutions operating segment was consolidated into the
U.S. Consumer Information Solutions and International operating seg-
ments. The change was driven by an enterprise wide distribution
marketing strategy to maximize the penetration of our products and
services in our targeted markets. In an effort to accelerate our penetra-
tion and simplify how our commercial information customers interact
with us, we have reorganized our operating segments. The U.S. por-
tion of the North America Commercial Solutions (“NACS") operating
segmenl was consolidaled into the U.S. Consumer Information Solu-
tions operating segment. The combined operating segment was
renamed U.S. Information Solutions. The Canadian portion of the
NACS operating segment was consolidated into the Canada opera-
tions of the International operating segment. As a result, we modified
our segment reporting effective in the third quarter of 2014, Our
financial results for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012,
have been recast below to reflect our new organizational structure.

Reportable Segments. We manage our business and report our
financial results through the following four reportable segments,
which are the same as our operating segments:

* U.S. Information Solutions

* |nternational

* Workforce Solutions

* North America Personal Solutions

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
those described in our summary of significant accounting policies
(see Note 1). We evaluate the performance of these reportable seg-
ments based on their operating revenue, operating income and
operating margins, excluding any unusual cr infrequent items, if any.
Inter-segment sales and transfers are not material for all periods
presented. The measurement criteria for segment profit or loss and
segment assets are substantially the same for each reportable seg-
ment. All transactions between segments are accounted for af cost,
and no timing differences occur between segments.

A summary of segment products and services is as follows:

U.S. Information Solutions. This segment includes consumer and
commercial information services (such as credit information and
credit scoring, credit modeling services, locate services, fraud detec-
tion and prevention services, identity verification services and other
consulting services); mortgage loan origination information, appraisal,
title and closing services; consumer and cormmercial financial markel-
ing services; and identity management.

International. This segment includes information services products,
which includes consumer and commercial services (such as credit

and financial information, credit scoring and credit modeling services),

credit and other marketing products and services, and products and

services sold directly to consumers. Beginning in 2014, we also
provide information, technology and services to support debt collec-
tions and recovery management in Europe and Latin America.

Workforce Solutions. This segment includes employment, income
and social security number verification services (known as Verification
Services) and employment tax and talent management services
(known as Employer Services).

North America Personal Solutions. This segment includes credit
information, credit monitoring and identity theft protection products sold
directly to consumers via the Internet and in various hard-copy formats.

Segment information for the twelve months ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012 and as of December 31, 2014 and 2013
is as follows:

Twelve Months Ended

December 31,

{In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Operating revenue:

U.S. Information Solutions $1,104.8 $1,0845 $ 9344
International 626.2 537.9 511.0
Workforce Solutions 490.1 AT4.1 4421
Morth America Personal Scolutions 215.3 207.4 185.5
Total operating revenue $2,436.4 52,303.9 %$2,073.0

Twelve Months Ended

December 31,
{In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Operating income:
U.S. Information Solutions $428.2 $4100 $356.0
International 140.4 157.3 152.8
Workforce Solutions 160.7 142.6 106.6
Narth America Personal Solutions 66.8 58.6 50.4
General Corporate Expense (157.9) (157.3) (185.8)
Total operating income $638.2 $611.2 $480.0

December 31,

{In millions) 2014 2013
Total assets:
U.S. Information Solutions $1,9839 319792
International 1,059.9 738.2
Workforce Solutions 1,271.3 1,295.5
Morth America Personal Scolutions 47.6 42.9
General Corporate 311.5 484.1
Total assets $4,674.2 $4,539.9
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Twelve Months Ended

Twele Months Ended

December 31, Decamber 31,

{In milions) 2014 2013 2012 {in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Depreciation and amortization Capital expenditures:

expense: U.S. Information Solutions $16.6 $16.7 $18.2
us. Inf?m‘ation Solutions $ 86.7 $ 888 $ 442 International 15.2 19.7 10.8
Intermational 444 24.1 259 workforce Solutions 13.1 146 128
Workforce Solutions 42.6 st.7 66.2 North America Personal Solutions 9.2 6.9 6.1
Morth America Personal Solutions 8.0 7.5 7.0 General Corporate 23 25.4 18.1
Senerel Corporate 201 175 167 Total capital expenditures $864  $833  $66.0
Total depreciation and amortization

expense $201.8 $189.6  $160.0
Financial information by geographic area is as follows:

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
(In millions) Amount % Amount %o Amount %
Operating revenue (based on location of customer):
u.s. $1,810.2 74% $1,766.0 77% $1,561.9 76%
Canada 154.2 6% 156.6 7% 153.9 7%
U.K. 217.0 9% 144.7 6% 1335 6%
Other 255.0 11% 237.6 10% 223.7 11%
Total operating revenue $2,436.4 100% $2,303.9 100% $2,073.0 100%
December 31,
2014 2013

(In millions) Amount %o Amount %
Long-lived assets:
us. $3,286.1 81% $3,332.8 86%
UK. 371.9 9% 122.3 3%
Canada 55.8 1% 547 1%
Other 355.3 9% 381.7 10%
Total long-lived assets $4,069.1 100% $3,891.5 100%
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1 5- QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
Quarterly financial data for 2014 and 2013 was as follows:

Three Months Ended

(In millions, except per share data) March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2014
Operating revenue $584.5 $613.9 $613.4 $624.6
Operaling income $151.9 $167.4 $153.7 $165.2
Consolidated income from continuing operations $ 86.3 $ 94.5 $ 944 $ 98.8
Consolidated net income $ 86.3 $ 945 $ 94.4 $ 98.8
Net income attributable to Equifax $ 83.9 $ 928 $ 927 $ 98.0
Basic earnings per common share*
Net income from continuing operations attributable to
Equifax $ 0.69 $ 0.76 $ 0.77 $ 0.82
Net income attributable to Equifax $ 0.69 $ 0.76 $ 0.77 $ 0.82
Diluted earnings per common share”
Net income from continuing operations attributable to
Equifax $ 0.67 $ 0.75 $ 0.75 $ 0.80
Net income attributable to Equifax $ 0.67 $ 0.75 $ 0.75 $ 0.80

Three Months Ended

(In millions, except per share data) March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2013
Operating revenue $566.5 $586.9 $672.0 $6578.5
Operating income $149.0 $158.1 $150.0 $154.1
Consolidated income from continuing operations $ 84.2 $ 923 $ 86.1 $ 78.9
Discontinued operations, net of tax $ 19.0 8 § (0.6) $
Consolidated net income $103.2 $ 923 $ 855 $ 78.9
Net income attributable to Equifax $101.1 $ 905 $ 835 $ 76.7
Basic earnings per common share*
Net income from continuing operations attributable to
Equifax $ 0.68 $ 0.75 $ 0.69 $ 0.63
Discontinued operations attributable to Equifax $ 0.16 $ - 5 - $ -
Net income attributable to Equifax $ 0.84 $ 0.75 $ 0.69 $ 063
Diluted earnings per common share™
Net income from continuing operations attributable to
Equifax $ 0.67 $ 0.73 $ 067 $ 0.62
Discontinued operations attributable to Equifax $ 015 & - 5 - 5 -
Net income attributable to Equifax $ 0.82 $ 0.73 § 067 $ 0.62

*

The comparability of our quarterly financial results during 2014 and

2013 was impacted by certain events, as follows:

e During Q1 2014, we made two acquisitions, the TDX and
Forseva, for a total of $338.8 million. For additional information
about our acquisitions, see Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements.

The sum of the quarterly EPS does not equal the annual EPS due to changes in the weighted-average shares between periods.

¢ During Q1 2013, we divested of two non-sirategic business lines,
Equifax Settlement Services and Talent Management Services for
a total of $47.5 million. For additional information, see Note 3 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

1 6. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

In January 2015, the personal solutions business in the United Kingdom was consolidated into the North America Personal Solutions segment.
The change was driven by an enterprise wide strategy to maximize the penetration of our products and senvices in our targeted markets. We
determined that market focus and operating efficiency could be further improved by reorganizing and consolidating the United States, Canada
and the United Kingdom Personal Solutions operating activities into one segment called Personal Solutions.
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SCHEDULE Il — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

2014
Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Additions
Balance at  Chargedto  Charged to Balance at
Beginning Cosls and Other End of
(Iln millions)  Description of Period Expenses Accounts  Deductions Period
Reserves deducted in the balance sheet from the assets to
which they apply:
Trade accounts receivable $ 6.8 $25 $ - $(2.1) $ 7.2
Deferred income tax asset valuation allowance 119.8 (3.6) (12.5) 17.7 121.4
$126.6 $(1.1) $(12.5) $15.6 $128.6
2013
Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Additions
Balance at  Chargedto  Charged to Balance at
Beginning Costs and Other End of
(Iln millions)  Description of Period Expenses Accounts  Deductions Period
Reserves deducted in the balance sheet from the assets to
which they apply:
Trade accounts receivable $ 63 $28 $— $(2.3) $ 6.8
Deferred income tax asset valuation allowance 102.5 19.4 1.9 (4.0) 119.8
$108.8 $22.2 $1.9 $(6.3) $126.6
2012
Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Additions
Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance at
Beginning Costs and Other End of
(In millions) ~ Description of Period Expenses Accounts  Deductions Period
Reserves deducted in the balance sheet from the assets to
which they apply:
Trade accounts receivable $ 59 $ 241 $ — $(1.7) $ 6.3
Deferred income tax asset valuation allowance 92.8 10.9 (0.2) (1.0) 102.5
$98.7 §13.0 $(0.2) 8§(2.7) $108.8
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RECONCILIATIONS RELATED TO NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

The reference in the “Financial Highlights™ section to “Diluled earn- measuring operaling profitability, evalualing performance trends and
ings per share from continuing operations attributable to Equifax, setting performance objectives. The non-GAAP measures are not a
adjusted for certain items,”” *‘Adjusted operating revenue’ and measurement of financial performance under GAAP, should not be
“Adjusted operating margin” on the inside cover excludes certain considered as an alternative to net income, operating income,

items from the nearest equivalent presentaticn under U.S. generally operating margin or earnings per share, and may not be comparable

accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. The non-GAAP measures to non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies.

are provided to show the performance of our core operations without
the effect of the excluded items, consistent with how our manage-
ment reviews and assesses Equifax’s historical performance when

2014 2013
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations attributable to Equifax — GAAP $ 297 $269
Settlement of a legal dispute over certain software agreements 0.04 —
Collection of certain reserved 2012 billings - (0.04)
Change related to resource alignment - 0.05
Impairment of BVS investment - 0.09
Acquisition-related amortization expense, net of tax, and cash income tax benefit of acquisition-related amortization

expense of certain acquired intangibles 0.88 0.81

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations attributable to Equifax, adjusted for certain items — Non-GAAP $ 389 $360

Diluted Earnings per Share, Adjusted for Certain ltems and
Adjusted Earnings per Share — These non-GAAP measures
exclude the following items:

Settlement of a legal dispute over certain software license
agreements — During the third quarter of 2014, we recorded a
settlement of a legal dispute over certain software license agree-
ments of $7.9 million ($5.0 million, net of tax). Management believes
excluding this charge is useful as it allows investors to evaluate our
performance for different periods on a more comparable basis.
Management makes these adjustments to operating income when
measuring operating profitability, evaluating performance trends,
setting performance objectives and calculating our return on
invested capital. This is consistent with how management reviews
and assesses Equifax’s historical performance and is useful when
planning, forecasting and analyzing future periods.

Collection of certain reserved 2012 billings — During the fourth
quarter of 2013, we recorded revenue of $7.2 million ($4.5 million,
net of tax) that relates to the collection of revenue attributable to
certain reserved billings prior to 2013 that did not originally meet the
revenue recognition criteria due to collectability issues. Management
believes excluding this revenue is useful as it allows investors to
evaluate our performance for different periods on a more
comparable basis. Management makes these adjustments to
revenue when measuring operaling profilability, evaluating
performance trends, setting performance objectives and calculating
our return on invested capital. This is consistent with how manage-
ment reviews and assesses Equifax’s historical performance and is
useful when planning, forecasting and analyzing future periods.

Charge related to resource realignment — During the fourth of
2013, we recorded a restructuring charge primarily to realign
internal resources with our strategic opportunities. This charge of
$9.3 million, pretax, ($5.9 million, net of tax) is reflected in selling,
general and administrative expenses in cur Consolidated State-
ments of Income. Management believes excluding this charge
from certain financial results provides meaningful supplemental
information regarding our financial results for the three and

twelve months ended December 31, 2013, as compared to the
corresponding periods in 2014, since a charge of such an amount
is not comparable among the periods. This is consistent with how
our management reviews and assesses Equifax’s historical
performance and is useful when planning, forecasting and
analyzing future periods.

Impairment of BVS investment — During the fourth of 2013, we
recorded an impairment of our cost method investment in BYS of
$17.0 million, pretax, ($11.2 million, net of tax) in other expense in
our Consolidated Statements of Income due to indicators of
impairment that arcse during the quarter. Management believes
excluding this charge from certain financial results provides
meaningful supplemental information regarding our financial results
for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2013, as
compared to the corresponding pariods in 2014, since a charge of
such an amount is not comparable among the periods. This is
consistent with how our management reviews and assesses
Equifax’s historical performance and is useful when planning,
forecasting and analyzing future periods.
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Acquisition-Related Amortization Expense — Excluding
acquisition-related amortization expense, net of tax, and including
a benefit to reflect the material cash income tax savings resulting
from the income tax deductibility of amortization for certain
acquired intangibles for a total of $107.7 million and $99.9 million
in 2014 and 2013, respectively, provides meaningful supplemental

information regarding our financial results for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, as it allows investors to evaluate
our performance for different periods on a more comparable
basis by excluding items that relate to acquisition-related

intangible assets.

2014 2013
Operating revenue $2,436.4  $2,303.9
Collection of certain reserved 2012 billings - (7.2)
Adjusted operating revenue — Non-GAAP $2,436.4  $2,206.7

Adjusted Operating Revenue — This non-GAAP measure excludes
the following item:

Adjusted Operating Revenue, Excluding the collection of

certain reserved 2012 billings — Management believes excluding

the collection of certain reserved billings from the calculation of

operating revenue, on a non-GAAP basis, is useful because
management excludes items that are not comparable when
measuring operating profitability, evaluating performance trends,
and setting performance objectives, and it allows investors to
evaluate our performance for different periods on a more
comparable basis by excluding items that impact comparability.

2014 2013
Adjusted operating revenue $2,436.4 $2,296.7
Operating income $ 6382 $ B11.2
Settlement of a legal dispute over certain software agreements 7.9 -
Collection of certain reserved 2012 bilings o (7.2)
Charge related to resource realignment - 9.3
Adjusted operating income — Non-GAAP $ 6461 $ 6133
Adjusted operating margin — Non-GAAP 26.5% 26.7%

Adjusted Operating Income and Operating Margin — These non-
GAAP measures exclude the following items:

Settlement of a legal dispute over certain software license
agreements — During the third quarter of 2014, we recorded a
settlement of a legal dispute over certain software license agree-
ments of $7.9 million ($5.0 million, net of tax). Management
believes excluding this charge is useful as it allows investors to
evaluate our performance for different periods on a more
comparable basis. Management makes these adjustments to
operating income when measuring operating profitability, evaluat-
ing performance trends, setting performance objectives and
caleulating our return on invested capital. This is consistent with
how management reviews and assesses Equifax’s historical
performance and is useful when planning, forecasting and
analyzing future periods.

Collection of certain reserved 2012 billings — During the fourth
quarter of 2013, we recorded revenue of $7.2 million ($4.5 million,
net of tax) that relates to the collection of revenue attributable to
certain reserved billings prior to 2013 that did not originally meet
the revenue recognition criteria due to collectability issues.
Management believes excluding this revenue is useful as il allows
investors to evaluate our performance for different periods on a
more comparable basis. Management makes these adjustments

to revenue when measuring operating profitability, evaluating
performance trends, setting performance objectives and calculat-
ing our return on invested capital. This is consistent with how
management reviews and assesses Equifax’s historical
performance and is useful when planning, forecasting and
analyzing future periods.

Charge related to resource realignment — During the fourth of
2013, we recorded a restructuring charge primarily to realign
internal resources with our strategic opportunities. This charge of
$9.3 million, pretax, ($5.9 million, net of tax) is reflected in selling,
general and administrative expenses in our Consolidated State-
ments of Income. Management believes excluding this charge
from certain financial results provides meaningful supplemental
information regarding our financial results for the three and

twelve months ended December 31, 2013, as compared to the
corresponding periods in 2014, since a charge of such an amount
is not comparable among the periods. This is consistent with how
our management reviews and assesses Equifax’s historical
performance and is useful when planning, forecasting and
analyzing future periods.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
Equifax began operations in 1899 and became a publicly owned

corporation in 1965. Equifax common stock is listed on the New York
Stock Exchange under the symbol EFX.

DIVIDENDS

Cash dividends have been paid by Equifax for over 100 years. The
Board of Directors sets the record and payment date fordividends. A
dividend of 29 cents per share was paid in March 2015. Equifax
normally pays dividends on March 15, June 15, September 15 and
December 15.

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

Quarter 2014 2013 2012
First $0.25 $0.22 $0.18
Second $0.25 $0.22 $0.18
Third $0.25 $0.22 $0.18
Fourth $0.25 $0.22 $0.18
Year $1.00 $0.88 $0.72

INVESTORS’ SERVICE PLAN

The Investors’ Service Plan provides sharehclders and other investors
with a convenient and economical way to purchase shares of Equifax
commen stock directly through the Plan. Current shareholders may
purchase additional shares and non-shareholders may make initial
investments through the FPlan Administrator, American Stock Transfer
& Truslt Company. Shareholders may reinvest their quarlerly
dividends and may make optional cash investments weekly in
amounts up to $10,000 per month. A brochure and enroliment form
are available by calling toll-free (866) 665-2279.

ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING

The Equifax annual meeting of shareholders will be held at 9:30 a.m.
on Friday, May 1, 2015, in the Company's executive offices at

1650 Peachtree St., N\W. Atlanta, Georgia. A proxy statement and
notice of the meeting will be distributed to shareholders with this
annual report.

EQUIFAX ON THE INTERNET
A broad range of consumer, business, investor and governance
information is available at www.equifax.com.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Investor requests for financial information may be directed by phone
to (404) 855-8000; in writing to P.O. Box 4081, Atlanta, Georgia
30302; or by e-mail to investor@equifax.com. Requests may be faxed
to (404) 885-8988. Sharehalders may obtain a copy of our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014,
without charge, by writing to the Corporate Secretary, P.O. Box
4081, Atlanta, Georgia 30302, or online from our website,

www. equifax.com.

STOCK PRICES

2014 2013 2012
Quarter  High Low High Low High Low
First $72.90 $66.97 $59.83 $52.79 $44.60 $37.89
Second $73.39 $64.75 $63.91 $55.87 $48.03 $42.50
Third $79.94 $72.00 $65.65 $58.74 $49.40 $45.15
Fouth $82.63 $69.04 $69.94 $58.86 $55.52 $46.62
Year $82.63 $64.75 $69.94 $52.79 $55.52 $37.89

2014 ANNUAL REPORT 73



COMPARATIVE FIVE-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN AMONG EQUIFAX INC., S&P 500 INDEX AND
DOW JONES U.S. FINANCIAL SERVICES SECTOR INDEX

The following graph compares Equifax’s five-year cumulative total shareholder return with that of the Standard & Poor’s Composite Stock
Index (S&P 500) and a peer group index, the Dow Jones U.S. Financial Services Sector Index. The graph assumes that value of the investment
in our Common Stock and each index was $100 on the last trading day of 2009 and that all quarterly dividends were reinvested without com-
missions. Our past performance may not be indicative of future performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
AMONG EQUIFAX INC., THE S&P 500 INDEX, AND THE DOW JONES US FINANCIAL SERVICES SECTOR INDEX
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$0 T T T T 1
Initial 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
—8— Equifax Inc. —A— S&P 500 —o— DJ US Financial Services Sector Index
Fiscal year Ended December 31,

Initial 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Equifax Inc. 100.00 116.24 128.88 182.89 236.88 281.06

S&P 500 100.00 115.06 117.49 136.30 180.44  205.14

Dow Jones US Financial Services Sector Index 100.00 103.58 91.55 119.43 183.51 203.21
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Equifax, EFX, The Work Number®, Declsion360¥ are registered trademarks of Equifax Inc. CaseBuilder™, InterConnect™ are trademarks of Equifax
Inc. All other trademarks and service marks not owned by Equifax Inc. or its subsidiaries that appear in this annual report are the property of their
respective owners. Copyright® 2014, Equifax Inc., Atlanta, Georgia. All rights reserved. Printed in the U.S.
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Robert D. Daleo, Siri S. Marshall, Mark L. Feidler, L. Phillip Humann, John A. McKinley, Robert D. Marcus,
James E. Copeland, Jr., Richard F. Smith, Walter W. Driver, Jr., Mark B. Templeton

RICHARD F. SMITH
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
Equifax Inc.

JAMES E. COPELAND, JR.
Retired Chief Executive Officer
Deloitte & Touche and

Deloitte & Touche Tohmatsu

ROBERT D. DALEO
Retired Vice Chairman
Thomson Reuters

WALTER W. DRIVER, JR.

Chairman — Southeast
Goldman Sachs & Co.

MARK L. FEIDLER
Founding Partner
MSouth Equity Partners

L. PHILLIP HUMANN
Retired Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
Suntrust Banks, Inc.

ROBERT D. MARCUS
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
Time Warner Cable Inc.

SIRI S. MARSHALL

Retired Senior Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary
General Mills, Inc.

JOHN A. MCKINLEY
CEO, SaferAging Inc. and
Co-Founder, LaunchBox Digital

MARK B. TEMPLETON
President and

Chief Executive Officer
Citrix Systems, Inc.
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